# **'The Best Teapot Never Designed':** Re-engineering the Brown Betty

# I D McINTYRE

PhD 2022

# **'The Best Teapot Never Designed':** Re-engineering the Brown Betty

Ian Downing McIntyre

Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Manchester Metropolitan University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Design Manchester School of Art In collaboration with York Art Gallery and the British Ceramics Biennial

2022

# **Contents**

Acknowledgments, 4 Abstract, 5 Illustrations List, 6

## 0.0 Introduction, 19

0.1 Research Aims and Objectives and Contribution to Knowledge, 22
0.2 Structure and Research Objectives, 24
0.3 Context, 26
0.4 My Practice, 31
0.41 'A Ton of Clay 'and Deep Design Evolution, 33
0.42 Jerwood Makers Award, 45
0.5 Methodologies, 49

# **Field 1 – Defining an Icon ('There's many a lesson to be learned from that little brown pot')**, 60

A history of the Brown Betty facilitated by a residency and exhibition titled 'Icon 'at AirSpace Gallery, Stoke-on-Trent, 26 September – 7 November 2015.

- 1.1 Defining A Brown Betty Teapot, 62
- 1.2 The Invention of Tea Drinking, 66
- 1.3 Innovations of the Elers Brothers, 69
- 1.4 Tea's Global Markets, 71
- 1.5 Staffordshire Redware, 73
- 1.6 The Rationalisation of The Potteries, 74
- 1.7 Survey of recent writing and representation of the Brown Betty, 83
- 1.8 Brown Betty Production Today, 92
- 1.9A Personal Account of the Initial Cauldon Ceramics Site Visit, 92
- 1.91 Analysis of Cauldon Ceramics Packaging, 105

## Field 2 – Taxonomy: An exploded view of the Brown Betty, 113

A taxonomy of the most innovative historical versions of the Brown Betty facilitated by an exhibition titled 'Brown Betty: the archetypal teapot', Vitsoe, London, during the London Design Festival, 17–25 September 2016.

2.1 Collecting Brown Betties, 115

2.2 Outlining a Taxonomy of Design Elements: Synthesising an Archetypal Teapot, 118

2.3 Exhibition Display, 119

2.4 Findings of Taxonomy and Making-as-Research, 164

- 2.5 Overview of Panel Discussion Event, 165
- 2.6 Critical Engagement with the Vitsoe Exhibition, 166
- 2.7 Design Evolution and Patents, 174

## 2.8 Lineage of Brown Betty, 177

2.9 The Case for Revitalisation, 181

#### Field 3 – Re-engineering: Or, how to redesign a classic, 184

A reflexive account of the application of research findings and skills in an industrial collaboration with Cauldon Ceramics, 2017 to re-engineer the Brown Betty.

3.1 Review of Design-led Revitalisation Strategies, 184
Case Study 1: Queensberry Hunt, 186
Case Study 2: 1882 Ltd, Stoke-on-Trent, 192
Case Study 3: Emma Bridgewater, 195
3.2 Organising the Placement / Making a Proposal, 198
3.3 Craft Production on the Factory Floor, 202
3.4 The Studio and the Factory, 204
3.5 The Team, 206
3.6 Design Innovation Details, 208
3.7 Launch, 244
3.8 Outcomes, 251

## Conclusion and contribution to Knowledge, 284

References, 291

## Appendix I, 301

Transcription of panel discussion held as part of the exhibition 'Brown Betty: the archetypal teapot', Vitsoe, London, during the London Design Festival, 17–25 September 2016 **Appendix ii**, 324 Bethan Lloyd-Worthington Text, Commissioned for the BCB, 2017 **Appendix iii**, 326 Statement of support from Stephen Murray, director of Cauldon Ceramics, July 2022

Research Timeline, 327 Articles and Reviews of the Re-Engineered Brown Betty, 328 Articles and Reviews of the Re-Engineered Brown Betty by Ian McIntyre, 330 Exhibitions, Acquisitions and Awards, 331

#### **Acknowledgements**

Mark Adams, Johanna Agerman Ross, Alun Ault, Hannah Ault, Maree Ballantine, Jo Barber, Ed Bentley, Bjarte Bjørkum, Amanda Bloore, Stephanie Boydell, Andrew Branscombe, Karen Bray, Alison Britton, Neil Brownsword, Iain Cartwright, Garth Clarke, Charlie Collinge, Lloyd Cowdry, Jake Curtis, Felix De Pass, Stephen Dixon, Timothy d'Offay, Ruth Donaghey, Dick Downing, Jane Dulson, Richard Edwards, Martyn Evans, Rupert Evans-Harding, Pablo Flack, Catherine Flood, Paul Flynn, Anna Francis, Grant Gibson, Barney Hare-Duke, Antonia Harrison, Laura Houseley, Margaret Howell, Tristram Hunt, Holly Hyams, Jasleen Kaur, Peter Kelleher, Anya Lawrence, Robin Levien, Bethan Lloyd-Worthington, Gail McIntyre, Rai Singh-McIntyre, Jennie Moncur, Angela Moore, Jasper Morrison, Michael Montgomery, Sheri Murphy-Hughes, Stephen Murray, CJ O'Neill, Tim Parsons, Phillip Pennell, David Queensberry, Anthony Quinn, Vicky Richardson, Duncan Riches, May Rosenthal Sloan, Julia Schulz, Zamir Shaikh, Glen Stoker, Oliver Stratford, John Tree, David Waddington, Helen Walsh, Simon Watkins, Eleanor Watson, Rachel Wyth-Moran, and anyone I may have forgotten – you know who you are.

#### Abstract

This thesis plots a practice-based Collaborative Doctoral Award working in partnership with York Art Gallery, the British Ceramics Biennial, Manchester School of Art and the Stoke-on-Trent ceramics manufacturer Cauldon Ceramics. The project was animated by a central question: 'How can holistic design practices of the individual designer-maker inform and enhance the design aesthetics and design practices of the industrial ceramic manufacturer?' This thesis is an investigation of the phenomenon of the individual designer-maker and their potential to act as a catalyst for industrial ceramic innovation. The centring of practice recognises that the maker's professional skills and expertise produce a specific valuable contribution to knowledge creation. I understand my role within this research as a hybrid 'designer-practitioner-researcher' (Vaughan, 2019).

Cauldon Ceramics is the last remaining producer of the Brown Betty teapot – a traditional design that originated in Stoke-on-Trent in the mid-eighteenth century. Once produced in the millions per year, it has been in decline since the late 1970s. Through a process of primary archival research, literature reviews, site visits, material experimentation and prototyping, as well as public discourse in the form of exhibitions, talks and publications, I identified Cauldon Ceramics as an appropriate manufacturer to test a live case study.

My research ascertained that the Brown Betty should be revitalised for a number of reasons: A Brown Betty made in Staffordshire has cultural significance; There is a lack of historical and contemporary understanding of the object and inconsistencies within the available literature; The design details of the product itself have deteriorated over the last 40 years indicating that the Brown Betty has both evolved and deteriorated; The cultural significance of the object is being lost in the design, manufacture and promotion of both the contemporary Staffordshire made versions and overseas imported versions.

During this practice-based research I have re-discovered a forgotten innovative past, redefined the cultural significance of the Brown Betty, identified historical precedents in the design and manufacturing of the object, developed new markets, and cultivated and galvanised stakeholders. I have re-engineered and re-launched the object through a process of re-design and the re-introduction of innovative historical patents, contemporary design details and new manufacturing processes. The result is a revitalised object named the 'Re-engineered Brown Betty' teapot.

## **Illustrations List**

Fig. 1. Mindmap plotting the history of redware manufacturing in Stoke-on-Trent, drawn on the wall of AirSpace Gallery during the 2015 residency.

Fig. 2. Isaac Button in his studio, photo by W.A. Ismay or John Anderson, date unknown; courtesy York Art Gallery.

Fig. 3. Photographer unknown, Isaac Button's ton of clay, c. 1940; courtesy York Art Gallery.

Fig. 4. Isaac Button transporting raw materials from Swill Hill, photo by W.A. Ismay or John Anderson, date unknown; courtesy York Art Gallery.

Fig. 5. Isaac Button attending to machinery, photo by W.A. Ismay or John Anderson, date unknown; courtesy York Art Gallery.

Fig. 6. Isaac Button extruding clay, photo by W.A. Ismay or John Anderson, date unknown; courtesy York Art Gallery.

Fig. 7. John Anderson and Robert Fournier, *Isaac Button: Country Potter*, 1964; Film still courtesy Yorkshire Film Archive'. *Yorkshirefilmarchive.com*.

Fig. 8. John Anderson and Robert Fournier, *Isaac Button: Country Potter*, 1964; Film still courtesy Yorkshire Film Archive'. *Yorkshirefilmarchive.com*.

Fig. 9. Pancheon bearing Button's finger marks; courtesy York Art Gallery.

Fig. 10. Isaac Button applying slip, photo by W.A. Ismay or John Anderson, date unknown; courtesy York Art Gallery.

Fig. 11. Isaac Button's wares in his studio, photo by W.A. Ismay or John Anderson, date unknown; courtesy York Art Gallery.

Fig. 12. Ian McIntyre, custom former used in the production of 'A Ton of Clay', Jerwood Makers Open, 2015.

Fig. 13. Ian McIntyre, 'A Ton of Clay', Jerwood Makers Open, 2015, installation view; Phot. Jake Curtis.

Fig. 14. Ian McIntyre, 'A Ton of Clay', Jerwood Makers Open, 2015, installation view; Phot. Rebecca Jane Callaby.

Fig. 15. 'Icon', AirSpace Gallery exhibition poster, Hanley, Stoke-on-Trent, 26 September – 7 November 2015.

Fig. 16. 'Icon', AirSpace Gallery window display, Hanley, Stoke-on-Trent, 26 September – 7 November 2015.

Fig. 17. The British Pottery Manufacturers Federation Standard Exporter, 1929.

Fig. 18. The British Pottery Manufacturers Federation Standard Exporter, 1929.

Fig. 19. Valfré, P. (2000) 'Yixing teapots for Europe'. 165. Dated between 1600–1644.

Fig. 20. Valfré, P. (2000) Rococo teapots, 'Yixing teapots for Europe'. 165. Dated between 1690–1740.

Fig. 21. De Milde, A. 1678–1724 (made). Teapot. Redware. V&A.

Fig. 22. Elers.D & Elers. J,P. c.1690–1698. Teapot. Redware. V&A.

Fig. 23. Hayman, F. (1740) Oil painting 'Jonathan Tyers and his family'. National Portrait Gallery, London 'shows a red stoneware teapot with faceted sides and a lion finial which was copied in Staffordshire 'ref, Delau, A. (2008).

Fig. 24. Clews, G & Co. (1926) Cox's Pottery Annual and Glass Trade Year Book. 40.

Fig. 25. Sadler.J & Sons Ltd. (1926) *Cox's Pottery Annual and Glass Trade Year Book.* 42.

Fig. 26. Daisy Bank Marl Hole Longton. Photographed by William Blake between 1900–1940.

Fig. 27. Stoke Evening Sentinel, Thursday Jan 12 1939.

Fig. 28. Habitat. Catalogue cover and insert featuring ALB's BB, 1975.

Fig. 29. Habitat. Catalogue cover and insert featuring ALB's BB, 1975.

Fig. 30. *Ceramic and Glass trade gazette*, 1953; ALB marketing material exhibited as part of 'Icon', AirSpace Gallery, Hanley, Stoke-on-Trent, 26 September – 7 November 2015.

Fig. 31. Robin Levien, Gem Pottery marketing material courtesy of the archive of Studio Levien.

Fig. 32. Robin Levien, 'The Brown Betty', *Design Magazine* correspondence alongside Gem Pottery marketing material courtesy of the archive of Studio Levien.

Fig. 33. Phaidon design classics. London; New York, Ny: Phaidon Press.

Fig. 34. 'The Brown Betty. '*In* Alderson, S., Ball, R and Barber, E. (eds.) *Phaidon design classics*. London; New York, Ny: Phaidon Press.

Fig. 35. Judith Kerr, The Tiger Who Came To Tea, HarperCollins, 1968.

Fig. 36. Janet and Allan Ahlberg, *Peepo!*, Viking Children's Books, 1981.

Fig. 37. Dipping teapots in CC. Research gathered at CC during the AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; images Glen Stoker.

Fig. 38. Moulds drying on casting benches in CC. Research gathered at CC during the AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; images Glen Stoker.

Fig. 39. Caster splitting moulds to remove BB casts. Research gathered at CC during the AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; images Glen Stoker.

Fig. 40. Research gathered at Valentines clays, during AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; Images: Glen Stoker.

Fig. 41. Research gathered at Valentines clays, during AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; Images: Glen Stoker.

Fig. 42. Research gathered at Valentines clays, during AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; Images: Glen Stoker.

Fig. 43. Research gathered at Valentines clays, during AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; Images: Glen Stoker.

Fig. 44. Research gathered at one of ALB's old sites during the AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; image Glen Stoker.

Fig. 45. View of Knutton Bank Quarry, 2015; Image: Alun Ault.

Fig. 46. An early taxonomy of CC products, processes and practices. Presented as part of a Solo exhibition at AirSpace Gallery, 2015; images: Glen Stoker.

Fig. 47. Deconstructed CC BBs. Presented as part of a Solo exhibition at AirSpace Gallery, 2015; images: Glen Stoker.

Fig. 48. Casting CC BBs, to understand CCs 'moulding capabilities in Airspace Gallery. Presented as part of a Solo exhibition at AirSpace Gallery, 2015; images: Glen Stoker.

Fig. 49. Casting benches displaying research into CCs 'products, processes and practices. Presented as part of a Solo exhibition at AirSpace Gallery, 2015; images: Glen Stoker.

Fig. 50. CC BB packaging; Image Cauldon Website, accessed 2015.

Fig. 51. Inaccurate history with misspellings of BB narrated by CC.

Fig. 52. David Mellor printed catalogue, 2017.

Fig. 53. Examining quality checked teapots and Union jack branding in CC, gathered during the AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; images Glen Stoker.

Fig. 54. Street view of the Vitsoe exhibition, 3–5 Duke Street, Central London; Phot: Geoff Howe.

Fig. 55. Installation view of the main exhibition at Vitsoe; Photo. Geof Howe.

Fig. 56. An original ALB teapot typifying the archetypal shape and character of a BB Teapot is used to illustrate the introduction and character panel; Photo. Geof Howe.

Fig.57. ALB BBs organsed in size order, glaze type and spout kind; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 58. Advert for Alcock Lindley and Bloore Ltd, Pottery and Glass Gazette, April 1953.

Fig. 59. Archive evidence to support exhibition introduction to ALB as the most innovative maker of the BB; Photo. Geof Howe.

Fig. 60. An extrusion of raw unfired Etruria Marl clay taken off the production line at Valentines is used to illustrate the raw material and provenance of an authentic BB Teapot; Photo. Geof Howe.

Fig. 61. Unglazed objects in both unrefined and refined state: made using Staffordshire red clay and cast from a mould taken from an original ALB teapot. Image by Geof Howe.

Fig. 62. Object accompanying The globe text panel: Globe made by me using Staffordshire red clay and cast from a mould he has taken from an original ALB teapot. Image by Geof Howe.

Fig. 63. Object accompanying *The grid* text panel: Half a pot showing the grid, spout and handle detached. Made by me using Staffordshire red clay and cast from a mould he has taken from an original ALB teapot. Image by Geof Howe.

Fig. 64. Object accompanying *The spout* text panel: Three spouts at different phases of the firing process. Made by me using Staffordshire red clay and moulded from an original ALB teapot. Image by Geof Howe.

Fig. 65. ALB marketing material illustrating the Non-Drip spout and Locking Lid text panels Citation- A advertisement for Alcock, Lindley & Bloore Ltd. in the Pottery Gazette & Glass Trade Review April 1953; page 512.

Fig. 66. ALB BBs, classic spout, left, showing signs of wear and seam line still evident; classic spout, right, showing the sharp, internal cut where the excess cast has been removed. Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 67. Classic Samian ALB BB teapot upturned. The spout never extends higher than the top collar of the bowl. Image by Geof Howe.

Fig. 68. Illustration of the lid sliding forward in the collar of an ALB BB, locking into a groove (illustration A). Detail from *Ceramic and Glass trade gazette*, 1953.

Fig. 69. (1930) ALB 'Locking lid 'international patent registration. [online].

Fig. 70. 'Little Brown Pot'. *Royal Doulton Tableware Bulletin*. Public relations department, c.1978–80.

Fig. 71. Object accompanying *The handle* text panel: A detached loop shaped handle. Made by me using Staffordshire red clay and modelled from the profile of an original ALB teapot. Image by Geof Howe.

Fig. 72. Illustration of knuckles clearing the globe of an ALB BB. Detail from *Ceramic and Glass trade gazette*, 1953.

Fig. 73. ALB BB showing variation in handle shapes; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 74. Object illustrating the red clay and Rockingham glaze: Extrusion, taken from the production line at Valentines Clays and dipped in Rockingham glaze. Image by Geof Howe.

Fig. 75. Objects accompanying *The glaze* text panel: Extrusion of Staffordshire red clay dipped in Rockingham glaze. Transparent and Rockingham glazed ALB teapots. Image by Geof Howe.

Fig. 76. ALB BBs, bumps remain on the base where firing pins have been snapped off; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 77. ALB BBs, various finishing imperfections; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 78. A Samian glazed BB base showing clear signs of crazing; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 79. A Rockingham glazed lid that is crazed on close inspection yet hidden almost perfectly by the depth of colour in the glaze; lan McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 80. ALB BBs, discolouration is visible in the clay body which has occurred due to porosity in the glazed surface and is therefore visible due to clear (Samian) glaze finish; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 81. ALB BBs, visible seam lines on the body of the teapot reveal the split mould manufacture; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 82. ALB BBs, variations in precision of handle application, Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 83. ALB BBs above, imperfections remain in the teapot, such as a seam line on the finial of the lid and cracking on the internal surface (top and bottom left) and dents, flecks and inclusions of clay in the body of the pot (top and bottom right); Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 84. The same teapot as Fig. 83 photographed at a different angle of light; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 85. An arrangement I made to reflect the idea of evolution of the BB Teapot; Photo. Geof Howe.

Fig. 86. ALB BBs, variations in back stamp variations; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 87. ALB 'Heavy pressed lid'; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 88. Non-drip spout version with a yellow band Samian glaze (shown in the advertising poster, Fig. 65); Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 89. This is similar to the yellow band Samian glaze version shown in Fig. 88; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 90. BB with a metal spout and an angled handle; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 91. Non-drip spout version with a marbled glaze; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 92. Non-drip spout with a marbled glaze and a flat, recessed lid that allows another pot to stack directly on top as described by Levien in *Design Magazine*; lan McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Fig. 93. Crafts, The magazine for contemporary craft, September/October 2016: 26/27.

Fig. 94 Disegno Journal, The Quarterly Journal of Design #12, Autumn 2016: 190–194.

Fig. 95. Ascot Pottery. *Wholesale price list* from the archive of CC. Fig. 96. Caledonia Pottery *Original BB Range* (c. 1992–2004); Marketing material from the archive of CC. Fig. 97. From Left to right, John Horler, David Queensberry, Martin Hunt and Robin Levien. From the book Creativity and Industry, Susannah Walker, Published, Fourth Estate and Wordsearch Ltd, 1992.

Fig. 98. 'Trend 'plaster models made by Robin Levien; Image courtesy of studio Levien.

Fig. 99. Queensberry Hunt, 'Trend 'for Thomas Rosenthal, 1983; Image courtesy of Studio Levien.

Fig. 100. Designs developed for Habitat – Ashtrays and stacking candlesticks produced by Doulton insulators. *Creativity and Industry*, p.48.

Fig. 101. Henry Watson's 'Original Suffolk range'; Image credit unknown.

Fig. 102. Queensberry Hunt, 'Tournee', Thomas China, Germany, 1989. Creativity and Industry P.55 and P.60.

Fig. 103. 1882 Ltd. Workshop; Photographer unknown.

Fig. 104. Bridgewater promotional image.

Fig. 105. Emma Bridgewater factory view.

Fig. 106. Zamir Shaikh: Managing Director Cauldon Ceramics; Image courtesy Cauldon Ceramics.

Fig. 107. Top, Ian McIntyre studio, image, Jake Curtis; Bottom, Cauldon Ceramics factory, image Gareth Gardner, both 2016. The comparison illustrates the differences in working environment between the designer-maker's studio and the industry factory.

Fig. 108. Ed Bentley in his Stoke-on-Trent Studio.

Fig. 109. Left to right: Robin Levien, Felix DePass, Mike Montgomery.

Fig. 110. Iterative models, moulds and material tests laid out in my studio.

Fig. 111. A London teapot company white 4 cup teapot and the red Chatsford infuser. Fig. 112. An early proposal for a spun and punched metal infuser to be made in the UK.

Fig. 113. Patent registration for ALB's locking lid design.

Fig. 114. Technical drawing of the stacking facility achieved by re-introducing the locking lid feature, used to propose the re-introduction of the patent to CC.

Fig. 115. RBB nesting detail; Image Angela Moore.

Fig. 116. Technical drawing of a low cost stainless steel mesh infuser sourced from Qinhong Plastic and Metal Factory in Dongguan City, China.

Fig. 117. RBBs stacked in a catering scenario; Image Angela Moore.

Fig. 118. Technical drawing of the re-engineered locking lid detail demonstrating how a low cost infuser could be incorporated into the design.

Fig. 119. CAD drawing of globe shape and lock lid detail used to test the principal of the locking lid and later to be printed and taken to Ed Bentley in order to explore if the shape could be feasibly moulded.

Fig. 120. The loose lump moulding detail that myself and Ed Bentley developed in his workshop. The small part slides out along the two ridges preserving the clay ridge before the main body of the mould is split in two.

Fig. 121. A cross section of the globe, neck and locking lid detail with nesting infuser and lid; Photo Angela Moore.

Fig. 122. RBB teapot in use; Photo Angela Moore.

Fig. 123. Modeling and moulding both the non drip and classic spout at Ed Bentley's studio.

Fig. 124. First casts from the completed handles, globe with locking lid detail and both non-drip and classic spout. Cast in my studio from Etruria Marl clay in moulds made with Ed Bentley.

Fig. 125. Technical drawing of the resolved detailing of the non-drip spout showing a point on the short side of the aperture of the spout. Used to describe the finish needed to the fettlers on the CC factory floor.

Fig. 126. Troubleshooting the tolerence of variation in the finishing details of the aperture of the non-drip spout in CC with the fettler.

Fig. 127. The final non-drip design; Image Angela Moore.

Fig. 128. Airbubbles trapped in the mould on the casting bench in CC.

Fig. 129. Air channels allow air to be pushed out of the mould as the slip is poured in; Image Jake Curtis.

Fig. 130. Working with model maker and historic details and CAD sketch, templates; plaster handle (moving between 2d/3d), to test optimum section thicknesses for handle.

Fig. 131. Ed Bentley scribing a debossed orientation of the makers mark into the master mould in his studio.

Fig. 132. The embossed makers mark revealed in the cast as it comes out of a new mould at CC; Image Glen Stoker.

Fig. 133. Technical drawing of the notch in the footring of the teapot that allows water to run out of the depression when draining after washing.

Fig. 134. Upturned RBB on a draining board; Image Angela Moore.

Fig. 135. Surface outcrops of Etruria Marl, Bradwell Wood, North Staffordshire; Image Bjarte Bjørkum.

Fig. 136. Box and internal face of the poster wrap containing licensed images of the BB in a range of historical contexts; Image Angela Moore.

Fig. 137. Box and external face of the poster detailing pre folded layout to guide easy assembly in CC; Image Angela Moore.

Fig. 138. Box and poster assembled detailing key attributes of the object that can be rotated to convey a different message on each face; Image Angela Moore.

Fig. 139. A stack of the packaged teapots used to convey the potential of displays for retailers; Image Angela Moore.

Fig. 140. RBB limited edition poster for the limited edition RBB. Fig. 141. Models, moulds, material samples and casts laid out as a visual representation of the re-engineering process. Fig. 142. British Ceramics Biennial 2017, installation view.

Fig. 143. British Ceramics Biennial 2017, installation view.

Fig. 144. British Ceramics Biennial 2017, product packaging featuring a history of the BB.

Fig. 145. Launching RBB edition for purchase at Labour and Wait during the LDF 2018.

Fig. 146. Quality checking and rejecting RBB teapots in CC workshop.

Fig. 147. Quality checking the pour of RBB teapots in the toilets of a key retailer.

Fig. 148. RBB teapots and packaging sharing a display case with original Elersware and Yixing teapots in the V&A's exhibition 'Food: Bigger than the plate'.

Fig. 149. RBB mounted over a backdrop of historical redware teapots as part of 'A tea Journey 'at Compton Verney 2019.

Fig. 150. RBB mounted over a backdrop of historical redware teapots as part of 'A tea Journey 'at Compton Verney 2019, installation view.

Fig. 151. RBB included in 'Material Tales': *The Life of Things*. CAFA Art Museum, Beijing. Touring exhibition developed by Design Museum, London.

Fig. 152. RBB included in 'Material Tales': *The Life of Things*. Art Museum of Nanjing University of the Arts, China. Touring exhibition developed by Design Museum, London.

Fig. 153. Boxed RBB display in Margaret Howell Jinnan, Japan, 2020.

Fig. 154. RBB window display and signage in Margaret Howell Jinnan, Japan, 2020.

Fig. 155. RBB counter display in Margaret Howell Jinnan, Japan, 2020.

Fig. 156. RBB Vitsoe display in Margaret Howell Jinnan, Japan, 2020.

Fig. 157. RBB Vitsoe window display and signage in Margaret Howell Tokyo, Japan, 2021.

Fig. 158. RBB complete store display in Margaret Howell Tokyo, Japan, 2021.

Fig. 159. Archival BB images in Margaret Howell cafe Tokyo, Japan, 2021.

Fig. 160. Boxed RBBs displayed on Ercol furniture in front of Margaret Howell quote. Margaret Howell Tokyo, Japan, 2021.

Fig. 161. Price and Kensington's version of the BB teapot described by David Mellor as 'The Real Brown Betty Teapot 'in their 2013–14 catalogue.

Fig. 162. Price and Kensington's version of the BB described by David Mellor as 'Traditional round Rockingham Gloss Teapot 'online (2022).

Fig. 163. The RBB described by David Mellor as 'Brown Betty Teapot 'online (2022).

Fig. 164. Front cover, Crafts: *the magazine for contemporary craft*, issue 268 September/October 2017.

Fig. 165. Editorial on REBB by Grant Gibson. Crafts: *the magazine for contemporary craft*, issue 268 September/October 2017.

Figs. 166–169. Crafts: *the magazine for contemporary craft*, issue 268 September/October 2017.

Figs. 170–171. Politiken, Design supplement, Friday 26, February, 2021.

Figs. 172–175. Ceramic Review, Issue 290, March/April 2018. Tim Parsons.

Figs. 176–179. Vitsoe Voice, issue 3 2020.

Fig. 180. Jasper Morrison instagram post on the RBB.

Figs. 181–182. Beazley Designs of the Year catalogue 2018. ISBN 9781872005416.

Fig. 183. Installation View, Design Museum, Beazley Designs of the year; Image Luke Hayes.

## 0.0 Introduction

Working in partnership with York Art Gallery (YAG) and the British Ceramics Biennial (BCB), Manchester School of Art initiated this Collaborative Doctoral Award (CDA) to investigate the phenomenon of the individual designer-maker and their potential to act as a catalyst for industrial ceramic innovation.

Titled 'At The Edge: the designer-maker and industrial innovation', the CDA sought to identify a practice-led case study based on primary research into the ceramic collections of YAG, focussing on the creative interface between artist, designer and manufacturer. Knowledge produced by this research would be applied in an industrial design residency undertaken in the Staffordshire Potteries, facilitated by the British Ceramics Biennial as part of BCB 2017.

In the context of a revival of the UK-based ceramic industry, representing an opportunity for British ceramic manufacturers to regain a position of importance and recognition within the global marketplace, the research was animated by a central question: 'How can holistic design practices of the individual designer-maker inform and enhance the design aesthetics and design practices of the industrial ceramic manufacturer?'

I began this CDA researching the ceramics collections and archives at YAG where I was directed by curator of ceramics Helen Walsh to the work of the mid-twentiethcentury 'country potter 'Isaac Button in the W.A. Ismay collection. My research on Button became the basis for a body of work that I produced as a case study for the 2015 Jerwood Makers Open, titled 'A Ton of Clay'.

It was, however, while carrying out a residency that same year at AirSpace Gallery, Stoke-on-Trent, to further my research on 'deep design evolution', that I identified the ultimate object of study: the 'Brown Betty '(BB) teapot. After this, the focus of my research shifted as the timeliness of a collaboration with the last remaining producer in Stoke, Cauldon Ceramics (CC), became apparent.

To achieve the aim set out by the CDA (above) I developed a new working relationship with CC who, through this collaboration, produced a new version of this ubiquitous, archetypal object synonymous with The Potteries.

This ongoing collaboration has now spanned a total seven years. During this period I have re-discovered a forgotten innovative past, re-defined the cultural significance of the object, identified historical precedents in the design and manufacturing of the object, developed new markets, cultivated and galvanised stakeholders. I have re-engineered and re-launched the object through a process of re-design and the re-introduction of

historical patents, contemporary design details and new manufacturing processes. The result is a revitalised object named the 'Re-engineered Brown Betty '(RBB) teapot. It has raised both the commercial value and cultural significance of the object and its maker. The project has won awards, received critical acclaim and has been collected by international museums and institutions.

This research has generated a range of commercial, cultural and academic outputs. Within a commercial context a new product has been developed and tested in collaboration with CC, which is now stocked by premium British heritage brands, including Margaret Howell, Labour and Wait, Conran and Selfridges.<sup>1</sup> In addition to AHRC funding, I have applied for and been successful in gaining financial and in-kind support from, among others, Arts Council England (ACE), the BCB, and the Design Roots research project at Manchester Metropolitan University (MMU).<sup>2</sup> Through this research CC has found new marketplaces and investment opportunities as detailed in this thesis.

During this research I have realised a number of exhibitions locally, nationally and internationally that explore the BB's place in popular culture, social history and design history. RBB editions have been acquired for the permanent collections of institutions such as YAG, Manchester Art Gallery, The Design Museum and the Victoria and Albert Museum (V&A), London. The RBB has received international press coverage in the mainstream and design press, such as the *Financial Times*, Denmark's daily broadsheet *Politiken*, *Crafts Magazine*, *Ceramic Review* and *Disegno Journal*. It has also been the recipient of several awards, including the Manchester Contemporary Art Fund and a nomination for the Design Museum London's 'Beazley Designs of the Year'.<sup>3</sup>

Culminating in the commercial launch of the RBB, my CDA research is a practice-based enactment of a revitalisation strategy.<sup>4</sup> Revitalisation 'is an important concept in this thesis and speaks to an emerging field of craft and design discourse and practice elaborated by Amy Twigger Holroyd as: 'Any initiative that brings new life to a culturally significant design, product or practice, while aiming to retain (or even enhance) the values associated with it '(2018:30).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See <u>https://cauldonceramics.com/</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Design Roots research directory: <u>http://www.research.lancs.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/-(a65d0495-a0c1-49ef-a325-1292b9b86f2b).html</u> [Accessed 12 May 2022].

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  A comprehensive account of the RBB in museum collections, the commercial sector and media is given in Field 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> I discuss the naming of the product – specifically the idea of 're-engineering – 'in Field 3.

The timely publication of Twigger Holroyd and colleagues 'work (along with co-editors Stuart Walker, Martyn Evans, Tom Cassidy and Jeyon Jung) in *Design Roots: Culturally Significant Designs, Products, and Practices* (2018) occurred midway through this research project. It offered a critical vocabulary to articulate some of the decisions and thinking I had already arrived at while working with CC. This helped to move the research forward with renewed purpose.

# 0.1 Research Aims and Objectives and Contribution to Knowledge

My research aims and objectives for the research, in line with those of the CDA brief, are as follows:

**Aim**: 'How can the holistic design practices of the individual designer-maker inform and enhance the design aesthetics and design practices of the industrial ceramic manufacturer?'

## **Objectives:**

- 1. Develop an overview of the history of the Brown Betty teapot.
- 2. Identify the defining features and the historical and contemporary methods of manufacturing the object.
- 3. Ascertain the cultural significance of the Brown Betty teapot in order to propose a case for its revitalisation.
- 4. Determine the range of existing design-led practices and academic methodologies that engage with revitalisation strategies within traditional ceramics manufacturing industries to explore a range of possible routes for the revitalisation of the Brown Betty teapot.
- 5. Revitalise the Brown Betty teapot and the processes and practices surrounding its manufacture.
- 6. Exhibit/launch the results of the major practice-based element at the BCB 2017 & London Design Festival 2018 (fulfilling the collaborative obligations set out in the application for this AHRC funded research).
- 7. Ascertain the effectiveness of the revitalisation project and draw out elements that may enable others to apply similar principles in new projects.

The combination of original research within this thesis and re-discovered knowledge embodied by the RBB contribute to multiple original contributions to knowledge. These are as follows:

- 1. Defining what constitutes an original Brown Betty and identifying its cultural significance.
- 2. Formalising and disseminating a largely unknown history of the Brown Betty teapot to promote a more accurate understanding of the genesis of the object among industry, academia and the general public.
- 3. Recovering and innovating historic design details within a contemporary context.
- 4. Applying academic theory through tacit knowledge to develop physical revitalisation strategies that are tested live within the industry.
- 5. Reflecting upon and making visible nuanced practice-based approaches to implementing successful revitalisation strategies that have the potential to be applied to wider industrial interventions.

In my conclusion I will unpack each element of new knowledge and detail the impact it has already had on the field and the resulting ongoing relationship with CC.

## 0.2 Thesis Structure

This thesis begins with an overview of the context of the research within The Staffordshire Potteries. This is accompanied by an overview framing the main thrust of the inquiry and its outputs. I then carry out an evaluation of how my practice prior to undertaking the PhD informed and enabled me to develop this research within a professional industrial context. This is followed by a literature review of my methodological approaches.

I detail the developments during the first year of the PhD research as the focus shifted before moving into an exploration of three main 'fields'. The 'fields – 'which provide a core structure for this thesis – detail the three main practice-based periods that have informed the direction of this research. Each field has enabled me to address my research objectives.

In Field 1, a history of the BB was facilitated by a residency culminating in an exhibition that I curated titled 'Icon 'at AirSpace Gallery, Stoke-on-Trent as part of the BCB, 26 September – 7 November 2015. This history enabled me to situate the cultural significance of the BB and to identify design and production precedents that contributed to a necessary and renewed understanding of the object. This informed the identification of CC as a potential partner.

Field 2 plots a design taxonomy of the most innovative historical versions of the BB. The findings of this taxonomy were presented in expanded form in an exhibition titled 'Brown Betty: the archetypal teapot 'at Vitsoe, London, during the London Design Festival (LDF), 17–25 September 2016. This enabled me to identify the teapot's defining features and its historical and contemporary methods of manufacture. At the exhibition I coordinated a panel discussion of project stakeholders. This significantly informed a feasibility study to expand upon the design and its meanings in order to make a case to CC for the BB's revitalisation.

Field 3 consists of a reflexive account of my working methods and processes, in a placement at CC (2017–2019) and at my own studio, working alone and within a team, in order to realise one of the main objectives of the CDA: the production and launch of the RBB teapot at the BCB 2017 and the LDF 2018. Crucially, this is not just a story of producing an object. I also reflect on how I consciously situated the RBB teapot within the market through careful retail, exhibitions, and the creation of new literature and product packaging in a bid to re-frame the object within both a commercial and cultural context. This re-framing was central to raising the object's perceived value. In this chapter I detail case studies of design-led practices and academic methodologies that

employ revitalisation strategies within traditional ceramics manufacturing industries in order to understand possible routes for the revitalisation of the Brown Betty teapot.

Throughout this thesis literature reviews, case studies and reflective analysis inform historical discourses and contexts, as well as theoretical and design decisions within the practice. Reflexive and practice-based methodologies seek to describe and systematically analyse personal experiences.

Illustrations in the form of primary technical drawings, field photography and secondary research images are referred to throughout the thesis. Technical drawings and diagrams are utilised as a means to interpret, visualise and analyse design versions. Likewise, field photography functions as a form of visual notetaking that is activated throughout the thesis and informs aspects of design. Secondary research images are used as cultural resources to enrich historical accounts. Sequences of images in this thesis are used for the purpose of forming evocative visual essays.

The thesis concludes with a synthesis and evaluation of the significant findings and a summary of the contributions to knowledge generated by the study. An appendix gathers additional information on research outputs through a range of artefacts, including printed matter and transcripts of conversations, to be referenced as the reader progresses. Included here are articles written by others and myself that coincides with the residency at AirSpace, the exhibition at Vitsoe, and the final RBB.

## 0.3 Context

The Staffordshire ceramics industry is recognised by many modern commentators as one of the notable products of the Industrial Revolution (see Thomas, 1971; Allen, 2009; Hunt, 2021). The industry has a long tradition in the manufacture of ceramic products dating back to at least the late seventeenth century. This was originally due to the region's abundance of clay and coal along with the river transport (and later canal) which were favourable for the production of pottery (Pitelis et al., 2007: 233). At its peak the ceramics industry was seen as the epicentre of industrial ceramics providing long standing employment for generations of the local population (Whipp, 1990). However, between the 1960s and the 1980s the industry suffered a sharp decline. Increased mechanisation, economic recession and outsourcing to East Asia are among the contributory factors (Ewins, 2017).

Writing in the *Guardian* newspaper at the turn of the new millennium, Mian Ridge (2002) estimated that in the last quarter of a century alone some 32,000 jobs had been shed from ceramics factories in Stoke-on-Trent. In 2019, the 'English indices of multiple deprivation 'report ranked Stoke-on-Trent as the thirteenth most deprived local authority out of a total of 317 (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 2019). At the last count in August 2021, some 20.8% of the working age population in Stoke-on-Trent claim unemployment related benefits – a large percentage of which, I learnt during my fieldwork, come from communities traditionally employed within the sector of industrial ceramics (Clark, Francis-Devine and Powell, 2021).<sup>5</sup>

Within Stoke-on-Trent, major regeneration initiatives are being undertaken. When I began this research in 2015 there were signs of a revival of the ceramic industry (*Are we seeing a revival for Stoke-on-Trent pottery companies with China deal?*, 2014). Leading up to this point interest in ceramics was also building in the museums world more broadly in the UK with the new V&A ceramics galleries opening in 2009. Without organisations such as the BCB and the launch of the Contemporary Studio Ceramics Subject Specialist Network and the Centre of Ceramic Art, York Museums Trust, it's likely there would not have been support for this research.

In November 2015, Channel 4 began broadcasting 'The Great Pottery Throw Down', presented by Sara Cox, filmed on location at Middleport Pottery, Stoke-on-Trent. In the style of the hugely successful television format 'The Great British Bake Off', contestants competitively produce pottery which is judged by a panel. A symptom of post-industry economies, Middleport Pottery is managed by Re-form Heritage, a regeneration charity, who support and safeguard key aspects of Middleport's historical production processes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This figure is a total claimant rate for the constituencies of Stoke-on-Trent Central, North and South. The claimant rate is a proportion of the population aged 16–64 who claim unemployment-related benefits.

and labor force as well as hosting a visitors 'centre to learn about their traditional craft practices.



Fig. 1. Mindmap plotting the history of redware manufacturing in Stoke-on-Trent, drawn on the wall of AirSpace Gallery during the 2015 residency.

During this research project Stoke-on-Trent was shortlisted to be the UK City of Culture 2021. In October 2017 the council published a summary of its bid, billing it as 'A city of craft, a city of graft and a city of innovation. A city of collective endeavour '(Stoke-on-Trent City of Culture, 2017). Central to the proposal was a characterisation of the industrious, innovative city – craft capital of the UK and the 'World Capital 'of ceramics. To successfully host events £52m of major private developments would transform the Potteries Museum & Art Gallery, the city centre and key heritage assets across the six towns.

Stoke-on-Trent ultimately lost the bid to Coventry, yet such initiatives presented an opportunity for traditional manufacturers in the area to regain a position of importance and recognition within the global marketplace. Yet, since 2019 a new wave of job losses and collapses in the sector have reaffirmed the trajectory of decline in this industry. In April that year the historic manufacturer Dudsons went into liquidation. This 200-year-old family business shed 318 jobs from the sector (Andrews, 2019). In March, Fiskars, the parent company of Waterford Wedgwood – an iconic global brand – announced plans to cut 103 jobs – around a third of its workforce – and move some production overseas (James, 2019). In may 2022, the council came under widespread criticism for axing 12 posts at the Gladstone Pottery Museum in order to make savings of £479,000 (Corrigan, 2022).

Despite this contraction, the ceramics industry is still seen as a key sector in Stoke-on-Trent, estimated in the 2019 UK Manufacturing Review to provide 22,200 full-time equivalent jobs (Caldeira-Pereira, 2019). Valuable knowledge has been accumulated over generations to form a strong ceramic skills-base that supports the remaining manufacturers, including the extremely successful companies Steelite and Emma Bridgewater. This has attracted relatively younger specialist ceramic companies to the area, notably Biocomposites and Mantec Technical Ceramics Ltd.<sup>6</sup>

However, as the industry continues to contract so too does the breadth and diversity of skills developed over decades, even centuries. Therefore, strategies to revitalise Stoke-on-Trent's traditional manufacturing industry have the potential to retain the traditional skills base, while contributing to local job creation, and ultimately improving the economic prosperity of the area and wider regeneration initiatives within the city.<sup>7</sup> There

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Biocomposites engineer calcium compound devices to regenerate and repair bone and soft tissue: <u>https://www.biocomposites.com</u>. Mantec produce innovative ceramic-based filtration and refractory systems: <u>https://mantectechnicalceramics.com/</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> More than £120 million has been invested in a range of regeneration plans led by the borough council, Staffordshire County Council and other organisations. Initiated in 2009, the BCB is a flagship cultural project for Stoke-on-Trent City Council and is understood as a catalyst for culture-led regeneration.

has also been an increase in ceramics research and the potential for more artist/academic projects and installations at the BCB, the V&A and Wedgwood.

Further, there is both a social and philosophical argument for exploring strategies to revitalise the traditional industries. The evolution of the British ceramics industry and its concentration in the city of Stoke-on-Trent has profoundly shaped the industrial heritage, landscape and social fabric of the region. In turn, the historical developments of both the city and the ceramic industry are intrinsically linked, providing Stoke-on-Trent with a unique regional identity: the city is often referred to as simply 'The Potteries '(Pitelis et al., 2007: 213).

## 0.4 My practice

This research builds on a decade of experience as a designer and maker of industrial and utilitarian ceramics. Through my practice I have gained a wide experience within the national and international industry, collaborating with design brands, manufacturers and cultural institutions. I hold a 1<sup>st</sup> class Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in Three Dimensional Design from MMU and a Master of Arts in Applied Art from the Royal College of Art (RCA), London. This background in both product design and applied art enables me to employ a blend of industrial design and craft skills within my work to produce one-off objects, batch productions, installations and designs for industrial production.

Within an industrial context this skill set allows me to not only design, but model, prototype, sample and in some cases produce the tooling for a manufacturer if required. This has enabled me to design for brands who have no previous experience in the field of industrial ceramics. I have designed inaugural collections for premium European design brands including Another Country, Hem, HAY and Monoware. The resulting products are manufactured in the UK, Sri Lanka, China and Portugal. This design approach follows a typical pattern in which I find a factory, isolate the most appropriate materials, processes and skills to design a collection that reflects the ethos of the client. It follows an established model of global outsourcing which enables the design brand to access established knowledge and skills and offers greater flexibility over where they manufacture and their target price point.

However, as the designer I have often felt ethically and technically compromised working in this way: Separation from production perpetuates a global supply chain that erodes intangible cultural knowledge and skill. It becomes far more difficult to innovate with a manufacturer's process and material in any great depth, or build close working relationships and emotional investment in the craftspeople who are making the objects. This is partly due to the physical distance between us, but also because this model reduces the role of the manufacturer to that of a supplier with little ownership of a project or its longevity. The manufacturer supplies a brand. Brands, in fact, in my experience, work hard to hide who makes their product. The manufacturer has no control over the continuity of the product, or its communication and distribution.

More broadly, this model has contributed to the decline of Stoke-on-Trent as a key manufacturing base of industrial ceramics as it becomes increasingly difficult for manufacturers to compete with more agile competitors utilising lower-wage economies to make their product. This has in turn resulted in leading manufacturers who have traditionally produced their wares in Stoke-on-Trent (including Wedgwood and Royal Doulton) to pursue a strategy of global outsourcing themselves – utilising production facilities in East Asia. This has perpetuated job losses in the Staffordshire industry, the

displacement of workers, the depreciation of the skill base and an increase in the concentration of economic power among a remote, corporate elite who control these brands and answer to shareholders (Ewins, 2017).

Access to cheaper products has exacerbated consumer lifestyle changes resulting in a much quicker turnover of product launches and subsequent obsolescence and an atmosphere which pushes the designer to continually strive to develop new aesthetic languages in order to create new opportunities. In my experience it is very difficult to break away from this model. For a number of years I have been interested in industrial objects that have endured shifts in taste, fashions and trends, instead undergoing a subtle evolution. This type of everyday object is often more useful and lasts longer and is described by Jasper Morrison as 'Super Normal '(2015), embodied in the design approach of Dieter Rams as 'Less but better '(2016) and echoed in the sentiment of Glenn Adamson's book *Fewer, Better Things* (2018). The enduring nature of the BB fits within this ethos of being both an object of deep design evolution and a counterpoint to superficial aspects of the design industry.

This research is a physical embodiment of this school of thought. The design approach developed during this research has forced me to break the model of design and production that supports my practice. The opportunity has given me the space and time to test ideas and strategies that would otherwise not be viable outside of a funded academic framework. This research has afforded me the time to refine this position over a five-year period, enabling me to develop an ethical standpoint that ultimately advocates for design in response to localised making that can function as a counterculture to globalisation and superficial fashions and trends.

## 0.41 'A Ton of Clay' and Deep Design Evolution

At the beginning of this CDA I framed my interest in enduring industrial objects as 'deep design evolution'. 'Deep time 'is a measure of time given to describe the age of geology on the scale of millions of years. Stoke-on-Trent clay was formed two million years ago in the Quaternary period. Deep time is in tension with the time of humanity, the duration of 'the classic', and, in turn, the global accelerated cycle of ceramics manufacture. The continuous refinement and slow evolution of an object is a counterpoint to seasonal, fashion-driven design.

While researching the ceramics collections and archives at YAG I was directed by curator of ceramics Helen Walsh to the work of the mid-twentieth-century 'country potter 'Isaac Button in the W.A. Ismay collection. Based at Soil Hill near Halifax, Button was one of the very last country potters, producing the basic ceramic goods that local cottage industries, farms and semi-rural homes in his community needed: wares for everyday domestic use for local farmers, brewers and merchants to store or transport goods, such as pancheons, jugs, stewpots, bread crocks and vessels, both thrown and slab-built (Lawrence, 1976).



Fig. 2. Isaac Button in his studio, photo by W.A. Ismay or John Anderson, date unknown; courtesy York Art Gallery.

Simple and mostly undecorated, these pots were intended for sheer utility rather than aesthetic display. As Stan W. Stemp put it in a 1963 profile for *Pottery Quarterly*: 'Standard ware produced at Soil Hill are all utilitarian, truly made for the job '(1963: 16). Stemp visited only a matter of years before Button retired but seems to have provided his work with a degree of visibility. The following year, in 1964, the production crew of John Anderson and Robert Fournier made a silent film, *Isaac Button: Country Potter*, that is an enduring document.

In the early twentieth century country potters like Button were widespread but began disappearing after industrialisation transformed mass production. Although country potters worked with a pre-industrial system they were remarkable in the factory-like volumes of goods that they produced and the efficient systems of manufacture that they developed – forms of knowledge, expertise and skills transmitted often across multiple generations.

Stemp notes that the business started with Button's grandfather, a brick maker who turned to pottery: 'The Soil Hill site with its original pottery, now derelict, was purchased in 1876 and the present works were built in 1900 from bricks made on the site from the refractory clays in the hill '(1963: 15). A designer, a manufacturer and a salesman, Button mined and refined the clay on his own land. He sold his wares on the doorstep of his own home, a home constructed from bricks produced on site. This is confirmed by Heather Lawrence writing in *Yorkshire Pots and Potteries* (1974), who states that both red clay for the fabric and white clay for the decoration were minded at the pottery. This was a model of best practice admired by the celebrated potter Bernard Leach.



Fig. 3. Photographer unknown, Isaac Button's ton of clay, c. 1940; courtesy York Art Gallery.

Famously, Button could work a ton of clay per day. In an hour he could turn out up to 120 pots and in a day up to 1200 (Lawrence, 1974: 187). The sheer scale of this kind of output fascinated me. It was this ability, and the skill needed to achieve it, that led to his celebrity as the 'Yorkshire Hercules 'and, in turn, enabling him to continue working when many other country potters were surpassed by industry. Amazingly, Stemp recounts that when he visited Button he'd only recently purchased a pyrometer. 'He finds it interesting, 'recalls Stemp, 'but he prefers to rely on judgment, or if you like, forty-six years of experience plus the knowledge he inherited from his forebears '(1963: 15). Button worked like this because he understood every area of his production intimately. The designs of his pots and the techniques he used were part of an integrated system determined by constraints and functionality and that is what gives his work such appealing transparency.


Fig. 4. Isaac Button transporting raw materials from Swill Hill, photo by W.A. Ismay or John Anderson, date unknown; courtesy York Art Gallery.



Fig. 5. Isaac Button attending to machinery, photo by W.A. Ismay or John Anderson, date unknown; courtesy York Art Gallery.



Fig. 6. Isaac Button extruding clay, photo by W.A. Ismay or John Anderson, date unknown; courtesy York Art Gallery.



Fig. 7. John Anderson and Robert Fournier, *Isaac Button: Country Potter*, 1964; Film still courtesy Yorkshire Film Archive'. *Yorkshirefilmarchive.com*.



Fig. 8. John Anderson and Robert Fournier, *Isaac Button: Country Potter*, 1964; Film still courtesy Yorkshire Film Archive'. *Yorkshirefilmarchive.com*.

When I encountered items from the W.A. Ismay Collection brisk handling marks were evident: smears where Button missed the glaze or had been unable or unwilling to correct a small error. Handling the heavy garlic pot from the museum's stores, it is evident that for him there was little reverence. It struck me that this truly unselfconscious handling was a rare aesthetic in European ceramics. Today, potters deliberately, carefully add character to wares or, alternatively, produce pots that are hardworking yet sterile and anonymous. Button's work had anonymity but also 'personality'.



Fig. 9. Pancheon bearing Button's finger marks; courtesy York Art Gallery.

The production is intimately linked to economy and aesthetics. Although working by hand, it is evident in Anderson's film that the vast quantities of pots Button produced, were a regular size and thickness. This would have required a formidable tacit memory. He used just one firing to maximise efficient output so he would apply slip and raw glaze to the pots by pouring and swilling around the interior of one unfired pot to another. These decisions based on economy and speed affected the appearance of the objects he made; they had to be a certain thickness in order to remain stable during glazing.



Fig. 10. Isaac Button applying slip, photo by W.A. Ismay or John Anderson, date unknown; courtesy York Art Gallery.

I am interested in his designs in relation to this PhD research, how they are the result of continuous refinement of a core range of shapes made by previous generations, adapted and improved by Button according to market and making constraints. Despite it being one of the things that gives work integrity, slow evolution is something we don't see much of in today's design. You might say that the opposite is true: we see new ceramic shapes and ranges launched and discontinued at alarming rates.

'Fad "isms" and the exploits of some of those who make pots not intended for a job of work, 'Stemp writes, 'have no influence on this man... If it does its job the pot will look all right and if it was considered a good shape fifty years ago it is still a good shape today ' (Stemp, 1963: 16). When Bernard Leach came to visit Soil Hill he was already an acclaimed studio potter, revered for his critical writing about craft, in particular *A Potter's Book* (1940). Leach had spent a career trying to disseminate the essence of what he was doing and why it was so; he saw pottery as an intellectual pursuit. The two men could not have been further apart in their attitudes. Leach was said to have asked Button how much grog (grit) he added to his clay. Button replied: 'I have enough trouble getting the bloody stuff out of the clay '(Correspondence of the W.A. Ismay Collection, York Art Gallery).

Button represents a point at which the disciplines of design and making were a single profession – his work reflecting a continuous refinement of details, born out of utilitarian constraints. Despite the transformations wrought by industrial manufacture, and the specialisation of fine art studio ceramics, Button crafted a sustainable ecology intimately bound to place.



Fig. 11. Isaac Button's wares in his studio, photo by W.A. Ismay or John Anderson,date unknown; courtesy York Art Gallery.

#### 0.42 Jerwood Makers Award

Considered as a model for 'deep design evolution', Button's work at the intersection of craft and industry raised fascinating questions of economy, value and tradition. From this I developed a way of thinking about how design had split from its sites of making. With this split came a disruption of ethical, sustainable ways of working. My research on Button, carried out at YAG, became the basis for a body of work that I produced for the 2015 Jerwood Makers Open, titled 'A Ton of Clay'<sup>8</sup>.

Considered as a first case study for my Collaborative Doctoral Award, 'A Ton of Clay ' was an attempt at finding an equivalent expedient process. I worked for four months to produce 900 white ceramic bowls and plates from a ton of clay. Using ex-industrial jigger-jolly machines – purchased from a liquidation sale in Stoke – in my studio, I disrupted the typical moulding process by not using enough clay causing the material to never fully fill the mould. This gave a sense of unfinished endlessness. This suggestion of expediency and imperfection was expressed by the display in the exhibition installation of towering, stacked columns.



Fig. 12. Ian McIntyre, custom former used in the production of 'A Ton of Clay', Jerwood Makers Open, 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See: <u>https://jerwoodarts.org/exhibitionsandevents/projects/jerwood-makers-open-2015/</u>.

Through an embodied, practice-based approach 'A Ton of Clay 'enabled me to reflect on repetitious practices of making. Operating in the shadow of the unselfconscious work of Button, I understood the project as belonging to a conceptual art tradition of absurdism, where artists have set out to realise knowingly impossible tasks (Le Feuvre, 2010). I could never match the heroic output of Button but my installation drew attention to a significant figure who bridged the country potter and high modernism.

After 'A Ton of Clay 'was exhibited at the Jerwood Space, London, I was invited to carry out a residency and exhibition at AirSpace Gallery, Stoke-on-Trent, to further my research on 'deep design evolution'.<sup>9</sup> It was during this residency that I found my ultimate object of study and the focus of my research shifted. This is where Field 1 of my thesis begins.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This work was acquired for the permanent collection of York Art Gallery in 2016 (accession number YORAG: 2016.35).



Fig. 13. Ian McIntyre, 'A Ton of Clay', Jerwood Makers Open, 2015, installation view; Phot. Jake Curtis.



Fig. 14. Ian McIntyre, 'A Ton of Clay', Jerwood Makers Open, 2015, installation view; Phot. Rebecca Jane Callaby.

## 0.5 Methodologies

#### Designer-practitioner-researcher

This research used a range of overlapping methodological approaches to explore its questions through practice-based design research, supported by theoretical forms of academic research. The centring of practice recognises that the maker's professional skills and expertise produce a specific valuable contribution to knowledge creation. I understand my role within this research as what Laurene Vaughan in *Practice-based Design Research* (2019) calls 'Designer-practitioner-researcher', which is:

The title or description of an individual, their work role, or their understanding of the integration of these various aspects of their professional work. Like a molecule chain, this title can be read left-to-right or right-to-left, but at the centre of 'designer 'and 'researcher 'is, in effect, practice (10).

My practice moves fluidly between design, craft and commercial contexts in such a way that I am able to produce knowledge unavailable to the theorist, as I will expand below.

#### Tacit Knowledge

Over the past two decades important questions have been raised within design and craft regarding the role and format of knowledge created in research and practice-based projects. Kristina Niedderer (2007) notes that historically in the UK the implicit prioritisation of propositional knowledge – characteristic of traditional academic knowledge '–seems to exclude certain kinds or formats of knowledge associated with practice, which are often called practical, experiential, personal, or tacit knowledge and which evade verbal articulation '(1). Niedderer continues, 'knowledge creation has been assumed by (design) research. However developments of using practice within research have pointed to knowledge creation within and through practice '(1)

'Tacit knowledge 'has become a guiding principle in contemporary practice-based research (Mareis, 2012: 61) so that, as Neidderer observes:

[...] tacit knowledge plays an important role both in the research process and in evaluating and communicating research outcomes [...] tacit knowledge seems important for the generation of research and its results, and for creating new experiences, abilities, and knowledge (2007: 6).

Recognition of tacit, non-propositional knowledge has its theoretical basis in the work of the philosopher Michael Polanyi who, in *The Tacit Dimension* (1967), identified practical expertise and skills as forms of knowledge that cannot always be articulated or

verbalised. Donald Schön, writing in 1983, suggested that the practical knowledge of designers can be understood using the concept of 'reflection-in-action'. Mareis, however, cautions that there is a 'romantic idealization 'of tacit knowledge that goes unexamined and that we have to find a way to critically reflect on and express experience and knowledge-in-practice (2012: 71).

In carrying out this practice-based research project I decipher historical manufacturing methods through examining makers 'marks; I develop and test prototypes; I challenge what is possible within the factory through my own understanding and capabilities as a designer, model maker and product developer. As a practicing ceramicist I am able to understand and articulate the value and challenges of technical acts, while acknowledging historical precedents and innovative contemporary design solutions to situate the product in broader socio-cultural, technical and economic contexts (Vaughan, 2019). The task for me, then, becomes finding modes of public communication – writing or exhibition – that seek to avoid committing a 'romantic idealization 'of tacit knowledge.

#### Reflexivity

In the process of developing and documenting a constructive dialogue between myself and CC – culminating in the design and production of the RBB – I have produced field photographs and notes, semi-structured interviews, technical drawings, sketches, material samples and product prototypes. These are incorporated into the thesis applying a reflexive writing methodology which demonstrates 'an awareness that the researcher and the object of study exist in a mutual relationship with one another. Thus, reflexivity calls for attention to how thinking comes to be, how it is shaped by preexisting knowledge, and how research claims are made '(Whitaker & Atkinson, SAGE Research Methods online, 2019). In describing field trips carried out in The Potteries, in places my prose style becomes less formal and more allusive in an attempt to convey the affective intensity of factories, quarries and brownfield sites and the immediacy of field research.

#### **Thinking Through Making**

Early on in the research I developed a practice-based taxonomy to physically isolate and analyse the design details of historical examples of the BB. This methodology – an exploded view – is applied to argue that CCs 'BB, along with its processes and practices is an ideal object for revitalisation. Significantly, this taxonomy, alongside technical patent drawings, provided the basis for early prototypes of the RBB. This research proceeds by deconstructing, drawing, moulding, modeling and reconstructing to produce a prototype and, finally, master mould. Prototyping in engineering is an iterative process of testing a product in order to determine if it can be built and to ascertain operating anomalies. Prototypes, as the designer Pieter Jan Stappers has written, are 'objects made for purposes of exploration and testing':

... prototypes are things we make, things which allow us to see how something new might be or might not be through the processes of making and testing. Prototypes are as much about failing and changing course as they are about demonstrating and proving. In that sense, they can be seen as research instruments, both for exploring new directions and for validating expectations (2013: 85).

As a practice-based research activity to find out things in pursuit of realising and sharing new knowledge, prototyping finds an analogy in iterative drawing as a process of research; as Sarah Casey and Gerry Davies write in *Drawing Investigations*, citing the anthropologist Tim Ingold: 'to research, is to *re-search*, to look again '(Ingold in Casey and Davies, 2020: 7). For them, drawing is a tool to investigate and analyse. In Fields 2 and 3 iterative drawing and re-drawing come to the fore as tools for anlaysing the form, function and production of the BB and RBB.

#### Revitalisation

The timely publication of Twigger Holroyd and colleagues 'work (along with co-editors Stuart Walker, Martyn Evans, Tom Cassidy and Jeyon Jung) in *Design Roots: Culturally Significant Designs, Products, and Practices* (2018) part way through the research offered a critical vocabulary to more clearly articulate some of the decisions and thinking I had already arrived at while working with CC.

*Design Roots* gathers international contributions from theorists and designer-makers to develop an overview of culturally significant design, products, and practices that are rooted in particular communities through tradition and a sense of place. Much knowledge embodied by significant designs, products, and practices, often evolving organically across generations, have been lost and damaged in the wake of disruptive global outsourcing, free markets and international trade. Such Western growth-based economic systems have led to a very significant flattening and homogenizing of cultures (Walker, 2018: 1). However, in the face of such destructive forces, remaining long-established culturally significant designs can offer this contemporary post-industrial moment valuable insights into issues of sustainability, identity, and well-being bound up with place. Of particular concern to the volume's authors are:

[...] creative roots, place-based creative ecologies, and deep understandings of cultural significance, not only in terms of history and tradition but also in terms of locale, social interactions, innovation, and change – change that is respectful and supportive of culturally significant practices and material productions, their longevity, their embodied knowledge and local wisdoms, and their contributions in creating a better future. Importantly, these practices are not locked in time by sentimentality and nostalgia, but are innovative, adaptive to new technologies and changing circumstances, and in a continual state of becoming (Walker, 2018: 3).

I contend that the specific place-based character of the BB has been severed and devalued by outsourcing of its production to Asia. The BB, likewise, is captured by a post-industrial sentimentality and nostalgia that inhibits its development. As I will go on to demonstrate in Field 1, the BB is heavily marketed and, I believe, marred by a largely imagined nostalgic Englishess that occludes its complicated hybrid history that is the result of global transfers of people, knowledge, skills and commodities. While its cultural significance as a quintessentially English icon is often touted, it is not the full picture.

#### **Defining Cultural Significance**

The BB's identity is tied to Stoke-on-Trent (expanded in Field 1) and the very beginnings of its ceramics industry, yet it was clear at the outset of this research that the product is undervalued and devolved compared to earlier historical versions and contemporary inauthentic versions produced overseas and imported into Britain. Its cultural significance was not recognised.

To describe something as having 'cultural significance 'is to evoke a host of unspoken values. Such values, where they are linked to place, cannot easily be separated from ideas of authenticity and assumptions of tradition and origin (Twigger Holroyd, 2018: 26). Values are not absolute: they are always moving and shifting in relation to their environment and must be critically examined.

Writing in *Design Roots* Twigger Holroyd develops a typology that could be applied to identify the cultural significance of designs, products, and practices. These categories assess social value, historical value, and aesthetic value. To be deemed culturally significant, designs, products, and practices would fall across each part of Twigger Holroyd's taxonomy:

*Social value* refers to the associations that a design, product or practice has for a particular cultural group and the social, cultural or spiritual

meanings that it holds for them. Social value may reflect a sense of identity, distinctiveness, and social interaction.

*Historical value* derives from the ways in which aspects of life from the past can be connected to the present through designs, products, and practices. It may be based on the length of time a tradition has developed, its association with specific people or events, or its rarity or uniqueness.

Aesthetic value refers to the visual, sensory, and perceptual experience of a design, product or practice. It includes artifacts and patterns with uncommonly attractive or distinctive qualities that evoke strong feelings or special meanings (2018, 27).

#### Authenticity

Frequently, in the marketing of traditional goods there is an appeal to authenticity and historical continuity. Yet, as the so-called 'heritage baiting 'historians, among them Eric Hobsbawm and Ranger (1983), Patrick Wright (1985) and Raphael Samuel (1994), have shown, traditions and origins on which authenticity is based are often far from straightforward. In Britain, traditions that are widely understood as deeply historical often prove to be little more than Victorian inventions. As a ceramicist I have been surprised to learn that techniques that I thought had a deep history were more modern.

Tradition, like values, tends to be understood as static: it has remained and it will continue to remain. Yet, it is precisely adaptability that allows traditions to remain relevant in the long term (Twigger Holroyd, 2018: 31). This has important implications for me approaching the BB teapot and developing principles that may enable others to apply similar principles in new projects – and potentially other – manufacturing industries. Traditions move and adapt with the times. The BB teapot embodies a deep tradition of established methods of manufacture, but many of its most innovative design and production details have devolved as I will go on to analyse in Field 2. Its manufacture, I assert, needed to be innovated to both improve its functionality and reconnect it to an earlier innovative history in order to redefine its market position.

#### **Modernity and Tradition**

Many culturally significant designs, products, and practices can be traced back to premodern times.<sup>10</sup> While in some cases craft traditions have been sustained outside of a market economy, in most instances culturally significant products and practices have been forced to adapt to consumer society as it has emerged unevenly around the world.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Pre-modern times is dated as the era before the widespread transformation of society by consumer capitalism and industrialisation.

There are, according to Twigger Holroyd (2018), three main implications for this. Firstly, traditional craft is forced to compete with mass-produced goods, whether they be imported or produced regionally. Competition between manufacturers leads to higher wages, better working conditions and standards in other sectors that can deplete traditional knowledge.

Secondly, modernisation carries with it an ideology of progress which may cause communities to break away from traditions, including local crafts and vernacular design, 'which come to be seen as old-fashioned and backwards-looking '(Twigger Holroyd, 2018: 28).

Thirdly, the changes of modernisation bring about significant changes in lifestyle. As traditional ways that have been a part of everyday life become obsolete so particular products associated with them stop being used. Particular motifs and patterns on the items and deeper, underpinning meanings of designs are lost to the next generation (Twigger Holroyd, 2018: 28).

Finally, in a globalized modern world where existing structures of identity are fluid and mobile, tradition can offer a sense of continuity to individuals and societies (Twigger Holroyd, 2018: 29). Twigger Holroyd continues: 'tradition [...] can be of great use in a liquid modern world, a questioning, solidifying force, and a reminder that society cannot spend its entire time in the fast lane '(Twigger Holroyd, 2018: 29). Globalization, which breaks down borders, collapses distance and appears to combine us into one homogenous 'world 'culture, simultaneously increases the significance of place:

Hence, it can be argued that modernization and globalization unexpectedly, and paradoxically, *fuel* our appetite for the tradition and sense of place associated with culturally significant designs, products, and practices (Twigger Holroyd, 2018: 30).

Walker, writing in *Design Roots*, believes that the myriad of distractions and trivia of consumer society has led in recent years to 'renewed interest in ways of doing, ways of making, and in the creation and use of artifacts that are representative of what we might refer to as "non-modern" or "after-modern" outlooks '(Walker, 2018: 43). Walker is particularly interested in the implications of this for sustainability in all forms. 'Non-modern 'or 'after-modern 'outlooks emerge, he writes, from a different way of thinking, which 'represents or perhaps strives to achieve a more balanced outlook (Walker, 2018: 43).

#### **Revitalisation Strategies**

For Twigger Holroyd, revitalisation is: 'Any initiative that brings new life to a culturally significant design, product or practice, while aiming to retain (or even enhance) the values associated with it '(2018, 30). Revitalisation strategies might include the redesign of products, the use of traditional patterns and forms in new contexts, or new uses for traditional craft practices. Likewise, revitalisation strategies may address existing production processes by exploring materials, promotion and branding, routes to market, enterprise and business models, and the transfer and development of relevant skills (Twigger Holroyd, 2018). I have arrived at many of these approaches of my own volition in this research.

Typically, revitalisation projects involve a range of stakeholders: 'While some projects are initiated by individuals, communities or commercial businesses, in many cases governmental or non-governmental organisations have played an instrumental role ' role '(Twigger Holroyd, 2018: 31). Designers involved in such projects bring their skills to bear on specific tasks such as developing new product designs or branding, as well as applying their design thinking – defined as 'the designer's sensibility and methods to match people's needs with what is technologically feasible and what a viable business strategy can convert into customer value and market opportunity '(Brown in Huppartz, 2016: 169) – to address the challenges faced by culturally significant designs, products, and practices. Designer-maker insights in revitalization projects, then, are not necessarily limited to the manufacture of a product, but may be applied more widely.

I believe it is the responsibility of the designer to contribute to the development of new ways forward for culturally significant designs, products, and practices, 'keeping the past in mind but looking towards the future '(Twigger Holroyd, 2018: 35). The design and production of culturally significant artifacts in or close to their location of use can be seen as a positive, restitutive route for creating good work, alleviating social disparity, and reducing waste and environmental degradation (Walker, 2018: 44). Revitalisation has the potential to make meaningful contributions to practical, social, personal and economic sustainability. Below I offer a deeper context in which I developed the RBB teapot in the Stoke Potteries.

The broader set of concerns of revitalisation scholarship offers powerful insights for critically analysing the complicated legacies of Stoke's transition into the post-industrial era. Emblematic of this transition, specific to this research, I take to be the liquidation of the largest BB teapot manufacturer Alcock, Lindley and Bloore (ALB) by Royal Doulton in 1979, as I will go on to detail in Field 1, and the story of the BB in general.

Through the BB the interrelationship between the local and the global, tradition and innovation in Stoke-on-Trent is played out in complex ways. While revitalisation

strategies can be seen to bring new life to culturally significant designs as a counter to globalisation, it is in the context of Brexit that my research has taken place.<sup>11</sup> In as far as Brexit has been understood as a reaction to fluid globalised monetary systems of exchange, it has given rise to kneejerk nationalistic characterisations of English exceptionalism and superiority.

Stoke-on-Trent became known as a 'Brexit bellwether '(Politico, 2017) and in the vacuum left by Tristram Hunt, Stoke-on-Trent Central Labour MP, standing down to take up the Directorship of the V&A, London, the leader of the Eurosceptic right-wing populist party UKIP Paul Nuttall made significant gains, naming the town the 'Brexit capital 'of Britain (MacLeod, 2018). I discuss the nationalistic branding of the BB in Field 1.

# Thinking Through Exhibiting

Throughout the course of this researchl have designed and produced exhibition installations in galleries and commercial retail spaces. I am interested in how these techniques of practice-based research methodologies can be displayed adjacent to academic and commercial settings. In doing so I acknowledge the specific contemplative encounters facilitated by display (Bjerregaard, 2021). Exhibition displays convey knowledge (narrowly understood) and affective, phenomenal knowledge in a space that is dialogical, uncertain and open – with affordance distinct from, for example, the trade fair, academic journal or museum.

A desire to exhibit expanded design in the museum and gallery has become a characteristic of much 'Design Art 'of the early twenty-first century. As Damon Taylor writes in 'Gallery Envy and Contingent Autonomy: Exhibiting Design Art', the white cube gallery space, with its careful lighting, white walls, and display cases, 'suggest that the design on show can be experienced as a form of art, as it is liberated from the need to be "merely" functional in a utilitarian sense '(2016: 92). In being liberated from utility, the items take on the aura of meaningful objects for contemplation:

They cease to be chairs and tables and actually appear to become artworks that appear to consider 'chairness 'and 'tableness'. This happens because the cultural context of the gallery means that certain codes of reading or protocols of relation and interpretation kick in as soon as an object is exhibited in this way; this also has the effect of historicizing the objects as they appear to take their place in a broad discourse of 'important 'design (Taylor, 2016: 94).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Brexit was the contentious withdrawal of Britain from the European Union 31 January 2020.

Recent practice has also seen a growing awareness of what Alun Graves, borrowing from the art historian Rosalind Krauss, has called the 'expanded field of design'. Writing specifically about exhibitions, events and residences at the V&A, Graves notes that the proximity of sites of making during residencies alongside exhibition spaces can function as an important opportunity for makers to reflect on site, scale and institutional setting, inviting 'engagement of an institution or the interaction of an audience '(Graves, 2012). This situational, discursive space is important for this research in the early stages.

Taylor, however, expresses some reservation about 'Design Art 'in the gallery that becomes almost unrecognisable as design and which, ultimately, despite its utility, has to 'stand or fall 'as an art object. As a commercial project, I seek to navigate a space between the contemplative autonomy of 'Design Art', the expanded field of design in the gallery and the premium shop space. By co-ordinating exhibitions in gallery and commercial spaces I want to leverage qualities to consider the typological 'teapotness ' of the BB, open up a space for attentive contemplation, including the display of research and making processes, and establish a link with the artfulness of this design classic.

In their examination of the 'Store/Museum 'relationship in *Exhibiting Craft and Design: Transgressing the White Cube Paradigm, 1930–Present*, Jen Hutton and Sarah Nasby have identified the model of the 'store as museum '(2020). Case studies for them are Toronto's Mjolk and New York's Kiosk, but equally we could point to UK examples that I have engaged with in this research such as Margaret Howell and Vitsoe. Rather than operate as purely commercial retail venues, Mjolk and Kiosk, so the authors write, 'focus their energy on edifying a paying or browsing public on what is good design via a selection of objects consistent with that category '(Hutton and Nasby, 2020: 130). The proprietors of these stores identify as 'curators first 'and 'retailers second'. In exemplifying 'the museum effect', they simultaneously negate the conventions of the museum through the permissions and exceptions a retail space can allow (Hutton and Nasby, 2020: 130).

During this project exhibition-making alongside historic research, prototyping, industry placement, collaboration and my own pre-existing tacit knowledge have been in a dynamic relationship. Insights gained through periodic reflexive analysis have fed back into the inquiry to inform its direction. This is an adoption of the 'action research ' methodology which, according to Carr and Kemmis, is a 'form of self-reflective enquiry undertaken by participants in social situations in order to improve the rationality and justice of their own practices, their understanding of these practices, and the situations in which practices are carried out '(1986: 162).

#### In the Field

At the beginning of this section on methodologies I identified myself as a 'designerpractitioner-researcher 'in order to acknowledge the way that being a practitioner influences the way I am also a designer and a researcher. Vaughan's term builds on the figure of the 'practitioner-researcher 'defined by educationalist Peter Jarvis in his 1999 book *Practitioner-Researcher: developing theory from practice*. Throughout this text, Jarvis argues that both industry and the educational academy should rethink notions of expertise.

Jarvis emphasises, Vaughan explains, 'that expertise acquired outside a field is not necessarily superior to, or even relevant to, the expertise of the practitioner inside the field '(Vaughan, 2019: 9). The field here is the dynamic situation of everyday practice, including the actual physical location where action happens (in my case the archive, the studio or the factory), or it may be the systems, materials or people that practitioners work with (Erturia Marl or CC). As Jarvis states, 'practicing is situated and is itself a unique and ever-changing performance '(1999).

It is this sense of situatedness that I seek to convey, particularly when encountering the CC factory in Field 3, with a mode of writing that the design critic Jane Rendell calls 'site-writing '(2010: 1). Site-writing is a situated practice of writing that opens up 'new ways of knowing and being... articulated through spatial terms, developing conceptual and critical tools such as "situated knowledge" and "standpoint theory "(Rendell, 2010: 3).

Throughout this thesis I attempt to balance the delicate, situational quality of constructive dialogue that developed between myself and CC, while keeping in mind the broader aim to seek out opportunities to enhance the design aesthetics and details of the BB teapot and the manufacturing practices at CC that may enable others to apply similar principles in new projects.



Fig. 15. 'Icon', AirSpace Gallery exhibition poster, Hanley, Stoke-on-Trent, 26 September – 7 November 2015.



Fig. 16. 'Icon', AirSpace Gallery window display, Hanley, Stoke-on-Trent, 26 September – 7 November 2015.

# Field 1, Defining an Icon ('There's many a lesson to be learned from that little brown pot'<sup>12</sup>)

In this chapter a genealogy of the BB is established by drawing on substantial research undertaken as artist-in-residence at AirSpace Gallery, Stoke-on-Trent, in 2015. In partnership with the BCB, the residency – awarded every two years – culminated in the exhibition 'Icon 'at AirSpace Gallery, 26 September – 7 November 2015.

My interest, building on my work for the Jerwood Makers Open 2015, was in exploring processes of deep design evolution. This underpinned AirSpace Gallery's recent 'Spode China Rose 'project (2013), which saw the gallery work collaboratively with the rose breeder Gareth Fryer to develop and bring to market a new rose for a community garden attached to the historic Spode China Hall, Kingsway, Stoke.<sup>13</sup> Fryer's methodologies, outlined in his text titled 'Hybridising the Process', explores approaches

<sup>12</sup> Royal Doulton. (c.1978-80) 'Little Brown Pot'. *Royal Doulton Tableware Bulletin*. Public relations department.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See 'The Spode Rose Garden: History', Spring 2013 – Present on the AirSpace Gallery website: <u>https://www.airspacegallery.org/index.php/2020/project\_entry/history</u>.

to research, experimentation and development of rose breeding, and lent its name to my residency. Like Fryer, my intention was to work collaboratively with aspects of the city's ceramics heritage – in my case an extant ceramics manufacturer.

Under the guise of 'Hybridising the Process', I identified the BB as an emblematic object with a deep design evolution. Emerging in Stoke-on-Trent, facilitated by the development of craft traditions in the late seventeenth century, the teapot's form derives not from an aesthetic attitude, but from continual refinement of its functions and changes to local production processes. These production processes have been historically determined by the availability of raw materials in Stoke. As a product of evolution, the BB is not a work of singular authorship, but has been refined over generations.

During the residency I carried out a literature review of the BB teapot in the Stoke-on-Trent Central Library and accessed the City Archives. Sources include early travel books on the area, Trade and Industry catalogues, local history texts and local newspapers, including the *Stoke Sentinel*. This material informs a narrative history of the BB teapot that opens this chapter.

In this chapter the origins of the BB teapot are mapped onto the historic tea trade routes of the Dutch and British East India companies to understand their influence on the emergence of redware teapots and their fabrication from Etruria Marl clay in Staffordshire. This research identifies red Etruria Marl clay – from which the BB is historically made – as a characteristic of the manufacturing traditions of Stoke-on-Trent.

My literature research led me to undertake empirical research in the form of site visits to gain insight into stages of the BB production process. Initially, this was carried out in form of participant observation at Knutton Quarry in Newcastle-under-Lyme, an open quarry source of Erturia Marl, and at Valentines Clays Ltd., an historic supplier of clay and ceramics who refine the Erturia Marl for redware. Throughout my AirSpace residency I made enquiries as to whether redware pots continued to be produced in Stoke-on-Trent. It was through a contact at the BCB, Iain Cartwright, that I discovered CC – the single largest remaining manufacturer of the BB teapot in Stoke-on-Trent. Through a series of site visits I was able to develop a relationship with the sole owner, Zamir Shaikh.

Reflexive writing on these site visits structure the chapter, which culminates in a critical analysis of the exhibition 'Icon 'at AirSpace Gallery. While the residency readied me for this exhibition, it also generated a sense of possibility and opportunity for further research and collaboration. Surprisingly, I discovered that, contrary to the accolades

granted the BB by designers such as Robin Levien and Tim Parsons, this product was devolved (Levien, 1992; Parsons, 2006). And there are many examples of inaccurate histories of this object, which this chapter seeks to address by developing concrete research and terminology. Significantly, the establishment of a professional relationship with Shaikh at CC throughout 2015–16 enabled me to propose an industrial collaboration from 2017–19 that led to the major practice-based element of this research outlined in Field 3.

# 1.1 Defining A Brown Betty Teapot

Surprisingly, the earliest use of 'Brown Betty 'to name the familiar bulbous, brown teapot is as recent as 1978. In 1974, Royal Doulton, recently acquired by the Pearson industrial conglomerate, absorbed ALB., until that point the largest manufacturer of the teapot. For the next five years, from 1974–9, Royal Doulton continued its manufacture, referring to it in public relations material as 'Brown Betty '(Royal Doulton, 1978). Using this name to access archives and libraries is, therefore, of limited use to gain a fuller historic perspective on its genesis. This was a significant discovery in my research that enabled me to identify a lineage with previous Rockingham and teapots.

Intriguingly, there is no single identifiable originator of these teapots. Trade catalogues list numerous manufacturers, each with their own minor variations on form, functionality, and methods of manufacture. Names for similar products include 'redware teapots 'and 'jet', 'Samian 'and 'Rockingham ware'. Throughout the early twentieth century, these names appear regularly in advertisements by a range of other manufacturers of redware teapots in industry trade catalogues. *Cox's Pottery Annual and Glass Trade Year Book* of 1926, for example, refers to over a dozen (Emery, 1926: 42).

As the architecture critic Hugh Pearman has written, these teapots have 'no single definitive version', with 'endless little detail differences '(Pearman, 2001). Although the names vary, they designate an archetypal teapot with common characteristics: the red clay material from which they are made and the transparent (Samian or Rockingham) glaze with which they are coated. Rockingham, made of manganese dioxide and red iron oxide, traditionally in a lead base, produces a rich brown glaze applied to earthenware. Although Samian ware is traditionally a fine slip that produces a glaze-like finish, more recent manufactures of the Brown Betty, including ALB, used the name to describe a clear lead-based glaze on a red earthenware teapot.

Today, these teapots, with minor variations in designs, fall under the colloquial name 'Brown Betty'. In a 1929 trade catalogue of The British Pottery Manufacturers (Figs. 17–18), the typologies of redware glazed teapots from Staffordshire could all be subsumed

under its affectionate name. A recent marketing invention, 'Brown Betty 'conceals a deep history of variegated forms around a set of design and production characteristics.



Fig. 17. The British Pottery Manufacturers Federation Standard Exporter, 1929.



Fig. 18. The British Pottery Manufacturers Federation Standard Exporter, 1929.

# 1.2 The Invention of Tea Drinking

Writing in *A Social History of Tea*, the master brewer Jane Pettigrew and historian Bruce Richardson observe that it is generally accepted that tea was first officially imported into Europe in the year 1610 (2014:11). Tea did not immediately take off: it would not be until the late 1630s that a significant market for tea as a recreational drink was created by the Dutch.

Tea's popularisation as a luxury item – alongside sugar – was uniquely linked to the expansion of colonial markets and the construction of a global economy.<sup>14</sup> In a letter dated 2 January 1637, directors of the Dutch East India Company, who monopolized the tea trade at the time, wrote to the Governor General of Netherlandish East India at Batavia, 'As the tea begins to come into use with some people, we expect some jars of Chinese as well as Japanese with all ships '(Ukers, 1935/2018: 30).

The English took to tea slower than others. Pettigrew and Richardson note that traders did not receive their first official consignment from Dutch merchants until 1657. In the period dating 1660 until the early 1700s, tea slowly became fashionable among the English and Dutch merchant classes and aristocracy. For example, in 1660, the noted chronicler of everyday life Samuel Pepys, every bit 'fashion-conscious and inquisitive', recorded in his diary that: 'I did send for a cup of tee (a China drink), of which I never drank before '(Eatwell cited in da Silva, 1999: 19).

In 1666, the natural philosopher Margaret Cavendish, Duchess of Newcastle, described tea as a 'mode drink – 'a fashionable drink (Cavendish cited in da Silva, 86). As tea gained popularity among the upper-classes so its various accessories found a market. Oriental porcelain teapots began to be imported by the Dutch. As Eatwell notes, the weight of the porcelain made it an ideal ballast to the lighter tea and when it came to practicality, aesthetic quality and cost it had no rival in the European market (57).

As well as growing numbers of porcelain imports, there were also darker wares imported from China known as Yixing teapots, named after the town in the Eastern province of Jiangsu where they had been made by master potters since the fifteenth century (Valfré, 2000). Yixing teapots, writes the historian Valfré, have always held a privileged role in Chinese cultural life: 'The scholars, who were always the reference point in China for good taste until the cultural revolution, were extremely interested in these products '(96). Yixing stoneware ranges in astonishing tonalities, from light reds to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> For a pioneering study of the web of relations between the importers of tea, changing public attitudes to health, conspicuous consumption and social status see Woodruff Smith's *Consumption and the Making of Respectability, 1600–1800*, first published in 2002.

deep purples and browns, produced by naturally occurring iron and manganese oxide in the region's clays and variations in firing temperature.



5 Théière de forme similaire à la précédente. Reste de montage peen. Sceau estampillé à la base :

Terrot similar to the latter. Some remains of the European mounting. Scamped seal on the base : ? H : 10,5 cm. L : 18,5 cm.



Théière ovoïde munie d'un bec conique. Sceau estampillé à la base en forme de double calebasse : "Fu Wen Qing' Teapot with a conical spout. Seal shaped into a double gourd

stamped on the base : "Fu Wen Qing". H : 11 cm. L : 19 cm.



9 Théière de forme sphérique avec col et base de forme droite. Bec verseur en argent, travail probablement indien ou indonésien. Spherical teapot with a straight neck and base. Not the original spout, probably of Indian or Indonesian origin. Marque estampillée à la base/seal stamped on the base : ? H : 11 cm. L : 24 cm.



6 Théière similaire à la précédente. Reste de montage européen en argent.

Teapot, similar in shape to the latter. Remains of European silver mounting, ring on the edge of the lid.

H: 14,8 cm. L: 19,4 cm.



8 Théière de forme similaire à la précédente. Sceau figuratif estampillé à la base représentant un poisson dans un filet. Teapot shaped similarly to the latter. Symbolic seal stamped on the base depicting a fish in a net. H : 11 cm. L : 19,5 cm.



10\* Théière similaire aux précédentes. Sans couvercle. Sceau estampillé à la base : ? Teapot similar to the latter. No lid. Seal stamped on the base : ? H : 11,5 cm. L : 20,5 cm.

Fig. 19. Valfré, P. (2000) 'Yixing teapots for Europe'. 165. Dated between 1600–1644.



Fig. 20. Valfré, P. (2000) Rococo teapots, 'Yixing teapots for Europe'. 165. Dated between 1690–1740.

As Europeans developed a fascination for teapots, the Dutch East India Company began commissioning Chinese potters to produce designs specifically for European taste. At the time, Valfré writes, Chinese taste was understood to privilege an aesthetic purity inspired by Taoist and Buddhist beliefs (see Figs. 19–20). However, to cater for European Rococo taste many export pots became extremely ornate (see Fig. 21). In this meeting of East and West there was, Valfré reckons, enough of the former 'to fascinate those who dreamed of exoticism '(117). This Dutch innovation Valfré sees as 'the first stage in democratization of these exotic products, which in spite of their relatively high price, were no longer reserved entirely for the closed circles of the royal courts '(117).

This is an example of taste influenced by a global economy. And by the late 1600s Dutch potters, influenced by these imports, had reciprocated and begun making their own Yixing reproduction teapots. In a letter sent to the States of Holland and West Friesland in 1679, two Delft potters, Sammuel Von Eenhoom and Ary De Milde, requested sole privilege to produce imitation Yixing pots (see Fig. 21): 'we, associates, ' the letter reads, 'have discovered production techniques which make it possible to copy the teapots from the East Indies. We request permission to produce these pots for 15 years and to be the only ones to market them' (cited in Van Oostveen, 1987: 68–69).



Fig. 21. De Milde, A. 1678–1724 (made). Teapot. Redware. V&A.

#### **1.3 Innovations of the Elers Brothers**

It was not long before potters in England followed suit and began imitating Yixing redwares. In the late 1680s, the Dutch brothers John Philip Elers and David Elers, trained silversmiths, arrived in London from Germany where they began making salt-glazed stoneware called 'White Gorges 'in Fulham. When they discovered red clay suitable for manufacturing stoneware in Bradwell Wood, North Staffordshire, around 1690, they established a pottery. It was here that they began to produce redware teapots in imitation of Yixing stoneware (Valfré, 2000). Some decades later, in 1777, Josiah Wedgwood acknowledged their innovations in a letter to his collaborator Thomas Bentley. One of their improvements was, Wedgwood wrote, 'the refining of our common red clay by sifting, etc., and making it into tea and coffee ware in imitation of the Chinese red '(Farrer, 1992).

When the Elers brothers relocated from London to North Staffordshire the region was sparsely populated with small pottery works located along the naturally-occurring clay and coal seams that proliferated in the area. A typical pottery works was operated by family members and supplied the surrounding areas with largely coarse, utilitarian products intended for domestic use along with vessels for farmers and merchants to store and transport their produce (Greenslade and Jenkins, 1967). Dependent on raw local materials, the North Staffordshire potter made utility articles 'for farmhouses and cottages rather than for the tables of the great houses '(Ibid. 4). Unaesthetic, these wares have been described as 'peasant pottery', embodying a low perceived value.

It was by developing processes of material purification that the Elers brothers elevated the perceived value of the region's red clay: sifting, washing, sieving, blunging and weathering was carried out before throwing blanks on a wheel, turning it on a lathe and firing it at a high enough temperature to vitrify the clay and make it watertight. In doing so, the Elers brothers were able to improve the functionality of the material and its outward appearance to make teapots which were sold to a wealthy clientele in London.

According to the nineteenth-century historian Simeon Shaw, the Elers pots sold for 12s and 24s a piece (1829: 102) – the equivalent of £71.90 and £143.80 today.<sup>15</sup> Though Shaw saw no evidence to support the claim that the Elers were the first to produce this Yixing imitation redware in Staffordshire, the skill and precision that they employed led to them being widely credited as giving an 'impetus to the technical and artistic standards of the area '(Shaw, 1829, archive.org).

In his *Staffordshire Pottery and its History* (1913) J.C. Wedgwood MP argues that: 'What led to the artistic development of pottery in England as a whole was the trading contact with the advancing civilization of Holland and Germany '(23). The arrival of the Elers brothers, Wedgwood writes, 'broke up for ever [sic] the placid uneventful course of the old peasant industry '(26). This is a view shared by other historians of the industry. In the following years after the brothers 'departure from the region in 1699, Greenslade and Jenkins write, a succession of intensive experiments and material developments in the area such as 'the composition of bodies, in glazing and in decorative techniques and designs 'such that 'the character of local production was completely changed '(1967: 6). The characterization of the brothers 'arrival in *The Concise Encyclopedia of English Pottery and Porcelain* (1960) as 'an event of major importance in the history of the (Staffordshire) pottery industry 'is today a common understanding (Mankowitz & Haggar, 81–83).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Calculated using The National Archives' 'Currency converter: 1270–2017 '[Online] [Accessed 9 October 2021] <u>https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/currency-converter/</u>



Fig. 22. Elers. D & Elers. J,P. c.1690-1698. Teapot. Redware. V&A.

#### 1.4 Tea's Global Markets

By the early eighteenth century, tea had been introduced across all levels of society. In John Ovington's 1699 *An essay on the nature and qualities of tea* – the first English book devoted to the subject of tea – he records that: 'drinking of it has of late obtain'd here so universally, as to be affected by the scholar and the tradesman, to become both a private regale at court and to be made use of in places of public entertainment, which has greatly raised the character and gained it a singular repute '(2). Ovington, a priest who was hired as a chaplain to the East India Company, provides a fascinating insight into the entanglement of profession, commerce and taste.

The leaf had become available to purchase from coffee houses, India houses, and apothecaries. Servants in England began to receive the drink as part of their wages (Mintz, 1993: 265–6). 'It was the huge surge of demand, 'Eatwell writes, 'from families drinking tea at home in England which turned a fashionable drink amongst the few, to a daily necessity for all levels of society '(2008: 54).

By the 1720s competition between European trading companies drove the price of tea down and in 1745 the excise tax on tea was reduced. By the 1750s the desire for tea wares and hot drink utensils had created such an extensive market that they became commonplace in English homes. Manufacturers in Europe became ever more ambitious to replace Chinese imports with their own products. As the art historian Anne Dulau writes:

The early productions of the manufactories closely copied Chinese prototypes, and it has been estimated that the huge amount of printed and painted decoration on English Porcelains of the 1750s and 1770s featuring oriental figures or landscape scenes (of European invention) account for about a quarter to a third of all surviving designs (Dulau, 2008).


Fig. 23. Hayman, F. (1740) Oil painting 'Jonathan Tyers and his family'. National Portrait Gallery, London 'shows a red stoneware teapot with faceted sides and a lion finial which was copied in Staffordshire 'ref, Delau, A. (2008).

### 1.5 Staffordshire Redware

By 1750 a series of innovations had taken place in the wake of the Elers brothers ' arrival in Staffordshire. A potter named John Astbury had discovered the secrets of producing redware teapots (possibly from the Elers brothers) and set up a manufactory in Shelton. While lead glazing was an earlier invention, the importation of flints and West Country clays by Astbury and Joshua Twyford contributed to the development of both lead and salt glazing in the region (Shaw, 1900: 126, 416). If, as I have already claimed with reference to Figs. 17–18, a BB is a teapot made of red Staffordshire clay with a transparent Samian or Rockingham glazed surface, then I propose that it is in the wake of the invention of lead glazing that they first begin to resemble the BB as we know it today.

In 1750, the travel writer Richard Pococke journeyed through Staffordshire; his observations of the different specialisms of towns are recorded in *The Travels Through England of Dr. Richard Pcocke* (1989). The town of Shelton (the home of Astbury ware from 1725) is, he notes, famous for 'red china – 'a name widely used to describe redware teapots in the mid-eighteenth century (Royal Doulton, 1978–80). After this early record it becomes difficult to trace the history of red china. This is because, I argue, in 1760 Josiah Wedgwood made an outstanding improvement to the production of cream coloured earthenware for which he obtained Royal Warrant of Approval in 1765, and called 'Queensware'.

Queensware used materials in its composition that were imported from the West Country and soon became the standard earthenware of the Staffordshire pottery industry. This clay was followed by a succession of celebrated innovations by Wedgwood, including unglazed black basalt, jasper ware, a fine white porcelaneous stoneware, chocolate-red *rosso-antico*, buff caneware, light red terracotta, olive-grey drab ware, and white stoneware (Greenslade, 1967:12). According to Eatwell (2008:5), references to red stoneware pots around this period disappear from paintings and literature and from the 1760s onwards the East Asian trade in ceramics declined. A national market and culture is established: from this point on the industry and literature becomes dominated by the figure of Josiah Wedgwood and it seems that developments related to the original local red clay go undocumented.

## 1.6 The Rationalisation of The Potteries

At the beginning of the nineteenth century clusters of pot works can be seen on local maps and the rural belts begin to disappear between the clusters of six main pottery

making towns: Tunstall, Burslem, Hanley, Stoke, Fenton, and Longton (Allbutt, 1800). The development of coal- and steam-powered mechanisation created the conditions for manufacturing. Writing in *The Rise of the Staffordshire Potteries* (1971), John Thomas cites the conversion of agricultural corn mill machinery to grind flint for mixing with clays to improve pottery ware as one of the primary catalysts of industrialisation (3). By 1833 official government documents class the pottery workshops as factories (Thomas, 1971: 3). Collectively these six towns, referred to in shorthand as 'The Potteries', make up the civic unit of the city of Stoke-on-Trent, a notable product of the industrial revolution (Thomas, 1971:3). The identity of the city is entangled in the geology and industry of ceramics.

By the late 1800s there were a number of factories producing glazed redware teapots in a variety of shapes, sizes and styles. Among the more notable firms are household names such as Gibson & Sons Ltd. (established 1875), James Sadler and Sons, Ltd. (est 1882) and Price & Kensington Potteries Ltd. (est 1896 as Price Brothers). Although Staffordshire redware teapots were originally costly (Shaw, 1829) by the early 1900s, improvements in manufacture meant that they had become an affordable everyday utensil for the mass market (see Figs. 24–25).

According to the 1926 *Cox's Pottery Annual and Glass Trade Year Book* the output of Staffordshire redware teapots was estimated at approximately half a million each week (Emery, 43). Volume of production was something that the makers were proud of: the pottery of George Clews & Co. celebrated 'TWENTY MILLION TEAPOTS 'as 'the average output each year of the Teapot Industry in North Staffordshire '(see Fig. 24). 'Cheap – but good 'was the memorable claim to utility made in a 1926 advert for the teapots of J. Sadler & Sons, Ltd. (see Fig. 25).



Fig. 24. Clews, G & Co. (1926) Cox's Pottery Annual and Glass Trade Year Book. 40.



Fig. 25. Sadler.J & Sons Ltd. (1926) Cox's Pottery Annual and Glass Trade Year Book. 42.



Fig. 26. Daisy Bank Marl Hole Longton. Photographed by William Blake between 1900–1940.

By 1939, the teapot manufacturer ALB of Hanley and Burslem, Stoke-on-Trent claimed to be the largest global manufacturer of redware teapots (see Fig 27. *Stoke Sentinel*, 1939). In the interwar period their distribution covered countries such as North America, Sweden, Denmark, and mapped onto at the time current and historic colonies of the British Empire, including Jamaica, South Africa, Kenya, Canada, New Zealand and Australia (see Fig 30. for list of agents). By 1965 Gibson & Sons Ltd. ceased production of redware teapots in favour of white teapots, while James Sadler and Sons, Ltd. followed suit, ceasing production of redware teapots at some point in the late sixties in favour of the white teapot. In 1974, Royal Doulton, only recently acquired by the Pearson industrial conglomerate, absorbed ALB at a point when well in excess of a million a year were still being sold (Parsons, 2006).<sup>16</sup>

In the same year, 1974, ALB's BB teapot was a best seller at Habitat stores, who sold them from the very day they opened (*Daily Mail*, 2004). In 1975, a two-pint teapot retailed for 55p in Habitat (for context, the catalogue itself (above) cost 30p) and over the years was a permanent feature in their 'Basics 'collection (Figs. 28–29). Habitat's founder, Sir Terence Conran, describes the pot as 'one of the first, and most successful items sold at Habitat', adding that it 'symbolised Habitat's philosophy – cheap, utilitarian, unpretentious and cheerful '(Lutyens, 2016). When Habitat celebrated its fiftieth anniversary on 4 May 2014 *The Observer* newspaper included the BB teapot as one of its top ten greatest hits.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> In 1971, S. Pearson & Son Ltd, a subsidiary of the Pearson industrial conglomerate, acquired Doulton & Co. Pearson & Son owned Allied English Potteries and merged operations into Doulton & Co. All brands from Allied English Potteries and Doulton & Co. Ltd., including Royal Doulton, Minton, Beswick, Dunn Bennett, Booths, Colclough, Royal Albert, Royal Crown Derby, Paragon, Ridgway, Queen Anne, Royal Adderley and Royal Adderley Floral, were moved under the umbrella of Royal Doulton Tableware Ltd.

#### with defendants car at of the East Lancashire-road is-lane, Lowton, near Leigh, CYCLIST'S EVIDENCE

GTDLTD. aged 17. Inde int. of West-avenue. Golborno, scycing along the Sast Lancas bout 17.45 on Wednesday mor-ther 2nd, and when about 70 y the Stonecross-lane crossing he or car compliant of Stonecross us 16 miles an hour. The moto language want stratight acros n d went

10

J.

Privy Civil wing

that and

ion

. the ating htest that

ne in was ample time for East Lancashire-roa-ile came up but it i angles. The impa-ery violent one on ac me

the

damage caused. He submitted that on the facts it as the motor-cycle which caused the ceident and that Mr. Wild was not to lame. If there were any doubt, then tr, Wild was estilled to it. are

ours' hearing, the Chair said they had weighed the carefully and they could not se had been made out again had therefore no alternativ

#### MR. YARDLEY'S MOTOR ACCIDENT

# Patient at Infirmary With Str. Newsters, June 1997 The title of the

Patient at Infirmary With Mr. B. Several Information will Mr. B. Sow-street, Hanley, The title of the firm Movements, Market Managed of Sware a potter factor in Sow-street, Hanley, The title of the firm movements, Market Mr. J. Merrya Vardley, the Manager of the Wilsan Work. Brancetons the West and the Mr. J. Merrya Vardley, the Manager of the Wilsan Work. The Wilsan Work. The Movements of the first making shops were purchased in the Work Mr. J. Merrya Vardley, the Manager of the Wilsan Work. The Movement of the first making shops were purchased in the Morth Statfordatic Region of the first making shops were purchased in the Work Mr. J. Merrya Warder, Mr. J. C. H. Alcock was the order fragment in the source of the first mathematical the first making shops were purchased in the first mathematical the fi

(ha E.P

The product of the first short o fai



## DEATH OF MR. WILLIAM BLOORE OUTSTANDING PERSONALITY IN

# POTTERY INDUSTRY

In any variant provided with the the pottery industry for half-a-century. Mr. Bloore was 73 years of age. Mr. Bloore is rapid rise from at chereich the chiractorate of lamber of the model of the chiractorate and the balance of the chiractorate of the industry and is balance of the chiractorate of the industry and is balance of the chiractorate of the industry and is balance of the chiractorate of the industry and is balance of the chiractorate of the industry and is balance of the chiractorate of the industry and is balance of the industry and is balance of the chiractorate of the chiractorate of the industry and is balance of the industry and is balance of the chiractorate of the industry and is balance of the industry and is balan

We deeply regret to announce the District Council for many years, and a death, at his home, Lynmere, The Avenue, Alsager, early this morning, of Mr. William Bloore, who has been prominently associated with the prominently associated with the Blones was 73 was a factor of a set of the subporters on the authority of the Blones was 73 was of a set of the Blones of a set of the subporter of the set of the Blones and the data lived prevously at Contridge.

<text><text><text><text>

## CHASING CAR

#### Motorist's 65 Miles an

Hour Four Court io-day, Mr. Ree aries Jones, of Ruma, Bariastor frentham, was summoned for lotar-car at a speed which wa to the public. He was also for driving a motor-car a 30 mp.h. in a built-up area. 1. who nleaded Guilty in bodi who pleaded Guilty in ned £10 in the first case accord, his licence

he magistrates were Mr. J. Harrison seiding), Mr. S. Wright, Mr. W. H. ker and Mrs. Elliott. olice-Constable Fawcett said that at p.m. on December 23rd, he was

Deember 23rd, he was el-Constable in a pelice éar ilestreet, Steke, tavarda the junction with Boothen owed down and a car driven passed him at a very fast as accelerated and reached mp.h. He maintained thus Michelin crossing, but was the pisonadon the chane, on a high speed. Witness took

he car. said that Campbell-road, iter defendant passed the a restricted area. There rulings, only one of which i sign. The road then the

Mr. Jones, t efendant's car w and there was in. It was just "At 65 m.p.h.,

that only the short

and fines were imp



Tuesday afternoon is been. Mager. It was shot in the zoo grounds to-Atsage day by Major S. A. Yorke, of Star-to the cross, Commanding the 452nd Devon founder Anti-Arcraft Battery, R.A. able a Util the animal was located yesterday, some 18 hours after its escape, in a sime hound at ardems, the countryside some hours after its escape, in a some hound at ardems, the countryside some hours and been mobilized in a mobilized in a some for it.



Fig. 27. Stoke Evening Sentinel, Thursday Jan 12 1939.



MR. WILLIAM BLOORE

#### continuing their advance on the Estremadura front, an operation designed to relieve the insurgent pressure in Catalonia.

pr th art

in ki Be pla

Franco's forces have been making Mr. counter-attacks on this front, but the fur Government claim to have made a further advance to within eight miles of the Seville-Saragossa railway, "life-line" of insurgent Spain.



Fig. 28. Habitat. Catalogue cover and insert featuring ALB's BB, 1975.



Fig. 29. Habitat. Catalogue cover and insert featuring ALB's BB, 1975.



Fig. 30. *Ceramic and Glass trade gazette*, 1953; ALB marketing material exhibited as part of 'Icon', AirSpace Gallery, Hanley, Stoke-on-Trent, 26 September – 7 November 2015.

No longer considered a viable asset, in 1979 ALB were closed by Royal Doulton. Around this time, as Robin Levien noted in his article on the BB for *Design Magazine*, in 1976 there were only two smaller factories producing 'original 'BB teapots that either closed or switched to whiteware production. After 1979 the BB ceased to appear in Habitat catalogues. The cessation of production is mirrored by the object's invisibility in design discourse. This period of the late 1970s into the 1980s describes a shift from the industrial into the post-industrial era, which had been diagnosed in 1973 by the sociologist Daniel Bell in *The Coming of Post-Industrial Society: A venture in social forecasting*.

## 1.7 Survey of recent writing and representation of the Brown Betty

My research has demonstrated that there is a lack of critical discourse on the BB teapot from designers and academics alike. As I have learnt from material accessed at Stoke City Archives, the name 'Brown Betty 'was coined in a 1978 Information Bulletin issued by the public relations department of Royal Doulton Tableware Limited, Stoke-on-Trent. Prior to this the exact same teapots were known simply as Rockingham or Samian. It is a piece of masterful marketing: the bouncing alliteration of 'B 'conveys a sense of the teapot's characteristic bulbous form; while it is empirically correct that the teapot is brown, it is the deep glossy brown that is an identifying characteristic of the Rockingham glaze. Because of its relatively recent coinage, the keywords 'Brown Betty 'proved of limited use in library and archival searches.

Doulton's Bulletin introduces gender and class to the teapot's identity: 'Betty', a shortening of Elizabeth, was the name of the then British queen and also an archetypal homely 'girl next door'. This gendering is reproduced by the designer Robin Levien who observed in the early nineties that the 'Brown Betty 'is so-called because 'its shape conjures up images of rotund ladies '(Levien, 1992: 76). Given tea's integral relation to the British colonies and the emerging post-colonial context of Royal Doulton's naming of the 'Brown Betty', I have found no evidence to suggest a conscious, at least, racialisation of the object.<sup>17</sup>

*The Royal Doulton Tableware Bulletin* charts a history of the teapot's changing names, from 'red porcelain 'in the seventeenth century, to 'red china ware 'in the mid-eighteenth century. By the 1820s it was described as 'red stoneware'. These names, it notes, offer 'an interesting historical progression [...] which have always caused confusion among

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The link between design objects, domestic space, servitude and gender and race has been explored by Olivier Vallerand in *Unplanned Visitors: Queering the Ethics and Aesthetics of Domestic Space*, McGill-Queen's Press, 2020. Several examples come to mind: the 'dumbwaiter', the 'teasmaid 'and 'lazy Susan'.

potters and those who purchase their wares, and which remain muddled to the present day '(*The Royal Doulton Tableware Bulletin*, 1978–1980). The naming of 'Brown Betty' – alongside a schematic history – is intended to end confusion. Aside from aspects of the history I have outlined above, the Bulletin works hard to associate the teapot's supreme function, almost 'magical', with necessity and Englishness. Its innovation is born out of competition with overseas producers and therefore confers it a sense of victory and grit:

For nearly 300 years, 'Brown Betty 'has produced a better cup of tea than any other device known to man, or so any true-born Englishman will have it... Its supremacy as the medium through which that most subtle and indispensable of English beverages is brewed and conveyed, to the delight of the addict and the convert and the utter mysticism of the uninitiated... [A]ny number of reasons will be adduced for its magic properties, ranging from the nature of the clay used in its making to its roundness and thickness (*The Royal Doulton Tableware Bulletin*, 1978– 1980).

While cultural history, as well as a simultaneous egalitarianism and exclusivity, is claimed for the 'Brown Betty', the properties of its history of design evolution are mystified as being 'magic'. My intention is to develop a comprehensive understanding of these properties, rooted in academic and practice-based knowledge. The article concludes in an open-ended, inviting manner: 'There's many a lesson to be learned from that little brown pot...' (*The Royal Doulton Tableware Bulletin*, 1978–1980). As a student of the BB I cannot help but note the bitter irony of the timing of this article. Merely a year later, in 1979, Royal Doulton would close ALB. This closure is the context for the designer Robin Levien's article on the BB.

'I discovered, 'Levien writes, 'some of its lesser known qualities in the early eighties when, in the face of its possible extinction through the sale of the then manufacturer Alcock, Lindley and Blooer [sic] by Royal Doulton, I made a drawing of it with a view to getting it made elsewhere '(Levien, 1992: 76). This act of design salvage, however, remained an unrealised project: a local firm, Gem Pottery, bought the machines and moulds and took up its production. Nevertheless, Levien, through repetitive drawing of the object, is able to articulate what makes it work so well when others had attributed it to magic or merely repeated a 'soundbyte 'cliche history.



Fig. 31. Robin Levien, Gem Pottery marketing material courtesy of the archive of Studio Levien.

21 February 1992

Marion Hancock Design Magazine 28 Haymarket LONDON SWIY 4SU

Dear Marion

I enclose my piece on the Brown Betty teapot.

I have gone over the 300 words. Let me know if you want me to cut it back.

There are many very similar pots being made and until 3 months ago Price & Kensington made a 'kosher' one but as far as I can gather only Gem Pottery and another small pottery in Stoke now make the genuine article.

It is important that you photograph the right one.

I enclose a couple of leaflets from Gem Pottery Ltd and also an invoice for the fee of £75.00.

David Q did see some interesting products at Frankfurt and plans to phone you about it.

I look forward to hearing from you.

ROBIN LEVIEN

Fig. 32. Robin Levien, 'The Brown Betty', *Design Magazine* correspondence alongside Gem Pottery marketing material courtesy of the archive of Studio Levien.

As Levien observes, because the handle and spout are separately stuck on by hand, a grid can be perforated in the bowl that traps loose tea leaves. If tea bags are used they settle just below this grid in the bowl of the pot and do not interrupt the flow of liquid. Moving to the lid, Levien notes that it is prevented from tipping forward with pouring because it slips into a handcut groove in the collar of the bowl. The spout's sharp edges minimise drips after being poured, cutting off flow. Any drips and stains would disappear against the brown glaze.

Likewise, the glaze would minimise any small chips that revealed the complimentary earthenware tones beneath. Levien reasons that 'If the patina of use could be seen on these teapots most of them would probably be dumped within days '(Levien, 1992: 76). The ability of intrinsic qualities to hide grime leads to longevity of use. British modernity, as cultural geographers such as David Matless (1998) and Ken Worpole (2009) have shown, was a project of hygiene and cleanliness: the BB, however superficially, concealed imperfections. When it came to production, distribution and storage, the lid could also be inverted so that another pot of the same size may be stacked neatly on top. In the warehouse the stock could be stacked efficiently. On the shop floor the retailer could present the product in 'stack 'em high 'displays. I imagine a stacked wall of BBs as a spectacle of ubiquity.

Levien, writing in the early nineties at a moment of widespread loss of historic family-run Stoke companies to cheaper overseas manufacture, concludes his article by noting that sales figures have dwindled from a million units sold a year by Royal Doulton alone to 200,000 by those remaining producers. Noting a shift, which I will explore more fully shortly, Levien writes that 'people have started buying similar, even cheaper teapots on the market which look like the Brown Betty but do not combine all the assets of the real thing'. 'Beware of imitations, 'he concludes.

In 2001, writing in *The Times* newspaper, design critic Hugh Pearman identified the BB as a design classic: 'There are some things, 'he begins the article, 'it is pointless trying to improve '(Pearman, 2001: online). The BB 'transcends matters of styling and taste ' (ibid.) Recognising its wide appeal, he notes that it is 'as loved by high priests of design such as Habitat's Tom Dixon, as it is by the blokes in the hut on the building site'. Four years later, in 2006, cementing a growing consensus, the BB was compiled in the three volumes of *Phaidon Design Classics* – an attempt at canonising the 'greatest collection ' of industrial design dating back to the seventeenth century. In this book short texts accompanying objects offer contextual and historical accounts. Tim Parsons 'entry on the BB, although conventional in its received origin account, justifies its inclusion as being 'the archetypal teapot form '(Parsons, 2006).



Fig. 33. Phaidon design classics. London; New York, Ny: Phaidon Press.



Fig. 34. 'The Brown Betty. '*In* Alderson, S., Ball, R and Barber, E. (eds.) *Phaidon design classics*. London; New York, Ny: Phaidon Press.

The BB, Parsons writes, has become a much-loved icon of the British tea table. For him, its 'chubby 'form is what makes it 'charming 'and 'dependable 'as an everyday tool (notably, he does not gender the teapot). Parsons goes on to repeat, sometimes almost verbatim, Levien's own analysis of the teapot's design qualities: the handle and spout added to the body, rather than being cast, which allows a grid for tea leaves; the locking lid; the sharpened spout to reduce drips; the Rockingham glaze to hide stains and chips. The BB, he concludes, 'has conquered the mass market by striking a perfect balance between elegance and utility '(Parsons, 2006).

Ironically, the BB used by Phaidon to illustrate the entry is a Price & Kensington imported from Thailand, made of white clay and coated with a brown imitation Rockingham glaze. Particularly around the globe's collar it's possible to see the white clay breaking through the glaze. Any chips to the teapot would show immediately. The date, too, is attributed as 1919, which I contend is not accurate. It is the Price & Kensington version that has been previously marketed by leading authorities and retailers of tableware including David Mellor as 'The Original Brown Betty'.

The Royal Doulton Tableware Bulletin, as previously referred to, is an attempt to formalise a heritage for the teapot. The last twenty years has seen the BB enter into the canon of British design classics. However, the superficiality of historical research and its recycling between articles cited above, reveals something telling about journalistic design criticism. Complexity needs to be added to the account. This does not change, however, Parsons 'accurate observation that the BB is 'the archetypal teapot'. Its centrality to British consumption of tea in domestic life associates it with profoundly deep emotional and psychological attachments.



Fig. 35. Judith Kerr, The Tiger Who Came To Tea, HarperCollins, 1968.



Fig. 36. Janet and Allan Ahlberg, Peepo!, Viking Children's Books, 1981.

When the tiger comes to afternoon tea in Judith Kerr's 1968 children's book *The Tiger Who Came to Tea* it holds the teapot aloft and pours directly into its mouth. In the children's book *Peepo!* (1981) by Janet and Allan Ahlberg, the teapot on the table follows the colourway of ALB's BB; father, dressed as though in army slacks, has a caricature victory portrait of Churchill on the wall behind. It is not just in children's books; art and popular culture is full of BB teapots.

The identification of the BB's heritage by Royal Doulton in the late seventies occurred shortly before the liquidation of ALB at a time when increasingly heritage was being recognised as a 'post-industrial 'asset. By the early nineties, when Levien wrote his article, heritage had become malleable and applied to products made overseas and re-imported, which the reader is warned of: 'Beware of imitations. 'In the wake of millennium celebrations – a state-funded push to revive the 'best of Britishness – 'Hugh Pearman touts the BB as a design classic, a status that, merely five years later, is cemented by Phaidon. The past decade has seen the emergence in the UK of commercial retailers, notably Margaret Howell and Labour and Wait, celebrating and marketing premium British design heritage. Howell, in particular, has 'rediscovered' and celebrated designers such as Kenneth Grange and furniture makers such as Ercol in instore exhibitions.<sup>18</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See: <u>http://midcenturymagazine.com/interviews/margaret-howell-mid-century-design/</u>

### **1.8 Brown Betty Production Today**

Yet today, despite its centrality in British public life, there are only two remaining makers of the BB teapot in Staffordshire: CC, based in Tunstall, and Adderley Ceramics, in Longton. Adderley are a relatively new producer of the teapot, adding a version to their line after the founders worked for a brief period at CC. CC, established in 2005, is the oldest and largest of the two makers, although production of their BB teapot has been scaled down relative to the early 1900s. Today they produce approximately 40,000 units per year and employ a team of eight people under the Managing Director Stephen Murray (formerly Shaikh). The Directors of AirSpace gallery made an initial introduction to Shaikh. Throughout the residency I visited Shaikh at the factory a number of times. At this point I was interested in defining the history and identity of the object in order to populate a timeline for the AirSpace exhibition.

Born in Pakistan, Shaikh trained as a glaze engineer and came to the UK under sponsorship of a British Council traineeship that placed skilled overseas workers in UK craft industries. Shaikh met Salma Christabell who would become his wife at a British Council event and remained in the country where he worked, initially, for Ascot Pottery. When Ascot Pottery closed, he founded Caledonia Pottery where he transferred the production of the BB teapot and a number of other Ascot wares. In 2004 Shaikh sold Caledonia Pottery and founded CC – acquiring tools through a collapse of another company – to exclusively manufacture BB teapots and accessories. At this point CC was the last remaining producer of BB teapots made from Staffordshire Etruria Marl.

## 1.9 A Personal Account of the Initial CC Site Visit

Glen Stoker, director of AirSpace, joined me on my initial trip to document the visit. I was not expecting what we found. I had assumed that the operation would be akin to the kind of ceramics factories I'd visited in my profession as a ceramicist or official tours of potteries on offer throughout Stoke and that I had assumed I would be introduced to a marketing director who would mediate the experience, perhaps offering a history before introducing us to operatives.

We entered via a dilapidated ad-hoc outhouse bolted onto a single-storey brick industrial unit. A shonky sign over the door read 'Welcome to Cauldon Ceramics'. In here, to the side, a visitor-facing display of BB products is covered in a thick layer of dust that registers fingerprints where people have handled wares.<sup>19</sup>

It is dust and heat that envelops you as you enter the factory. Dust that you taste immediately. You can feel the clay: it blocks your pores as fine dusting is kicked up off

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> This account draws on personal notes to evoke the factory.

the floor and settles over your shoes. Clay in particulate matter dusting everything. In the corner of the factory, the kitchen is a collection of muddied units arranged around an industrial sink. Tangled electrical wires, retrofitted to electrify the unit, meet in clusters of sockets covered in dust. Tea and coffee pots by the kettle retain their sheen – items replaced frequently enough not to collect dust. Empty cigarette packets and food cartons remain where they were left.



Fig. 37. Dipping teapots in CC. Research gathered at CC during the AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; images Glen Stoker.

Between tattered hanging blue tarpaulins used to partition areas of production, we learn why there is so much dust. Firing kilns that operate all day share the same working space as production.

There are no central extraction units, only ad-hoc ducting arrangements plumbed into critical areas. Skylights let heat in like a greenhouse. Halfway through our first visit Glen's camera stopped working, he found having sent it to be repaired that dust had affected the lens causing it to jam.

The blunger, which mixes clay lump with water into slip, appears like an industrial fossil extracted from a clay quarry. Beneath the cracked and accreted layers of clay I can make out: 'SERVICE ENGINEERS LTD, BURSLEM STAFFS ENGLAND'. Flecks of cracked clay contaminate work moulding benches. Where seconds are stored in the factory they are sprinkled with a thick layer of dust. The dust gets into Shaikh's office, a grimey space warmed by electric heaters. The computer screen is covered in a red haze along with the fax which still receives orders. Stacked folders of paper ledgers record sales.

Shaikh understood the number of units required to be produced daily in order to maintain staff levels and meet costs. Aside from one British national, all staff were casually-employed migrants. None as far as I could ascertain had a ceramics training. There was no excess capital to invest in facilities or indeed a modern factory. The necessity to produce in these circumstances led, I could see, to poor quality control and inefficiency. Old, chewed up moulds produced thick seam lines that required a great deal of heavy fettling to smooth off. Contamination of slip resulted in higher than necessary seconds.

As I grew to know Shaikh through multiple site visits, I became aware of the significant pressures he faced. It was apparent that he was exhausted. In this nineteenth-century warehouse he seemed curiously out of place. Although the working day was 8am – 4pm, Shaikh worked far beyond these hours. A number of times he said that he needed someone young and dynamic to help him move the company in a new direction.



Fig. 38. Moulds drying on casting benches in CC. Research gathered at CC during the AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; images Glen Stoker.



Fig. 39. Caster splitting moulds to remove BB casts. Research gathered at CC during the AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; image Glen Stoker.

The raw material used to manufacture CCs 'teapots is still mined in Staffordshire at Knutton Bank Quarry – an opencast site located in Newcastle-under-Lyme. This is the last working clay seam in Staffordshire and this particular part of the seam has been mined since 1947. Today this material is predominantly used for brick making but a small percentage is processed into a plastic clay body and liquid slip and sold as 'Standard Terracotta 'by Valentine Clays Ltd. Established in 1979, Valentine Clays is a Staffordshire-based family run manufacturer of clay bodies and raw materials. The business supplies British and international ceramicists, the education sector and industry customers. In addition to visiting Knutton Bank Quarry, I also located and visited a former site of ALB, now leveled.



Fig. 40. Research gathered at Valentines clays, during AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; Images: Glen Stoker.



Fig. 41. Research gathered at Valentines clays, during AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; Images: Glen Stoker.

Fig. 42. Research gathered at Valentines clays, during AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; Images: Glen Stoker.





Fig. 43. Research gathered at Valentines clays, during AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; Images: Glen Stoker.



Fig. 44. Research gathered at one of ALB's old sites during the AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; image Glen Stoker.



Fig. 45. View of Knutton Bank Quarry, 2015; Image: Alun Ault.



Fig. 46. An early taxonomy of CC products, processes and practices. Presented as part of a Solo exhibition at AirSpace Gallery, 2015; images: Glen Stoker.



Fig. 47. Deconstructed CC BBs. Presented as part of a Solo exhibition at AirSpace Gallery, 2015; images: Glen Stoker.



Fig. 48. Casting CC BBs, to understand CCs 'moulding capabilities in Airspace Gallery. Presented as part of a Solo exhibition at AirSpace Gallery, 2015; images: Glen Stoker.



Fig. 49. Casting benches displaying research into CCs 'products, processes and practices. Presented as part of a Solo exhibition at AirSpace Gallery, 2015; images: Glen Stoker



Fig. 50. CC BB packaging; Image Cauldon Website, accessed 2015.

### 1.91 Analysis of CC Packaging

The genealogy I have carried out in this chapter demonstrates that, despite the heavilymarketed Britishness of CCs 'product, the BB has a more complicated hybrid history that is the result of global transfers of people, knowledge, skills and commodities. These complexities – and motivations – are most obviously occluded by CCs 'packaging and marketing that centres a strong association with the union jack flag and Britishness/Englishness (a difference that is confused, which I will return to).

CCs 'current packaging (see Fig. 50) repeats the red, white and blue of the union jack flag on a sticker that is applied to the teapot's body, a tag that hangs from the lid, and on the box (which has a letterbox window onto the product inside). Running along the red horizontal bar of the flag, the sticker reads: 'Original Brown Betty from Cauldon Ceramics Made in England'. The tag attached to the lid notes that the teapot is 'Made in Britain 'and claims that it was popularised by Queen Victoria. A misspelling refers to the innovations of the 'Elders 'brothers.



Fig. 51. Inaccurate history with misspellings of BB narrated by CC.

Throughout my research I have found no evidence of Queen Victoria's preference for the BB; the 'Elders 'brothers are, in fact, the 'Elers 'brothers. To my astonishment, these very same inaccuracies were present in the marketing material of Adderley Ceramics ' account of the BB. In the absence of substantial historic understanding of the BB, misinformation and cliches are copied and circulated even among producers. Where CC claims their product to be 'original', David Mellor also claims the Price & Kensington BB that it stocks, manufactured in Thailand from a white bodied clay, as 'The Original Brown Betty Teapot'. Claims to originality suggest that this is an important asset.





Fig. 52. David Mellor printed catalogue, 2017.

In my review of revitalisation strategies I explored the complications that can arise with the presentation of particular designs, products and practices as 'traditional 'and 'local'. Twigger Holroyd urges readers to be aware that such portrayals can be 'deceptively

overblown or even entirely invented '(2018: 33). As a counter to global forces, the 'traditional 'is often associated with 'authenticity'. Frequently, as I have written, it is an appeal to authenticity, place and historical continuity that is a key aspect of the marketing of traditional goods.

This is affirmed by Neil Ewins 'writing in the book *Ceramics and Globalization* where he gives the example of the defunct Stoke pottery Adams 'bogus claim in a 1970s catalogue to have been established as early as 1657. Referring to the work of Weinberger et al., Ewins writes: "it's not uncommon for purportedly authentic marketing campaigns to be based on history that never really existed "(Weinberger in Ewins, 2017: 153). Ewins cites the work of DeFanti, Bird and Caldwell who have established how marketing – specifically with reference to the luxury fashion brand Gucci – can be based on simply "a partially borrowed heritage "(2018: 14 cited in Ewins, 2017: 153).

Historically, the union jack motif, alongside 'Made in England', has been used with ceramics as an assurance of quality British manufacture – a symbol of heritage that has market value employed by UK and Staffordshire companies that, as Ewins observes, have chiefly avoided outsourcing production overseas. It is a mark of distinction. In 2009, Royal Stafford produced the Britannia range, incorporating images of Britannia, a crown, and the statement 'Made in Britain'. The emotive backstamp read 'Made in the Heart of the Potteries England'. Royal Stafford's then Artistic Director Norman Tempest had decided not to outsource to China at a time when overseas white ware was rife in the UK market. Royal Stafford's marketing and design, Tempest said, was an attempt to "'try and squeeze the absolute ultimate out of them because 'Made in England 'isn't enough, I want it 'The Heart of the Potteries 'so it was trying to run the last ounce of benefit, if you like '"(Ewins, 2017: 118).

The Heron Cross Pottery of Stoke-on-Trent introduced the phrase 'Made in Staffordshire, England 'in 2008 to the 'scattered blue heart 'range. As the sales manager Tracie Shaw explains, cited in Ewins:

Up until then the need to have the words 'Made In 'hadn't been so important for us, but it became more relevant as more manufacturers were importing under English company names and using the word England or 'of England 'on their backstamps that it became more confusing for consumers to know where the products were being manufactured and for many, many years customers were duped into thinking products being made in the Far East were still made in England if they had the English companies name on the backstamp. The quality of the product wasn't as good either which further damaged England's reputation as having the skills to manufacture a quality product (125).

Going beyond merely backstamping, there are producers who have incorporated 'Made in England 'and the union jack flag itself into the surface design. Repeat Repeat of Fenton introduced the 'Britannia 'range in 2009 with teapots bearing the slogan 'Made in England/Bone China'. Their products stress Staffordshire origins by use of packaging and attached labels. Emma Bridgewater Ltd., a company that I will return to as a case study in Field 3, has made use of sponged motifs, including the union jack, alongside backstamps that read 'Hand Made in Stoke-on-Trent, England'. According to Ewins, Bridgewater introduced this phrase in 2010, replacing simply 'Hand Made in England'. This was to 'amplify how their ceramic products are thoroughly crafted in Stoke-on-Trent '(Ewins, 2017: 107).

As I have noted, David Mellor claims Price & Kensington teapots as 'original 'despite their manufacture overseas. When James Sadler & Sons of Burslem, a large historic manufacturer of the BB, went into administration in March 2000, it was revealed that one chairman of the company had been importing ceramics from Indonesia as James Sadler Imports Ltd. As *The Sentinel* reported, citing a former employee, this had 'been instrumental in digging the grave of not only Sadler's Burslem production but other Potteries 'firms '(18 March 2000). Cashing in on the symbolism of Britishness in the short-term would undermine production in the longer term. As the article goes on to state:

Indonesian teapots arrive at the factory by juggernaut from the ports. They are then backstamped with the Union Jack—Sadler's trademark—and distributed to retailers all over the country, such as Woolworth's [sic]. Nothing is on them to indicate that they were manufactured in the Far East. The teapots are designed at the Burslem headquarters and the moulds then flown to Indonesia. Three years ago Peter Sadler said James Sadler and Sons had been outsourcing teapots for four years—and China before that (The Sentinel, March 18, 2000).

The union jack is used today to give distinction to products *actually* produced in the UK. Stamping imported whiteware with British symbols is deceptive and controversial but it is not – as far as I can tell – a protected status. By choosing to be even more specific about place of production, as Emma Bridgewater Ltd. did, a perception of Stoke is instrumentalised that in turn continues to have a purchase on the consumer. CC, for example, export many BBs to a US market for whom the union jack is a particular signifier. Identifications with the flag are complicated. To buy British – and more
specifically to buy Staffordshire – is to support a historic craft-based industry. In an age of increased awareness of sustainability, for UK buyers, buying local from within the UK also reduces the carbon footprints involved in distribution chains.

Englishness is not the same as Britishness, although they are often conflated, more or less intensely at different times. As I have noted, during my time in Stoke the Eurosceptic right-wing populist party UKIP, under Paul Nuttall, made significant gains, naming the town the 'Brexit capital 'of Britain (MacLeod, 2018). The union jack motif is an amalgam of three older national flags: the red cross of St George for the Kingdom of England, the white saltire of St Andrew for Scotland and the red saltire of St Patrick to represent Ireland.



Fig. 53. Examining quality checked teapots and Union jack branding in CC, gathered during the AirSpace Gallery residency, 2015; images Glen Stoker.

If the union jack is a benign symbol of conervative-party Englishness, the St George's cross has been politicised and racialised by nationalistic groups such as the English Defence League and UKIP as an ethnocentric (white) symbol of Englishness. In a report titled 'This Sceptred Isle', published by the thinktank British Future in 2012, 24% of people interviewed considered the St George's flag a racist symbol. Debates about

whether the flag is a symbol of patriotism or racism are ongoing. Only recently, the Tory party has seized upon the scarcity of union jack flags at the BBC in what appears as a politicised attack on their perceived 'wokeism '(Lunz, 2022).

The application of a St George's flag applied to a product would be, I suspect, unpalatable, although it does seem acceptable to use written slogans that advertise 'Made in England'. This points to the power of the symbolic image.

Commentary tends to focus on the toxic aspects of Englishness but what if, as Stuart Jeffries wrote in *the Guardian*, we recognise what being English, at best, might mean (Jeffries, 2006). It is clear to me that marketing for a project to re-engineer the BB would need to recover the depth of its history beyond the merely recent imperialistic idea of Queen Victoria. It would need to root itself in the specific regional characteristics from which it emerged and which give it the distinction of being a culturally significant design. Such marketing would convey and celebrate the deep place-based heritage of the object without deference to the conflicted and volatile symbolism of the flag.

Finally, at the time of on-site visits with Glen Stoker to CC and examining the product, the quality that the union jack is assumed to symbolise was – frankly – lacking. Product quality, and the moulds they were produced from, is inconsistent when compared to older versions of the BB by historic producers. It is vital to stress here that poor quality is not endemic. Rather, I think, it is the result of the volume of product required to merely continue British production in an extremely competitive global market. This relentless pressure to produce has blocked CCs 'own perception of their product's singular cultural significance. Few concessions are made to such independent producers, which creates a difficult paradox: the public want to buy British, specifically Staffordshire, but producers are struggling. The BB is perceived as being a humble and affordable product, but I believe it is necessary for CC to understand the deep significance of their product. Changing their perception was as much a part of this research.

The exhibition 'Icon 'at Airspace Gallery, 25 September to 7 November 2015, was an attempt to show both the public and CC what makes their object significant. The exhibition generated considerable PR and marketing. Labour and Wait got in touch, as did Margaret Howell. This was a welcome validation. The exhibition, an expanded form, I believe, was key to producing interest and new knowledge. Up until this point, still interested in design evolution, I was concerned with defining the history and identity of the object. Ironically, the exhibition revealed to me the extent to which the object had also 'devolved'. A shift occurred from my interest in merely telling a story to, at the end

of the residency, thinking that there was potential for CC and the BB to be at the centre of the PhD research.

In the following chapter, Field 2, I develop a taxonomy of historic versions of the BB and carry out experimental production of examples using moulds that I developed. This taxonomy, among other things, was undertaken to enable me to develop a deeper understanding of the production standards of earlier versions of the teapot. My intention was also to identify historic variations of its design morphology. If the teapot had 'devolved', how?

# Field 2, Taxonomy: An exploded view of the Brown Betty



Fig. 54. Street view of the Vitsoe exhibition, 3–5 Duke Street, Central London; Phot: Geoff Howe.

Insight from Field 1 provided material for the second major practice-based outcome of this CDA research, the exhibition 'Brown Betty: the archetypal teapot 'at Vitsoe, London, which I designed and curated as part of the LDF 17–25 September 2016.<sup>20</sup> This exhibition built on key knowledge produced through a literature review, engagement with primary archive sources and site visits undertaken as artist-in-residence at AirSpace Gallery the previous year. The Vitsoe venue is a shift from the gallery setting of a residency and exhibition to a retail space that foregrounds curated display, an example of what Hutton and Nasby call 'the museum effect '(Hutton and Nasby, 2020: 130). The curation of the taxonomy display is translated to the page to structure parts of this chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Vitsoe is a British furniture company that manufactures and retails furniture designed by the German industrial designer Dieter Rams. <u>http://www.vitsoe.com</u>. The LDF is an annual event made up of over 400 events and exhibitions across London: <u>http://www.londondesignfestival.com/</u>. The Brown Betty featured in 'Vitsoe Voice 'magazine, issue 3.

According to *Phaidon Design Classics*, published in 2006, the BB is a design icon, finding company with, among other products, the Vitsoe 606 Universal Shelving System. The alignment with Vitsoe provided a useful 'frame 'for thinking through my ambitions for what would become the RBB.<sup>21</sup> Vitsoe has, since 1960, continuously produced the 606 Universal Shelving System designed by Dieter Rams – perhaps the most influential industrial designer of the twentieth century. While Vitsoe embraces the accolade of producing furniture 'classics', their attitude is 'constantly evolving '(Design by Vitsoe, n.d.). They pride themselves on not merely preserving but continuously improving their products and processes – countering tendencies of disposable fast fashion.

Similarly, I propose that the BB is also a product of design evolution – its form and function having been refined by generations of makers. It is not, Artemis Yagou writes of evolutionary design, an 'ideal form 'but a fitting form which has evolved through adaptation processes with particular social, economic and technological contexts (2015). I also propose that, like Vitsoe shelving, the early ALB BB is a modernist object where form follows function. By presenting the teapot at Vitsoe, I intended to highlight the ethos of the early makers of the BB teapot in a way that acknowledged the object's history while focussing on the evolutionary nature of its design and manufacture. Vitsoe – whose mission statement is 'unravelling the conundrum that is living better with less that lasts longer '(Design by Vitsoe, 'Ethos', n.d.) – were fascinated by this conceptual link and subsequently dedicated the majority of their central London showroom to the exhibition.

With a comprehensive understanding of the breadth of BB manufacturers, I was able to draw on my findings to explore historical precedents in the design, production and marketing of the object. This material enabled me to evaluate and identify the most economic and socially innovative maker, which I understand to be ALB. Their BB provided a case study for a literature search and taxonomy of its materials, design, production processes, and distribution. During this exhibition I coordinated and chaired a public panel discussion about the BB teapot with the industrial designer Robin Levien and the tea trader Timothy d'Offay. I will give an outline of this event below and draw on insights in Field 3. A transcript of the conversation is included in the Appendix.

A wide range of written reviews and literature was generated in response to the exhibition 'Brown Betty: the archetypal teapot 'which fed back into my understanding of the public interest and cultural significance of the object. These, alongside the panel discussion, elicited a range of perspectives from researchers, designers, manufacturers, retailers and the public on the design details, target audience and meaning of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> My relationship with Vitsoe dates back to 2013 as an employee at their Camden workshop.

object. Within this field, these viewpoints are synthesised with my contextual research and allow me to narrow down on potential revitalisation strategies to employ in field 3 such as 'reworking the design to meet contemporary needs '(Walker et al., 2017: 62).

My research led me to propose that while there is no singular definitive author of the BB, ALB were responsible for innovating notable design features of the BB teapot and production processes. The research reveals that ALB were one of the most commercially successful and innovative makers of the object. The findings are used to identify historical precedents and best practice in the design and manufacturing of this teapot. These practices are compared to the product, processes and practices of present-day makers across the globe, including but not limited to CC, in order to assess the current health of the industry.

The findings from the contextual study and taxonomy are analysed in order to explore and expand upon our understanding of the design and its meanings. This forms one component within a 'revitalization strategy 'proposed by Walker et al in which they speculate that 'before they can be re-introduced, (these) designs, and their meanings, first need to be researched and understood by the designer '(Walker et al., 2017: 62). The contextual study, taxonomy and analysis make a new contribution to knowledge through formalising the unrecorded history of this teapot within an academic framework.

I propose that although the BB is celebrated as a design classic there is a lack of historical understanding surrounding the object and its significance to the UK ceramics industry (Parsons, 2006: 116). I propose that there are inconsistencies within the limited literature available, which allows inauthentic imports to be freely marketed as 'Originals ' by reputable retailers.

# 2.1 Collecting Brown Betties

The exhibition 'Brown Betty: the archetypal teapot 'was curated around a taxonomy of materials, design, production processes, and distribution elements of thirty original ALB. teapots, with accompanying textual information. The basis of this chapter follows a process and strategy of identifying, collecting, categorising, listing, handling, making and finally displaying BB teapots.

These teapots were collected from a range of sources, including private collections and acquisitions from eBay, markets and junk shops. In this process of accumulating teapots – of beginning my own collection of BB teapots – I visited the granddaughter of William Bloore, Amanda Bloore. I was also greatly assisted in my research by a US-based web forum for enthusiasts of the BB, operated by Sheri Murphy-Hughes (https://albcollectors.blogspot.com/). This networked interactive space proved a

valuable resource, demonstrating that the internet presents new opportunities for identities and communities to form around niche interests of traditional crafts and place-based designs (Twigger Holroyd, 2018: 29).<sup>22</sup>

In their introduction to the classic anthology *The Cultures of Collecting* (1994), John Elsner and Roger Cardinal claim that 'the collection is the unique bastion against the deluge of time '(1994: 1). The first collector was the biblical figure Noah who collected pairs of all earthly life forms from which the world could be reconstructed after the Biblical flood. Noah, who is conscious of salvaging species from extinction, creates a collection as a form of salvation. Elsner and Cardinal recognise how the myth of Noah resonates with all the themes of collecting itself: 'desire and nostalgia, saving and loss, the urge to erect a permanent and complete system against the destructiveness of time '(1994: 1).

This is poignant for my research. My field trips to the Stoke on Trent City Archives made clear to me the gaps in archival material relating to the BB teapot and there are no institutional collections of the variations of all BBs produced. If there is no collection there is no salvation. To be collected the BB would need to be valued. While the BB has not been valued by institutions it is and has been valued by consumers and certain communities of individuals as anonymous design. Interacting with web forums impressed upon me the significant specialist knowledge held by enthusiasts and fans who both sell and collect BBs.

There is a growing body of design and material cultures scholarship that draws upon and recognises eBay as a bellwether of material culture, taste and value – for example, *Everyday eBay: Culture, Collecting, and Desire*, edited by Michael Petit, Ken Hillis and Nathan Scott Epley, published in 2006. This volume, among other topics, suggests that eBay organises and helps produce 'a vast range of collecting communities 'which, with the vast quantity of information available in eBay categories and discussion forums (on and off eBay), is changing the knowledge practices of collectors '(160). eBay listings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Twigger Holroyd is not alone in claiming that a limit has been reached with globalisation and modernisation that has stimulated a desire for tradition, diversity and local distinctiveness: 'the gloss is starting to wear off mass-produced, globalized products '(29). The rise of the internet has played a significant part, too. Besides an anxiety about progress and change, the internet presents new opportunities for identities and communities to form around niche interests of traditional crafts and place-based designs. Direct relationships can be formed to allow individual makers and micro-enterprises to connect directly with customers, making older, less flexible processes of production, distribution and consumption obsolete.

and forums become spaces, according to Rebecca M. Ellis and Anna Haywood, writing in *Everyday eBay*, for users to 'perform their collecting knowledges '(50).<sup>23</sup>

At the heart of the BB is a fascinating contradiction. Taxonomising the BB is an attempt to define, as Tim Parsons has called it, the 'archetypal teapot form '(2006). While the design is lodged in the everyday national unconscious as the very image of a teapot, its history is not understood and it is not valued by institutions to be collected in its multiple forms. It hides in plain sight.

In being both 'normal 'and 'exceptional', grafted to everyday life, the BB also falls into the category of what the designers Jasper Morrison and Naoto Fukasawa defined as 'super normal'. In a series of exhibitions that culminated in the book *Super Normal: Sensations of the Ordinary* (2010), Morrison and Fukasawa identified 204 everyday objects, including anonymous design and design classics, such as milk bottles, spanners and coffee pots, that have developed unselfconsciously over the years and that are normal but transcend normality. As Fukasawa writes, such designs' 'preeminent quality consists in the capacity to conceal its features until they become virtually invisible '(21). Their special kind of normality is the result of a long design evolution:

The Super Normal object is the result of a long tradition of evolutionary advancement in the shape of everyday things, not attempting to break with the history of form but rather trying to summarize it, knowing its place in the society of things (29).

This design evolution, because it is slow, cannot be easily replaced. In a world of increasingly spectacular design, plugged into global supply chains, it endures. Super Normal, Morrison writes, is less concerned with designing beauty than seemingly homely but memorable elements of everyday life (2010). The problem of collecting the super normal is precisely its withdrawn quality. I will return to some of these points later in this Field when I discuss Intellectual Property and authorship.

# 2.2 Outlining a Taxonomy of Design Elements: Synthesising an Archetypal Teapot

Collections are always preceded by a scheme of classification – a taxonomy (Elsner and Cardinal, 1994). There is a reciprocal relation between identifying objects, collecting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> The exhibition as a stage for the 'performance of collecting knowledges 'is a curatorial strategy that I would later go on to employ with the finished RBB, displaying it alongside existing examples. Here the collection is a ground for the RBB and situates it within an historic design canon, suggesting a lineage. I will return to this in my Conclusion.

them, and classifying them: 'In effect, the plentitude of taxonomy opens up the space for collectables to be identified, but at the same time the plenitude of that which is to be collected hastens the need to classify...' (Elsner and Cardinal, 1994: 1). In identifying objects for collection, we simultaneously refine our taxonomy and in turn what it is that we collect. Memorably, Elsner and Cardinal define collecting as 'classification lived, experienced in three dimensions '(2). 'The history of collecting, 'they continue: 'is thus the narrative of how human beings have striven to accommodate, to appropriate and to extend the taxonomies and systems of knowledge they have inherited '(2).

Writing from the field of organisational management, sociologist Kenneth D. Bailey defines a taxonomy as 'a classification of cases according to their measurable similarity of observable variables '(1994). The term taxonomy, according to Lambe, means in general 'the rules or conventions of order or arrangement'. 'Classification schemes, ' Bailey continues, 'are designed to group related things together, so that if you find one thing within a category, it is easy to find other related things in that category '(5).

An effective taxonomy, then, is an analytical tool for organising knowledge. As Bailey writes, 'One basic secret to successful classification... is the ability to ascertain the key or fundamental characteristics on which the classification is based '(1994: 6). My own taxonomy developed in stages: building on knowledge gained from historical analysis in Field 1, a literature review and then through tactile engagement with the actual collection sample of teapots. I have already demonstrated that the Stoke clay and glaze are defining place-based material properties of the BB.

These static factors are the basic characteristic of this collection. The other fixed criteria is that each pot collected should be marked according to the back stamp of ALB - a manufacturer my research has led me to understand was the most productively and socially innovative. I disregarded teapots that did not have a globe-shape bowl and any that were hand-painted with representational imagery. As ALB teapots are no longer in production, the sample range is static: while the collection may not be exhaustive, new items are not being brought into circulation by the manufacturer.

Assembled, a teapot's primary function is to brew, contain and serve tea. But this is no guarantee of good design. A good teapot opens onto other considerations: for example, a teapot should effectively retain heat; we might expect it to not block up with leaves or bags; we might expect a teapot to pour with minimum leakage. My taxonomy of ALB. teapots was organised around fundamental observable functional characteristics of a teapot. I identified these as the following:

Spout, Handle, Lid, Glaze, Globe, Clay.

These are discussed in concert with exhibition documentation in Section 2.3. Here, I will discuss the process of establishing categories. By examining a sample of twenty eight teapots I synthesised a set of characteristic features arrived at through a consideration of functionality and aesthetics. During the process of developing the taxonomy I was alert to functional and aesthetic elements that may be easily overlooked and that would, in turn, feed back into and refine the taxonomy. This forensic quality of attention led to unexpected insights in the production and use of the teapot.

## 2.3 Exhibition Display

The modularity of the Vitsoe 606 Universal Shelving System lends itself to flexible display. Throughout the exhibition at Vitsoe physical 3D objects – a range of existing historic teapots, my own moulding of details and sculptural illustrations of material properties – were accompanied by archival material and text. Jennie Moncur, creative director of Vitsoe, discussed my ideas with me. These texts form the structure of this section – signaled in italics – but are enriched with more scholarly precision and detail. The shift in writerly register is necessary as the purpose of the exhibition was to engage a broad audience, from academics to the ceramic manufacturing industry and members of the public, with the aim to begin to cultivate a wider audience and appreciation of the object and its history.



Fig. 55. Installation view of the main exhibition at Vitsoe; Photo. Geof Howe.



Fig. 56. An original ALB teapot typifying the archetypal shape and character of a BB Teapot is used to illustrate the introduction and character panel; Photo. Geof Howe.

#### Character

'The chances are, if I asked you to draw a tea pot from memory, you'd think of a shape not too dissimilar from the Brown Betty. That's because it's one of the most manufactured teapots in British history. – 'Ian McIntyre<sup>24</sup>

Despite its popularity, surprisingly little is known about the Brown Betty or its original makers. It was a cheap, utilitarian pot for the working classes and disappeared into the fabric of everyday life.

It is also a product of evolution rather than the authorship of any single designer – form and function refined over generations. The most innovative maker was Alcock, Lindley & Bloore who operated through the 20<sup>th</sup> century. The company pioneered Brown Betty's development, creating one of the most recognisable shapes in British ceramics.

My basic criteria for collecting BBs is that it should be produced by ALB. Over a period of six months I acquired as many examples in different size sets as I could and began to organise them around basic categories.

Fig. 57 shows a range of sizes of the non-drip spout version. Top right, common on the secondhand market, shows the 'Rockingham 'version with what I call the 'classic spout'. Top left on Fig. 57, less common, shows, again, the classic spout version but here finished in a transparent glaze, known as 'Samian'. Finally, bottom left on Fig. 57 shows a non-drip version with a mottled glaze. This latter type is less common but I was able to find a range of sizes. The mottled effects were less common still. Fairly common were BBs finished with hand-painted flowers but I decided to omit these because their ornamentation diverts from modernist utility. During the process of collecting BBs I did encounter what I call 'Specials – 'scarcer versions of unusual finish, detailed below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> As stated above, the text in italics that follows was used in the exhibition display. It is represented here to be elaborated on.



Fig.57. ALB BBs organsed by size, glaze type and spout; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.





LOCK LID

NON-DRIP SPOUT



The characteristic features of our teapots are the specially designed locking lid and non-drip spout. The lock lid will not fall out when the teapot is tilted at an acute angle. The non-drip spout eliminates all drip and ensures straight pouring.



#### ALCOCK, LINDLEY & BLOORE LTD MANUFACTURERS OF SAMIAN AND ROCKINGHAM TEAPOTS HANLEY · STAFFORDSHIRE WERSEAS AGENTS, Australia: F. R. Barlow & Sonie Pty., Ltd., 328 Plinders Street, Melbourne. New Zealand: F. O. R. Suterstaf, 20-22 Victoria Street, Wellington. Canada: Ptotery and Glass Agencies, 441 St. Peter Street, Montreal Suterstaf, 20-22 Victoria Street, Wellington. Canada: Ptotery and Glass Agencies, 441 St. Peter Street, Montreal Suterstaf, 20-22 Victoria Street, Vellington. Canada: Ptotery and Glass Agencies, 441 St. Peter Street, Montreal Suter Africa: Johnson & Jorgensen, F. G. Ltd., Vanad Pranch, Box 300, Vancouver Mouse, Prelident Street, Kingston Base Africa: Johnson & Jorgensen, F. G. Ltd., Philipsen, B. G., Ltd. K. A. Davidson, Box 216, 8 Church Street, Kingston Beglum: S.A.CO., 15, Meir, Antwerp

Fig. 58. Advert for Alcock Lindley and Bloore Ltd, Pottery and Glass Gazette, April 1953.



Fig. 59. Archive evidence to support exhibition introduction to ALB as the most innovative maker of the BB; Photo. Geof Howe.

Components of the teapots, such as the red clay, Rockingham glaze and 'Globe 'form, can be found in versions made prior to ALB's era. These details are not attributed to any one specific maker, but they gradually emerged and were adopted by different firms over the years. In this way, the form and function of an historic ALB teapot was itself a synthesis of both new and tried and tested production methods and design details, resulting in an optimised teapot built on refinements made by generations of craftspeople.

Despite the lack of clarity on the originator of the BB, it is ALB's version that is cited as a classic by Tim Parsons in the book *Phaidon Design Classics* and as 'the definitive teapot 'by the Royal Designer for Industry, Robin Levien (1992:76). ALB certainly dominated redware manufacturing in the latter part of the twentieth century (claiming to be the biggest manufacturer in the world), outlasting their UK competitors Gibson & Sons Ltd, James Sadler and Sons, Ltd. and Price & Kensington Potteries Ltd. (*Staffordshire Evening Sentinel*, 1939). It is ALB's teapot which has cemented the archetypal form of the BB as we know it today, appearing in the majority of contemporary literature.



Fig. 60. An extrusion of raw unfired Etruria Marl clay taken off the production line at Valentines is used to illustrate the raw material and provenance of an authentic BB Teapot; Photo. Geof Howe.

## The Clay

'I think it's safe to say that a Brown Betty that isn't made of Staffordshire red clay, isn't an original Brown Betty at all. '-- Ian McIntyre

The very character of the pot comes from the quality of the clay, which has been mined in Staffordshire for red-ware teapots for over 300 years.

This clay – Etruria Marl – was first refined in about 1695 by two Dutch brothers, John Philip Elers and David Elers, in Bradwell Woods, North Staffordshire. Prior to this the potteries which existed were small family-run outfits, producing crude wares like butter pots for farmers to transport their produce to market.



Fig. 61. Unglazed objects in both unrefined and refined state: made using Staffordshire red clay and cast from a mould taken from an original ALB teapot. Image by Geof Howe.

#### Refinement

The brothers used this clay to make teapots to emulate and compete with the expensive red stoneware Yixing teapots, which were being imported from China by the East India Company.

It is widely agreed that the refinement of this clay, which could reliably withstand the temperature of boiling water without cracking, gave rise to new technological experiment in Staffordshire, and became a key catalyst for the industrialisation of the six towns that make up Stoke-on-Trent.



Fig. 62. Object accompanying The globe text panel: Globe made by me using Staffordshire red clay and cast from a mould he has taken from an original ALB teapot. Image by Geof Howe.

### The Globe

The Brown Betty is a purely rational design, stripped of anything superfluous to its function and production methods. Over the years its form has migrated into a globe, which was seen as the best shape to infuse the loose-leaf tea as water is added. The shape and the wall-thickness combine to keep the tea warm.

The body of an ALB teapot was made by a process called 'jigger jollying', in which plastic clay is dropped into a rotating plaster mould and spread up against the side of the mould walls by a flat tool. Jigger jollying produced a thick wall that improved the strength of the earthenware Etruria Marl clay while improving insulation, keeping its contents warmer for longer.



Fig. 63. Object accompanying *The grid* text panel: Half a pot showing the grid, spout and handle detached. Made by me using Staffordshire red clay and cast from a mould he has taken from an original ALB teapot. Image by Geof Howe.

# The Grid

The body of an ALB teapot was made in three parts. The globe was pressed before the handle and spout were applied. This enabled a potter to crudely punch a grid of holes into the globe before attaching the spout.

The grid holds the tea-leaves in the globe when pouring. (It is a detail sadly lost from today's Brown Betty teapots, which are cast in one-piece moulds to reduce manufacturing costs.)

The handle and spout of an ALB teapot were stuck on with slip by hand once the body had been pressed. Today's BB teapots are made by the process of slip casting in which the handle and spout of the teapot can be cast into the same mould rather than being hand applied afterwards. This process comes at a functional cost, as the cast thickness of the pot has to be thinner to avoid casting the spout solid. The resulting teapot is weaker and offers less insulation, however the factory yield is higher and requires less skilled labour. There is now no grid to prevent loose leaf tea escaping out of the spout and both the handle and spout are more vulnerable to breaking.



Fig. 64. Object accompanying *The spout* text panel: Three spouts at different phases of the firing process. Made by me using Staffordshire red clay and moulded from an original ALB teapot. Image by Geof Howe.

# The Spout

At first sight the spout of an ALB teapot looks poorly finished, but it was rough-cut deliberately by a craftsman. The sharp edges at the opening – and just underneath the lip – cut the flow of water, preventing tea from dribbling back down the outside of the pot. If a dribble did make it down, at least it would be masked due to the combination of the Rockingham glaze and the dark colour of the clay.

A sample of fourteen vintage ALB teapots with classic spouts were examined in order to support the theory that the roughly-cut spout was a deliberate and constant feature of this teapot – although cut crudely, each spout featured a sharp edge in the same place on every pot. The functional theory of this detail is supported by a text on the BB teapot by Robin Levien in which he writes: 'drips are minimised by the sharp edges at the end of the crudely hand-trimmed spout '(1992:76). The spout of BB teapots being made today are sponged smooth, which increases dripping but looks more aesthetically refined.

## The Non-drip Spout

To be certain that tea would not dribble the patented non-drip spout was introduced as an optional feature. Functioning like a tap the spout ensures a straight pour and almost magically eliminates drip.

The non-drip spout design is highly functional. Tests that I undertook with 13 ALB teapots with non-drip spouts revealed perfect pouring results (Fig. 127). Yet these teapots are much harder to find in vintage shops or online sales platforms. I surmise that either they were less popular in the market and ALB sold far fewer or they work so well that their owners tend to keep them rather than sell them on. I suspect it was the former. The non-drip BB does not feature in any of the Habitat catalogues and Robin Levien had never seen one until I introduced it to him.

Non-Drip Lock Lid

GLOBE SHAPE - SAMIAN BANDED

B

The small illustration A depicts the groove which prevents the lid from falling out even when the teapot is tilted at an acute angle, and illustration B shows the specially designed spout which ensures a straight pour and eliminates "drip." This design can be supplied in a variety of coloured bands including blue, green, etc.

Patent Nos. 477613 and 358746

A



ALCOCK, LINDLEY & BLOORE LTD

Manufacturers of Samian and Rockingham Teapots HANLEY, STAFFORDSHIRE

OVERSEAS AGENTS. Sweden: Aug Eklow, Brunkebergstorg 11, Stockholm. Beleium: S.A.C.O., 15 Meir, Antwerp. Denmark: Aage Moller, Stormgade 20, Copenhagen, Australia: F. R. Barlow & Sons Phy. Ltd., 328, Fiinders Street, Melbourne. Canada: Pottery & Glass Agencies, 441, St. Peter Street, Montreal. Holland: W. Werner & Co., Paleisstraat 23, Amsterdam. Palestine: E. E. Aschheim, Reines Street, 8, Tel Aviv. New Zealand: F. O. & H. S. Hart, Ltd., 20/22, Victoria Street, Willington, C.I. South Africa: Johnsen & Jorgensen, F. G., Ltd., Oswald Franck, Box 5600, Vancouver House, President Street, Johannesburg. East Africa: Johnsen & Jorgensen, F. G., Ltd., Phillips & Co., Box 558, Victoria Street, Nairobi. Jamaica: Johnsen & Jorgensen, F. G., Ltd., L. Keble Davidson, P.O. Box 84, Kingston.

Allied House: SWINNERTONS LTD., Hanley, Staffordshire Manufacturers of Earthenware, Dinner and Tea Sets, etc.

Fig. 65. ALB marketing material illustrating the Non-Drip spout and Locking Lid text panels Citation- A advertisement for Alcock, Lindley & Bloore Ltd. in the Pottery Gazette & Glass Trade Review April 1953; page 512.



Fig. 66. ALB BBs, classic spout, left, showing signs of wear and seam line still evident; classic spout, right, showing the sharp, internal cut where the excess cast has been removed. Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Levien describes the classic spout as being roughly cut. On closer inspection of multiple versions, the makers leave part of the seam line at the top of the spout and sponge it away further down (Fig. 66). The inner circumference of the spout is finished with a clean and sharp line where the potter's knife cuts away the excess cast. That sharp line cuts the flow of liquid in both directions. There are no seams on the non-drip spout.

Handling multiple BBs led to fascinating and suggestive comparative insights into its material culture. Overwhelmingly, on my sample of teapots the classic spout lasts longer. There is weathering down where the underside of the spout meets the cup in daily use but this area never seems to chip. The non-drip spouts, however, are vulnerable where the spout meets the cup and as such chip much more readily. In fact, it is harder to find BBs without superficial chips around the non-drip spout on the secondhand market.



Fig. 67. Classic Samian ALB BB teapot upturned. The spout never extends higher than the top collar of the bowl. Image by Geof Howe.

### The Locking Lid

To prevent the lid falling out of the pot while pouring, an ingenious solution was reached: the lid in the tilted pot slides forward into a groove in its collar, locking it in position. When the pot is restored to horizontal, the lid releases. A more discreet feature of this patented design enables pots to be stacked for storage by placing the lid upside down in the pot. To support this feature, the spout and the handle stay below the collar of the pot, which also means the pot can drain upside-down after washing (image above).



Fig. 68. Illustration of the lid sliding forward in the collar of an ALB BB, locking into a groove (illustration A). Detail from *Ceramic and Glass trade gazette*, 1953.

#### Bibliographic data: GB358746 (A) - 1931-10-15

★ In my patents list II! Report data error

Print

#### Improvements in teapots, coffee pots and like pouring vessels provided with loose lids or covers

Page bookmark	GB358746 (A) - Improvements in teapots, coffee pots and like pouring vessels provided with loose lids or covers			
Inventor(s):				
Applicant(s):	VICTOR GEORGE HARRIS ALCOCK; WALTER LINDLEY; WILLIAM BLOORE ±			
Classification:	- international: A47G19/14			
	- cooperative: A47G19/14			
Application number:	GB 19300032103 19301025			
Priority number(s):	GB19300032103 19301025			

#### Abstract of GB358746 (A)

Translate this text into	i		
Select language	\$	🛹 patenttranslate	powered by EPO and Google

358,746. Teapots &c. ALCOCK, V. G. H., LINDLEY, W., and BLOORE, W., (trading as ALCOCK, LINDLEY, & BLOORE), Raymond Street, Hanley, Stokeon-Trent. Oct. 25, 1930, No. 32103. [Class 66.] Teapots, coffee-pots, &c., of the kind provided with an extra flange extending approximately half - way around the upstanding flange of the mouth to prevent the loose lid falling off during pouring, have the extra flange in the form of a comparatively small bead or swelling f which is set back so as not to extend as far as the inner edge of the flange e which supports the lid d.

Fig. 69. (1930) ALB 'Locking lid 'international patent registration. [online]



Fig. 70. 'Little Brown Pot'. Royal Doulton Tableware Bulletin. Public relations department, c.1978-80.

The above image illustrates how useful the locking lid feature was for both the factory and the customer. This feature enabled ALB to invert the lid into the pot enabling the pots to be stacked together in huge quantities with the lids stored inside the body of the pot. Levien's writing on the teapot supports this theory: 'With the lid inverted, another pot of the same size stacks perfectly on top; not a feature of much use to the customer, but very useful for the manufacturer in production and warehousing and for the retailer in 'stack 'em high displays '(Levien, 1992: 96).



Fig. 71. Object accompanying *The handle* text panel: A detached loop shaped handle. Made by me using Staffordshire red clay and modelled from the profile of an original ALB teapot. Image by Geof Howe.

# The Handle

The handle of an ALB teapot is a functional and ergonomic shape. The generous loop positions the gripping hand for easy leverage of the pot – minimising strain on the wrist – when pouring. The return at the top of the loop prevents knuckles burning on the globe.



Fig. 72. Illustration of knuckles clearing the globe of an ALB BB. Detail from *Ceramic and Glass trade gazette*, 1953.

Across the sample of ALB teapots the shape and quality varies between handles. Often they are warped or unevenly applied. In these cases it is likely that the moulds didn't locate properly during the casting process or integrity was lost in the process of applying the fragile clay handles to the globe. This is evidence of a range of standards across the master moulds and brisk handling on the production line. The handle seems to have been less of an aesthetic than pragmatic concern. The CC BB teapot has lost the return on the handle, resulting in the knuckle coming closer to the hot body of the teapot in use.



Fig. 73. ALB BB showing variation in handle shapes; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.



Fig. 74. Object illustrating the red clay and Rockingham glaze: Extrusion, taken from the production line at Valentines Clays and dipped in Rockingham glaze. Image by Geof Howe.


Fig. 75. Objects accompanying *The glaze* text panel: Extrusion of Staffordshire red clay dipped in Rockingham glaze. Transparent and Rockingham glazed ALB teapots. Image by Geof Howe.

# The Glaze

An ALB Brown Betty would be glazed in either the rich brown Rockingham glaze, or a transparent glaze that reveals the natural colour of the clay. Both have the advantage of masking any tea stains on the teapot. If the glaze were chipped, the red colour of the clay would be revealed – favourable to a contrasting clay – allowing a characteristic patina to lengthen the life of the pot.

It is Levien who has speculated on the camouflage-like combination of redware, glaze and tea: 'the red clay and Rockingham glaze make the inevitable tea stains and small chips almost invisible. If the patina of use could be seen on these teapots, most of them would probably be dumped within days '(1992:76). The glaze masks wear and tear of use but even before that its function is to mask any number of imperfections in the process, from moulding to glazing.

# **Masking imperfections**

Looking at and handling the teapots, I was surprised to learn the variety and extent of production imperfections of the teapots. It is evident that Rockingham, dense and opaque, conceals some surface imperfections, whereas Samian, light and transparent, shows them. Generally, however, imperfections are evident in both versions and the glazes have a bearing on the visibility of wear and tear through use.

#### Pins

Generally, on closer inspection of the sample there are bumps at three points on the base (Fig. 76). These are where the pot would be sat on small pins during the firing. The pins ensure that the foot ring can be entirely glazed. After firing, the pins are snapped off and given a light sanding to remove any sharp edges. If left unglazed, water would slowly leach into the exposed ceramic footring and watermarks would slowly bleed into the glaze. The finish quality of these pin points varies greatly between teapots – more or less visible according to whether Rockingham or Samian.



Fig. 76. ALB BBs, bumps remain on the base where firing pins have been snapped off; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

#### Drips, veins and stains

In Fig. 77 the handle has been applied with wet clay and not wiped. Likewise, veins show through the Samian glaze caused by pressing clay that is not wet enough. In parts of the lid the pressure applied has caused cracks large enough not to be covered fully by glaze. Fig. 77 also shows staining on the bowl where tea has passed through unglazed parts; over many years this can lead to further discolouration by salts bleeding out of the glazes.



Fig. 77. ALB BBs, various finishing imperfections; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

# Crazing

Samian teapots sometimes show 'crazing', where glaze applied doesn't 'fit 'the ceramic surface causing fine hairline cracks. This is a common issue in ceramics and can be caused by a number of variables including changes in the constitution of either the clay or glaze and the uneven application of glaze. It is much more difficult to spot crazing over a Rockingham glazed teapot because the deep brown colour hides the hairline cracks much more effectively.



Fig. 78. A Samian glazed BB base showing clear signs of crazing; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.



Fig. 79. A Rockingham glazed lid that is crazed on close inspection yet hidden almost perfectly by the depth of colour in the glaze; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.



Fig. 80. ALB BBs, discolouration is visible in the clay body which has occurred due to porosity in the glazed surface and is therefore visible due to clear (Samian) glaze finish; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

#### Seams

In Fig. 81 the strata is revealed around the circumference of the Samian globe where the maker has fettled away a seam line. This provides useful insight into production processes, indicating that a split mould was used to manufacture the globe shape.



Fig. 81. ALB BBs, visible seam lines on the body of the teapot reveal the split mould manufacture; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.



Fig. 82. ALB BBs, variations in precision of handle application, Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

In these illustrations above you can see how the handles are askew and the seam is better concealed by the Rockingham glaze. In the illustrations below you can see, dents, unfettled seam lines and inclusions are not completely concealed by the Rockingham glaze yet these pots left the factory. Again demonstrating aspects of the object that are less of an aesthetic than pragmatic concern.



Fig. 83. ALB BBs above, imperfections remain in the teapot, such as a seam line on the finial of the lid and cracking on the internal surface (top and bottom left) and dents, flecks and inclusions of clay in the body of the pot (top and bottom right); Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Below you can see how effective the Rockingham glaze can be in concealing these defects. These two images are of the same pot. Note in the left hand image between both tabs of the handle and just to the right. This large defect occurred before glazing and is almost completely concealed unless held under direct light as demonstrated in the image on the right.



Fig. 84. The same teapot is photographed here at a different angle of light; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

# **Briskness of Handling**

A lack of preciousness towards production of the BB is expressed by these imperfections (see Fig. 83). These all point to a low value object with the primary concern being functionality. As with Button's ceramics, the brisk handling of materials demonstrates a lack of self-consciousness. Quality control is not a rigorous process; the threshold for rejection is evidently high. This is in stark contrast to contemporary standards of production where even tiny blemishes are rejected. Each BB teapot has singular qualities that nonetheless are not about authorship, rather production volume and pressure.



Fig. 85. An arrangement I made to reflect the idea of evolution of the BB Teapot; Photo. Geof Howe.

#### **Back stamps**



Fig. 86. ALB BBs, variations in back stamp variations; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

Across the different versions of the BBs there are a number of different backstamps used. Backstamps do not contain dating information and I have not been able to periodise them according to backstamp type. However, there are some observable differences. Backstamps of 'Specials 'tend to be atypical and include the word 'patented'. Samian teapots always feature a black motif, while Rockingham always have a cream motif. This is to create contrast and legibility. Backstamps tend to be 'bomb printed – 'a technique that uses a rubber blob for application. The blob picks up the image from an etching plate and then stamps the back of the unglazed pot, transferring the ink onto the base. The pot is then glazed. However, several of the "specials" teapots that I collected appear to have hand-painted elements such as patent numbers.

The only other identificatory markings that appear are embossed on the lid. Typically, this reads 'Made in England 'alongside a serial number. The detail of the emboss indicates that the lid is pressed, perhaps by a ram press or Jigger or jolly. Ascot marketing material from the archive of Cauldon Ceramics (Fig. 96), described these 'heavy pressed 'lids as a 'key product feature'. The serial numbers do not appear to correspond to patents and I suspect that they may be, instead, a tooling number.



Fig. 87. ALB 'Heavy pressed lid'; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.



Fig. 88. Non-drip spout version with a yellow band Samian glaze (shown in the advertising poster, Fig. 65); Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.



Fig. 89. This is similar to the yellow band Samian glaze version shown in Fig. 88; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.



Fig. 90. BB with a metal spout and an angled handle; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.



Fig. 91. Non-drip spout version with a marbled glaze; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.



Fig. 92. Non-drip spout with a marbled glaze and a flat, recessed lid that allows another pot to stack directly on top as described by Levien in *Design Magazine*; Ian McIntyre collection photographed in studio.

#### Conclusion

As a product of evolution the Brown Betty's form and function have been refined over generations. It was this gradual process that resulted in a teapot that was modest in appearance yet perfect for the task in hand: brewing and pouring tea. By quietly performing its job so well it has endeared itself to generations.

There is a collectors 'club, run by Sheri Murphy-Hughes, in North America whose members live around the world. Today Cauldon Ceramics are exporting over 80% of product to North America and Japan, who seem to have a better understanding of its legacy than the UK.

"On a personal note I feel that the Brown Betty is a counterpoint to the seemingly unending barrage of new products being launched and discontinued daily in the design industry. I feel that this story reflects a dedication to a material, or a design, and the refinement of a process that has given rise to a classic, not because of nostalgia, but because it's the best at what it does". Ian McIntyre

#### 2.4 Findings of Taxonomy and Making-as-Research

While the BB is itself an archetypal teapot, there are a variety of small differences in the design features that make up its totality. From here, further analysis of the design elements of the pots was undertaken through moulding and re-making design elements of the originals in order to understand their characteristics and features. This describes a movement from the organisation of empirically observable knowledge to a tactile, embodied knowledge, accessed through craft. These 3D objects were displayed alongside the exhibition text at Vitsoe and constructed in my London studio from Staffordshire Etruria Marl – the same material that the early makers of BB teapots used and which CC still use today. These combined strategies – from literature research to tactile making-as-research – enabled me to identify – and discover – the defining features of ALB's BB teapot.

Through examination and iterative making I was able to identify unrecorded historical production processes and techniques. I followed seamlines revealed in the transparent (Samian) glazed pots to ascertain that the body of an ALB teapot was made in three parts. The globe was pressed in a two-part mould, before the handle and spout were applied. This enabled a potter to crudely punch a grid of holes into the globe before attaching the spout. The grid holds the tea-leaves in the globe when pouring. Tacit knowledge was essential to producing knowledge.

I initially started to mould the external surfaces of a selection of the teapots. However, I found that as the plaster sets it expands and compacts the ceramics, leading to cracking. In this process I broke a few of the originals from the sample. Through a laborious process I began to model the characteristic features by hand, starting with a block of plaster and a riffler tool. The necessity to work with a modeler soon became apparent. I was referred to Ed Bentley, a master model maker. I discuss making in more detail in Field 3.

# 2.5 Overview of Panel Discussion Event

During the Vitsoe exhibition Robin Levien, who has been a mentor in this research, gave a presentation on the characteristic design of the BB. Studio Levien is a product design company based in Southwark, London with over 50 years experience in industrial ceramics. Levien is a Royal Designer for Industry. He became fascinated by the BB, so he recalls, in the wake of the closure of ALB in 1979. 'I was given a project as a [young] designer... to keep it going, 'recalls Levien, 'so I got hold of a Brown Betty and started drawing it and drawing it was an amazing process of discovery '(see Appendix i). During his presentation, Levien applied Dieter Rams's 'ten principles for good design', written in 1970 against a backdrop of growing consumer culture. The Brown Betty satisfied all of the criteria.

For his presentation, Timothy d'Offay offered tastings of teas that would have been brewed at the various historic stages of the BB and its predecessors, thus extending the historic account into the realm of the senses, notably taste and smell.<sup>25</sup>

Present, too, was the clothes designer Margaret Howell and the directors of Labour and Wait, both now among the biggest UK retailers of the Staffordshire BB. In addition to representatives of the British Council, we were joined by the Director of CC, Shaikh. CC (established 2005) were at the time the last remaining manufacturer of the Staffordshire BB teapot.<sup>26</sup>

The Vitsoe panel discussion served as a means to connect potential stakeholders and generate interest in the research. It was also a way that I could demonstrate to Shaikh the value of his product by taking him out of CC offices into a leading design store. Shaikh participated in the panel discussion event.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> d'Offay owns Postcard Teas in Mayfair, London. He is Wedgwood's master tea brewer and has worked with the BBC, NHK and Fuji television on documentaries about tea.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Margaret Howell is a contemporary British clothing designer and a Royal Designer for Industry with shops in London, Paris and Tokyo with a £60million annual turnover. Labour and Wait offer a range of timeless and functional products for daily life. They have over 30 concessions in London and Japan.

# 2.6 Critical Engagement with the Vitsoe Exhibition

Although there is limited literature concerning the BB, response to the research conducted indicates that there is considerable interest. Initial research carried out for the Vitose exhibition has generated reviews (see, for example, Figs. 93–94 and the section 'Articles and Reviews of the Re-engineered Brown Betty') in specialist and mainstream publications, for example, *Disegno Journal, Crafts magazine, Cfile* ceramics journal, *Elle Decoration, House & Garden, World of Interiors* and *Pen.* The production of critical discourse has fed back in to inform my understanding of the BB teapot. The pot was written about by Vitsoe who described it as a completely familiar, rational design. American art critic Garth Clark in *Cfile* reviewed the exhibition, describing BB as a 'vindication of working class common sense '(Clark, 2016). The research also featured on the cover and in detail in *Disegno Journal* who took an interest in the global origins of the object (Lawrence, 2016). I authored an article in *Crafts*, in which I described the BB as an object of design evolution (McIntrye, 2016).





Fig. 93. Crafts, The magazine for contemporary craft, September/October 2016: 26/27.

# Disegno

The Quarterly Journal of Design #12 Autumn 2016

This issue includes: Interdisciplinary practice with Roksanda Ilinčić and David Adjaye; Iran's design community after the sanctions; OMA's Venetian department store; nine techniques for contemporary toasting; Italian Limes and the permutations of a glacial border within post-Schengen Europe; Studio Swine's expedition to the Amazonian model town of Henry Ford; the secrets of UNESCO's world heritage list; an ode to styrene by Raymond Queneau; and the forgotten history of the people's teapot.





# **Teapot Genealogy**

It is one of the most functional teapots ever designed, yet the British Brown Betty is an authorless object – one developed over time by countless makers. The designer Ian McIntyre's PhD is focused on the ongoing evolution of the Brown Betty, a process he discusses below.

The Brown Betty is the archetypal teapot. Its original design is purely rational, stripped of anything superfluous to its function and production methods. It has always been the cheapest teapot you can buy and became one of the most-manufactured in British history. Yet, because the Brown Betty is so utilitarian and disappears into the fabric of everyday life, its history is hard to trace.

One defining element of the Brown Betty is that it is formed out of Etruria marl, a red clay native to Staffordshire. The clay was originally used to make butter and milk pots but it had an incredibly low perceived value. Around 1693, however, the Dutch potters John Philip Elers and David Elers refined this clay, removing its impurities to make wares of a far superior technical and artistic standard. Soon after this, the Elers brothers began making teapots. At that point, tea was expensive - like gold dust so naturally teapots were expensive too. The Elers brothers sold their designs to the luxury London market and often imitated and competed with wares imported from China. This was a defining point in the history of red clay: the Elers brothers had completely flipped perceptions of the material. Today, the refinement of Etruria marl is seen as a key catalyst for the proliferation of industry in Stoke-on-Trent.

The design of the Brown Betty evolved over time at the hands of multiple makers and the fact that it is authorless partly explains why it hasn't been written into the history books in the same way as other objects. It works as an early example of opensource: it has been in the hands of multiple makers, each of whom has made their mark on the object. The Brown Betty is in a continual state of evolution and each evolution is attached to a different point in cultural history. So nobody knows who its first maker was, although Alcock, Lindley and Bloore was certainly the most innovative. The company started producing the Brown Betty in 1919, when tea had



An extrusion of Etruria marl clay about to be bagged up by Valentine Clays in Stoke-on-Trent. (Photograph Glen Stoker)

Dipped in Rockingham glaze, an eight-cup Brown Betty is left to dry. (Photograph Glen Stoker)

> A Brown Betty still soft in its open mould. (Photograph Ian McIntyre)

At Cauldon Ceramics, a teapot is fettled to remove rough edges before firing. (Photograph Glen Stoker)



190



The Brown Betty works as an example of opensource: it has been in the hands of multiple makers, each of whom made their mark.



Anatomy



Because the teapot is so utilitarian and disappears into the fabric of everyday life, its history is hard to trace.



192

dramatically dropped in price. Whereas the Elers brothers had designed for a high-end market, Alcock, Lindley and Bloore created an affordable, mass-market object: the people's teapot. It was cheap to produce, efficiently made and functional.

The Brown Betty's popularity is mainly due to it being the most functional teapot that you could buy – every detail had a functional consideration. One example is the spout. The Brown Betty had two different spouts: a classic design and the patented non-drip design. They were made in the same way and sold concurrently, so the variation was simply marketed as a refinement. The beautiful detail on the classic spout is that it has a slight roughness under its lip, which cuts the flow of water into a drip rather than a dribble. The non-drip design evolved this feature further such that the problem was eliminated.

The locking lid is further evidence of how the Brown Betty's design was almost exclusively led by function. The height of the pot's collar may look clumsy but it's there to allow an undercut, which manifests in a ridge that the lid slides into, preventing it from falling out. The lid also inverts, which is one of the reasons its manufacturers managed to make so many teapots: it made it possible to stack them in factories. The Brown Betty wasn't just designed to be efficient for the end consumer, it was efficient across the entire approach.

Shifting cultural norms, such as the decline in loose-leaf-tea consumption, have also dictated the evolution of the design. The original teapot featured a grid that was pierced into its body to stop loose-leaf tea flowing out of the spout. But today the Brown Betty is made without the grid, a result of the proliferation of teabags. Given the globular shape of the pot, the teabag would sometimes slip up and block the flow of tea through that grid. So there is this wider significance within the Brown Betty: it is a cultural object and not just a design object.

Today, most teapots are aesthetic judgments rather than being driven by functionality. Cauldon Ceramics, one of two remaining makers of the Brown Betty in Staffordshire, does little marketing and yet there is always demand. Approximately 80 per cent of what they produce is exported to America and Japan because the Brown Betty is seen as <image>

5 Rejected Brown Betty teapots gather dust beside the kiln at Cauldon Ceramics. (Photograph Ian McIntyre)

6 Cauldon Ceramics in Stoke-on-Trent still produces the Brown Betty. (Photograph Glen Stoker)

7 An Alcock, Lindley and Bloore advertisement in the Pottery Gazette, April 1953.

8 The artist and set designer Leslie Hurry reflected in the glaze of a Brown Betty teapot. (Photograph courtesy of the Lee Miller Archives)



Anatomy

quintessentially British. There is a hazy line where the Brown Betty has shifted from being an icon of pioneering innovation to a symbol of heritage and nostalgia. This is something of a burden because there's a balance to strike between the familiar aesthetics of the teapot, the history of its evolution and the fact that its underlying success was essentially due to its cheapness and functionality. As the Brown Betty's history is vague, there is nothing to say what defines a fake. Our nostalgia for the design is what allows it to remain relevant: it is this that demands the Brown Betty should be made in Staffordshire and which dictates why an imported model is not authentic. There are highly regarded design shops selling teapots made of white clay and shipped from east Asia as "the original Brown Betty". But to my mind, because of the history of red clay, they cannot be the real article.

My project involves creating a new evolution of the Brown Betty that acknowledges this history. I'm designing around Cauldon Ceramics' skill set while trying to understand the constraints of the cultural idea of what the Brown Betty is. The last thing I want to do is create a design-led object that alienates traditional consumers. It is about taking the DNA from past iterations and translating that into a product that works today. The project hinges on the idea that this pot is affordable, accessible and a great design, but I also want to elevate the perceived value of the object as well as that of the red clay. It's about articulating what makes it special.

Now that the UK has voted to leave the EU, the project feels a little inward-looking, but that's why it's important to tell the wider story of the Brown Betty: what makes it British is not actually British. The pot evolved from the work of two Dutch brothers who moved from Germany to Staffordshire to refine a British clay that they were trying to use to emulate teapots produced in China. END

Based on an interview by Anya Lawrence.



9



9 Ian McIntyre opening a new mould for a two-cup Brown Betty.

10 The same teapot before being fettled and fired. (Photographs courtesy of Ian McIntyre)

194

Fig. 94 Disegno Journal, The Quarterly Journal of Design #12, Autumn 2016: 190-194.

Around this time *Designo* published 'Teapot genealogy', based on an interview I gave to Anya Lawrence, that defined the BB as 'one of the most functional teapots ever designed '(2016). Summarising my findings presented at the Vitsoe exhibition, the article ended on a poignant reflection on Brexit. As a corrective to the potentially inwardlooking nature of the project, I noted that the pot, the most British of pots, in fact developed out of the work of the Dutch Elers brothers emulating Chinese redware.

# 2.7 Design Evolution and Patents

The traditional BB teapot is the archetypal teapot. As 'anonymous design', without a definitive author, but with many manufacturers, I have claimed that it is a product of deep design evolution. While I have pointed to historic originating precedents, it is not possible to locate a specific moment when the design characteristics of the archetypal BB were formalised. A slow process of evolution through continual iterative processes of minor changes occurs over a long duration. The final form of its archetypal 'teapotness 'has been arrived at by improvements – both inclusions and exclusions – determined by many contributing factors, not least functional optimisation.

The evolutionary analogy in design is rooted in the Darwinian idea of natural evolution and natural selection over extended periods of time. David Pye, writing on the role of evolution in design in the late seventies, noted that:

The best designs have always resulted from an evolutionary process, by making successive slight modifications over a long period of time, not through a feverish insistence on making frequent obvious changes for the sake of offering something which looks 'really new and different '(Pye, 1978: 52).

More recently, Artemis Yagou – cited at the opening of this chapter – has proposed a rethinking of design history from an evolutionary perspective to accommodate a wider, more collaborative conception of the nature and role of things broadly (2005). Some, however, such as Petroski and Mayr, have urged caution about the use of this evolutionary metaphor. As Petroski summarises in *The Evolution of Useful Things*:

Natural things arise out of random natural processes, made things come out of purposeful human activity. Such activity, manifested in psychological, economic, and other social and cultural factors, is what creates the milieu in which novelty appears among continuously evolving artifacts (Petroski, 1994 via archive.org). If designers intentionally select from memory and nature changes as a result of random mutation, then the evolutionary metaphor therefore suggests that design is a response to the given conditions that allows some variants to fail and others to succeed. Yagou affirms something similar:

The ideal of formal perfectibility is incompatible with a Darwinian evolutionary perspective because evolution brings about change and adaptation, but it does not necessarily lead to progress and it never leads to perfection (2005: 51–52).

Yagou couples the design evolution perspective with two complimentary challenges to design authorship – the 'anti-star approach 'and the 'Open Source 'model. The anti-star approach, a 'humbler, non-genius attitude', is akin to the 'anonymous designer', whose work is not elevated above the multidisciplinary design teams employed in realising products. 'Anonymous design 'has been understood as 'a corrective to the engagement with designer names, styles, and movements that are generally seen as an integral part of design culture '(Yagou, 2005: 56). Many standard everyday objects – indeed many 'super normal 'objects – have been produced by unknown creators and yet their endurance as standards of good design means they have value.<sup>27</sup>

Sigfried Giedion's celebrated work of 1948, *Mechanization Takes Command: A Contribution to an Anonymous History*, is a story of design told through the examination of 'humble things, things not usually granted earnest consideration, or at least not valued for their historical import '(3). These humble objects, taken together, have, so Giedion writes, 'shaken our mode of living to its very roots'. For Giedion it is not merely the 'explosions of history 'that are of interest but the '[t]he slow shaping of daily life 'by anonymous objects.

Giedion's notion of the slow development of humble things chimes with the BB, and more recently has, for example, informed designer Fabien Cappello's 'Objetos De Resistencia 'collection of anonymous design. Although not explicitly acknowledged, it is the 'humble object 'that animates the 'super normal'. Indeed, Rams 'principles of good design are concerned with longevity and quality.

Yagou's advocacy of 'Open Source 'can, too, I think, be applied to the BB. Open Source is a digitally-enabled process of creation that is collective, collaborative, and evolutionary. Open Source, mainly associated with software, sees many individuals collaborate to realise different projects. The central principle is that the software remains

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Earlier in this chapter I discussed the way manufacturers sometimes conceal suppliers. Typically this is to protect value in supply chains. Clearly a lack of attribution denies design authorship.

free. No one owns it. As Yagou writes, in the case of Open Source we see a new mode of production termed 'commons-based peer-production 'to distinguish it from property and contract-based models of corporates and markets (2005: 57). The BB, in being an 'anonymous design', rooted in place, free of design ownership, evolved among many makers over long durations, is akin to Open Source. It has been in the hands of multiple makers, each of whom made their mark.

There is an historic understanding – emerging with industrial capitalism – that the patenting of design features stops the continuing evolution of a product. The licensing of intellectual property rights inhibits development of a product. Petroski paraphrases Isambard Kingdom Brunel who gave evidence to the House of Lords on the Patent Laws 1851 to this effect:

'really good improvements are not the result of inspiration, 'but 'more or less the results of an observing mind, brought to bear upon circumstances as they arise, 'he believed that 'most good things are being thought of by many persons at the same time. 'The patent system obstructs real progress, according to Brunel, because when someone 'thinks he has invented something, he immediately dreams of a patent, and of a fortune to be made by it.'(Petroski, 1994 via archive.org)

Brunel goes on to acknowledge that the poor man has more to lose than the rich man who may not hedge their fortune on innovation. Prior to patents, designers operated secretively, employing devices to thwart industrial espionage (see Field 1). These complex questions of ownership and authorship are useful to remember because despite the archetypal quality of the BB, contemporary versions being made today, are devolved. It is this devolution that opens the space for innovation, even if that means revisiting historic patents, such as ALB's lock-lid and non-drip spout. There is a certain irony here: the contemporary development of the teapot requires the purchase of historic patents long out of production.

It is precisely because the patent protection had expired that I was able to use and develop these features. Historically, the absence of intellectual property around the BB is what has permitted its multitude of variations and is what permits me to proceed with my design interventions. The taxonomy and exhibition at Vitsoe compresses and schematises a long evolutionary design duration to inform these interventions which, although not drastic, might seem revolutionary on the teapot's own terms. I find myself returning to Jasper Morrison on the Super Normal:

Super normal refers to the normal – in the sense of adopting a familiar form and aesthetic – without being 'normal 'itself and merely availing itself of traditional shapes, materials or production techniques. It is precisely the conscious distance the Super Normal object maintains from its precursors that can become a subtle signal (2007: 9).

In re-engineering the BB teapot it was imperative that I did not appropriate the accumulated labour of previous anonymous designers under my own name as an authorial 'star 'designer.

# 2.8 Lineage of Brown Betty

I believe that CCs 'BB can, in fact, be tracked back to the manufacturer ALB. After Royal Doulton liquidated ALB in 1979, the version passed through at least three manufacturers, including Gem Pottery, Ascot Pottery and Caledonia Pottery, before ending up under the ownership of CC. This has been ascertained through correspondence and marketing material found in the archives of Studio Levien and CC (below).

It is evident in Levien's letter to the editor of *Design Magazine* in 1992 (Fig. 32) and the corresponding advertisement from Gem pottery marketing material (Fig. 32) that at this date ALB's version is still being made. Marketing material from the manufacturer Ascot Pottery found in CCs 'archive (Fig. 95) also details a number of distinctive features of ALB's teapot including 'Jollied production', 'Full strainer grid 'and 'heavy pressed lid'. It can therefore be assumed that Ascot's version also retained the same design features. This pottery could be the other 'small pottery 'that Levien mentions in his letter.

# Ascot Pottery Ltd.

Manufacturers of Traditional English "Brown Betty" Teapots

#### 1 Lytton Street, Stoke-on-Trent, Staffs. ST4 2AG, England Telephone: (0782) 746010 Fax: (0782) 746040

#### WHOLESALE PRICE LIST

Trade Size	Capacity			Price Each	
	Pints	Litres	Cup size	Rockingham	Banded
24's	3	1.7	8 cup	£2.56	£2.75
36's	2	1.2	6 cup	£2.20	£2.37
42's	1.5	0.8	4 cup	£1.98	£2.13
54's	0.8	0.5	* 2 cup	£1.60	£1.72

- 1. The above prices are inclusive of packing & delivery in printed cartons of 6 teapots per carton per size.
- 2. Minimum order of 48 cartons of assorted teapots.
- 3. Separate Quotes can be given for smaller quantities.
- 4. Terms of payment; strictly 28 days from date of invoice.
- 5. Delivery : four to six weeks, unless agreed otherwise.

# **Key Product Features**

- A, ORIGINAL TERRACOTTA PRODUCTION "BROWN BETTY" TEAPOTS.
- B, "JOLLIED" PRODUCTION OF TEAPOT BODY.
- C, HIGH DENSITY BROWN ROCKINGHAM GLAZE.
- D, THERMAL HEAT RETENTION.
- E, FULL STRAINER GRID.
- F, HEAVY PRESSED TEAPOT LID.
- G, A UNION JACK LABEL & SWING TICKET WITH HISTORY & ORIGIN OF TEAPOT IS INCLUDED.

Fig. 95. Ascot Pottery. Wholesale price list from the archive of CC.



Fig. 96. Caledonia Pottery Original BB Range (c. 1992–2004); Marketing material from the archive of CC.

Shaikh, before becoming Managing Director of CC 2005–2017, worked for Ascot pottery until its closure. Following this he founded Caledonia Pottery where he transferred the production of the BB teapot and a number of other Ascot products. In 2004 Shaikh sold Caledonia Pottery and founded CC in 2005 to exclusively manufacture BB teapots and accessories.

At this point CC was the last remaining maker of BB teapots made from Staffordshire Etruria Marl. However, it is evident from CCs 'version that at an unknown point between 1992 and 2004, some of the design features and manufacturing processes of ALB's design changed. Within this period contemporary makers of ALB's version, including CC, sought to preserve the aesthetics of the design while many of the functional details and manufacturing innovations developed by ALB were lost.

The devolution of design can be affected by many complex contributing factors. My conviction is that the liquidations of Doulton allowed a centuries-old manufacturing process and knowledge-base to be lost. This destructive loss of knowledge linked to place is recounted in Christopher Alexander's book *Notes on the Synthesis of Form* (1973) in which he observes that 'We can often recognize the correct "Bad Fit" of a form to its context, but we usually cannot describe the rules by which we find a fit bad or recognize the corrected form to be good.' 'Traditional artifacts, 'he continues, 'evolve culturally through successive detections and corrections of bad fit until the resulting forms are good.'

Alexander gives the example of generations of Slovakian artisans who made shawls woven of yarns which had been dipped in homemade dyes. When synthetic Aniline dyes were made available to the artisans the glory of the shawls was spoiled:

The shawl makers had no innate ability to make good shawls, but were simply able, as many of us are, to recognize bad shawls and their own mistakes. Over the generations, whenever a bad shawl was made, it was recognized as such, and therefore not repeated. The introduction of Aniline dyes disrupted the cultural process of design, for the shawl makers could not produce wholly new designs of high quality; they could only recognize "Bad Fit" within a familiar pattern (1973: 53). My argument is that the BB has gone through an analogous process. As the manufacturing processes of the BB have opened up to globalised systems and processes, innovation has stilted. In fact, there has been a functional deterioration of the product that cannot be recognised as 'bad fit'. When I first visited the mould room at CC, it was evident to me that poor master objects and badly set moulds were constraining the craftspeople and making the objects appear badly made.

# 2.9 The Case for Revitalisation

The form and function of the BB teapot has been refined over generations. However, the name BB is a relatively new invention which originated, as I have shown in Field 1, with Royal Doulton marketing material. There is no single definitive version and this is why its history is hard to trace. It is also what makes the object so special. The BB may also be considered an early example of open source design: over the years it has been in the hands of countless makers, each of whom have made their own mark on the object. It is the product of evolution rather than the authorship of any single designer. This type of evolution has resulted in a completely familiar, rational design, modest in appearance yet perfect for the task in hand: brewing and pouring tea.

This is, undoubtedly, the reason for its invisibility. Jasper Morrison, reflecting on the super normal, notes that those man-made objects in our lives and homes that 'perform their true purpose without any glitches in functionality or the need for constant intervention tend to be the ones we rarely notice.' When things work well, Morrison concludes, 'we generally take them for granted '(2007, 28). A recent implementation of this principle in Morrison's design is the Evo-C chair.

Although redware teapots made in Staffordshire were originally costly, during the nineteenth century the BB became an accessible and affordable utensil for the mass market and thus became synonymous with the working class. In a review of the Vitsoe exhibition, Garth Clark, slightly romantically, described the pot as a:

'working class icon 'and 'perhaps fancifully, as growing organically from the ubiquitous small brick worker's (sic) row houses in Stoke-on-Trent where, early on, weak tea was brewed from the costly but spent leaves passed down by their employers. In the homes of the wealthy the Betty would be downstairs for the staff, while bone-china teapots would be used upstairs" (2016).

The readily available Etruria Marl clay may have contributed to the BB's perceived low value status due to its ubiquity, which in turn reflected in its cost and use among a wide demographic.
My findings in Fields 1 & 2 highlight the relatively recent deterioration of the BB teapot and propose a case for the revitalization of both the object and the processes and practices surrounding its manufacture. The following outlines its fitness.

It falls within Twigger Holroyd's taxonomy of culturally significant designs, products, and practices outlined earlier in this thesis: it has social value, historical value and aesthetic value. The geological and geographical features of North Staffordshire conditioned the rise of the pottery industry in Stoke-on-Trent. The red clay – now known as Etruria marl – is attributed as a key component to the proliferation of industry in Staffordshire. CC is the oldest remaining maker of the pot in Stoke and still make their wares from the same seam of red clay that the Elers Brothers first refined in 1695. CC are a living link to 326 years of evolution: this manufacturer maintains some of the oldest traditions in the Staffordshire ceramics industry and in doing so contributes to the local identity of the area. The refinement of this clay and the design details of the BB by generations of subsequent makers in Staffordshire has shaped the character of this teapot. Because of this, I would argue that a BB that isn't made of Etruria Marl, cannot be deemed original.

This inconsistency enables teapots such as Price & Kensington's, which are imported from Thailand, made of white clay and coated with a brown imitation Rockingham glaze, to be marketed by leading authorities and retailers of tableware including David Mellor who describes it as 'The Original Brown Betty'. CC is currently trying to compete with the lower wholesale price of these imported products which is having a negative effect on the quality of the product.

Early makers – up to and including the manufacturer ALB – produced both highly functional and innovative versions. This position is supported by Clark who describes the pot as an example of 'proto-modernism '(2016). Following the closure of ALB in 1979 their version was produced by at least two different makers. Over this period many of the defining features including the patented 'lock-lid 'and the grid which stops loose leaf tea being poured out of the spout have been lost.

As a result of these lost features the lid of CCs 'version is less functional (as detailed in field 3), the spouts drip more easily and there is no loose-leaf strainer. At a point in this teapot's history, the manufacturing ecology and the cultural significance of the BB changed. As production processes moved on, contemporary makers, including CC sought to preserve the aesthetics of the BB in an attempt preserve the 'heritage 'of the object, rather than respond to the changing industrial constraints by producing new and innovative design solutions. Cost saving measures and lost knowledge have impacted on the quality and functionality of contemporary versions.

While increased scrutiny on carbon footprints and global supply chains have arguably created conditions conducive to localised production, cheaper overseas imports have forced CC to implement cost saving measures which in turn have lowered the quality and value of their product. Increases in labour costs and a declining workforce have seen the steady demise of craft knowledge and an inability to adapt to consumer markets. Refinement and innovation typified the rise of the Potteries 'in eighteenth and nineteenth century Staffordshire and the subsequent rise of giants like Wedgwood. Unfortunately, the current manifestation of the BB reflects a wider theme of stagnation and overreliance on heritage and nostalgia in the industry as detailed in Field 1.

The popularity of the BB can be attributed to the sheer quantity in which it has been produced and purchased. In 1926, the output of redware teapots in the pottery industry in Staffordshire was approximately half a million per week (Emery, 1926:43). In 1919, ALB owned three factories, one dedicated solely to redware teapot production. This particular factory, located in Hanley, was designed with a linear layout: materials entered at one end, passing through their constituent processes, before emerging as a finished product at the other end.

This system of so-called 'flow production 'was described by the *Staffordshire Evening Sentinel* in 1931 as 'up-to-the-minute' – 'an important development in the industry'. Aside from the development of production line optimisation, some of which the *Sentinel* claimed as the first of their kind in the UK, ALB also pioneered the form and function of their BB, which featured a number of innovative designs that that they patented, including the 'non-drip spout 'and the 'locking lid'.

In summary, the following four key points underpin the case for revitalising the BB:

- 1. A Brown Betty made in Staffordshire has cultural significance.
- 2. There is a lack of historical and contemporary understanding of the object and inconsistencies within the available literature.
- 3. The design details of the product itself have deteriorated over the last 40 years indicating that the Brown Betty has both evolved and deteriorated.
- 4. The cultural significance of the object is being lost in the design, manufacture and promotion of both the contemporary Staffordshire made versions and overseas imported versions.

## Field 3, Re-engineering: Or, how to redesign a classic

Field 3 consists of a reflexive account of the application of research findings and skills in a two-year industrial collaboration with CC (2017–2019) to re-engineer the BB teapot.

Within this chapter I will reflect on case studies of design-led practices that employ revitalisation strategies within traditional British-based ceramics manufacturing industries to propose, develop and evaluate further strategies used in my research. Field 3 also gives an account of the working methods and processes developed in the CC placement and at my own studio, working alone and within a team, to develop, produce and launch the RBB teapot at the BCB 2017 and the LDF 2018.

This is not just a story of producing an object. I also reflect on how, by implementing 'design thinking 'informed by research, I situated the RBB teapot through the creation of new literature and product packaging within both commercial and cultural contexts. Significantly, as well as brokering commercial stockists of the item for essential commercial success, it is significant that I have been able to generate intellectual discourse within craft and design criticism, academia and gallery/museums. This raises questions around the perceived cultural and historic values of the object in relation to production cost.

As successful as the research has been there have been challenges. The RBB product did not launch at the BCB in 2017; instead, I presented a rich, expanded installation display of my research. This was due to problems with the re-introduction of the nondrip spout. There were other complicating factors. During the lead-in to my placement at CC, in 2016, the director, Shaikh, died suddenly. In the wake of his death it was not clear who would, or indeed whether anyone would, take on the management of the factory. The future of the research seemed uncertain, and this uncertainty meant that I had to make quick strategic decisions in order for the product to launch. I will reflect upon these challenges later in this chapter.

# 3.1 Review of Design-led Revitalisation Strategies

A range of revitalisation strategies have been explored through primary and secondary research into the independent design practice of Queensberry Hunt, as well as in-house practices, such as the designer and manufacturer Emma Bridgewater and a localised outsourcing model of Emily Johnston at 1882 Ltd. Their approaches to, for example, collaboration and uses of remixing and reintroducing designs linked to traditional making practices inform my research. In turn, these approaches can be mapped onto a taxonomy of characteristic attributes of revitalization strategies outlined by Walker et al.:

Sustain Through Design – combine traditional making or use practice with new or reimagined design.

*Transpose Tradition* – take traditional design or making practice into a new context.

*Value of Place* – foreground the value of place and provenance.

*Production Processes* – employ appropriate and effective methods of making.

*Skills* – employ targeted approaches to embed and enhance skills (Walker et al., 2018: 343).

In addition to these characteristics, Walker et al. identify a series of interrelated conducive factors which promote and inform how design can reconnect traditions, values and beliefs with sustainable contemporary living:

(1) *Promotion* – spread awareness and appreciation via effective promotion, (2) *Enterprise* – employ effective business, organization, and finance models, (3) *Research and Education* – learn about traditions, meanings, and contemporary relevance (2018: 344).

I will elaborate on these characteristics and enabling factors in relation to this research and the case studies below.

Case Study 1: Queensberry Hunt



Fig. 97. From Left to right, John Horler, David Queensberry, Martin Hunt and Robin Levien. From the book Creativity and Industry, Susannah Walker, Published, Fourth Estate and Wordsearch Ltd, 1992.

Since forming at the RCA in 1966, Queensberry Hunt, a partnership between David Queensberry and Martin Hunt, later including Robin Levien and John Horler, have worked with leading British ceramics brands, including Wedgwood, Crown Staffordshire, Hornsea Pottery, Midwinter, and Royal Doulton, and globally with prestigious brands such as Rosenthal, Guizzini, and Thomas. Their products retail globally and were sold in large quantities in Habitat during the same period that Alcock, Lindley and Bloore Ltd.'s teapot was a bestseller for the retailer.

The publication of Susannah Walker's book *Creativity and Industry* accompanied the exhibition 'Creativity and Industry: 25 years of the Queensberry Hunt Design Group 'at the V&A in 1992.<sup>28</sup> I was given the book *Creativity and Industry* as a student by Levien – somewhat overlooked as a critical account of the practice. In light of my practice-based research, I recognise that Queensberry Hunt practiced 'revitalisation strategies ' years before it was identified and valued within academic discourse by Walker et al (2018).

Of particular relevance to my research are a number of factors: a deep interest in past techniques and the history of ceramics, including studio pottery techniques, as a part of a wider knowledge of all aspects of production; a willingness to remix, repackage and update traditional designs through innovative (and cost effective) techniques; and an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Queensberry Hunt subsequently exhibited at the V&A in 2012, an exhibition curated by Alun Graves.

insistence on the centering of craft. 'We introduce ceramic qualities that are in the province of the studio potter, 'Martin Hunt told Alun Graves in *Ceramic Review* in 2012, 'and try to bring these techniques struggling and screaming into industry, which I might say is really quite difficult '(38).

Susannah Walker believes that this detailed understanding of the industry is something that is vital to their approach. As knowledgeable designers, when dealing with large factories they shared an acute awareness of whether or not it would be possible to put a design into mass production (63). David Queensberry has talked about how their deep understanding means that they know what factories can and cannot, perhaps because they are unwilling, achieve in production.

As Graves, curator of the 2012 V&A exhibition, writes, Queensberry Hunt's practice spans a period of great change in the ceramic industry, from 1966 to the present. Not only did changing lifestyles demand new products, but Queensberry Hunt actively participated in the huge shift in ceramics production from the United Kingdom to East Asia, for which they have not been immune from criticism. As the critic Charles Holland claimed in a 1992 review of their exhibition at the V&A, their reasons for outsourcing were as much because of the unwillingness of the UK ceramics industry:

What a pity for the UK that this earning power could not have been channeled through our own ceramics industry in Stoke on Trent! Most of the group's work has been for companies overseas, despite their efforts to find willing partners among the traditional producers of Stoke (Holland, 1992).

This points to the conservatism of some traditional producers who are unwilling to innovate production processes in order to find new markets.

Queensberry Hunt has been a significant inspiration for my practice. There are many Queensberry Hunt products that speak to my research, for example, 'Trend 'tableware for Thomas Rosenthal. This best-selling line exemplifies a craft-based knowledge in industry. The surface quality across the forms were achieved by Levien hand modeling on the lathe. Fine ridges cut in the plaster models (see Fig. 98), when translated into ceramic, fill with glaze, creating a completely flat surface, a defining feature that could only have been achieved by a skilled maker with a deep understanding of the materiality of porcelain (see Fig. 99).



Fig. 98. 'Trend 'plaster models made by Robin Levien; Image courtesy of studio Levien.



Fig. 99. Queensberry Hunt, 'Trend 'for Thomas Rosenthal, 1983; Image courtesy of Studio Levien.

There are three Queensberry Hunt products in particular that speak to specific aspects of my research: candlestick holders and Ashtrays in collaboration with Doulton Insulators; identity development and shape design for Henry Watson Pottery; and craft practice exemplified in the Tournee teapot.



Fig. 100. Designs developed for Habitat – Ashtrays and stacking candlesticks produced by Doulton insulators. *Creativity and Industry*, p.48.

Based in Tamworth, Staffordshire, Doulton Insulators manufactured electric insulator components for power stations and overhead powerlines. In the seventies they approached Queensberry Hunt to help them diversify their production into domestic consumer objects. Components were produced in the Tamworth factory by turning clay blocks which were then fired for two to three days (Walker, 1992: 50). Based on this technique, using the tools available, Queensberry Hunt designed two very successful ranges of Victorian-style candlestick holders and ashtrays. Nowhere else in the industry had such items been produced using these techniques. Later, lamp bases were also produced. In a simple gesture of reframing, Queensberry Hunt elevated the perceived value of the process and aesthetics associated with electrical insulators – low objects – while finding new markets and contributing to the sustainability of specific skill sets developed within the industry.

In the 1960s, Queensberry Hunt developed ceramic items for Habitat that were produced by Henry Watson's Pottery, Suffolk – a family-run pottery established in the early nineteenth century. In the manner of the country potter, Henry Watson produced cheap redware vessels. However, by the end of the seventies, in an industry dominated by Wedgwood and Doulton, they faced financial difficulty. 'Their product was good, 'as Walker writes, 'but their prices made them uncompetitive '(Walker, 1992: 51).

Working with the then current owner Mike Watson, David Queensberry devised a scheme for firing and decorating their terracotta in one single process instead of two successive stages. This would be called the 'Suffolk Original 'range. As Walker

observes, 'A great deal of technical experimentation was required to get this into production, but once the technique was put into operation the savings made were significant '(Walker, 1992: 51).

Once this technique had been innovated, Queensberry Hunt set about designing a logo for the product derived from a 1911 Army and Navy Stores catalogue. Watson was at first sceptical: 'I thought it was crazy – it was really corny. I honestly didn't think it would bail us out of the problems that we were in. 'But as Walker writes, Queensberry Hunt's 'commercial antennae 'had anticipated exactly a demand of the period for nostalgic styles. Throughout the eighties the 'Original Suffolk 'sold so well in the UK and overseas that the company was, according to Walker, unable to produce any other ranges. This approach taps into strategies instrumentalising provenance and tradition (in this case nostalgia) characteristic of a key revitalisation strategy.



Fig. 101. Henry Watson's 'Original Suffolk range'; Image credit unknown.

Finally, I want to explore Queensberry Hunt's attitude to remixing traditional design as embodied by a detail – the 'Tournee 'handle used on products for Thomas and Rosenthal. The handle that twists along its length has a sculptural quality that Hunt ascribes to the importance of modelmaking; it is a form, he believes, that designers who are not modelmakers themselves would not put the effort into making (54). As Walker notes:

the partnerships 'technique of modelmaking comes originally from the ceramics industry, where moulds for new shapes have always been produced from models rather than technical drawings. Projects go directly from a model stage into mass production, and so modelmaking is still a skilled profession within the industry (1992: 54).

Design is so often led by conventions of form. As Hunt has observed, teacups are dimensionally similar anywhere (cited in Walker, 1992). If you redesign the teacup too drastically you risk alienating consumers. And so the role of the designer is of fine tuning to give design distinction. The Tournee, first produced in 1989, achieved by articulating twisted hexagon, square, circle and elliptical rods in silicon before making models, is, according to Rosenthal's design director, Henk Staal, 'different – but not too different. If a shape is too unadventurous or too distinctive it will fail. The handle twist gives distinction to a very understandable shape '(Walker, 1992: 60).



Fig. 102. Queensberry Hunt, 'Tournee', Thomas China, Germany, 1989. Creativity and Industry P.55 and P.60.

Queensberry Hunt have referred to this detail as the "'trick" – the distinctive touch which livens up a design... [I]ndeed the initial idea for Tournee came from precisely this intention of creating a modern design "with a twist "(Walker, 1992: 60). The twist or the trick is something that Robin Levien anecdotally talks about in the work of the designer Charles Eames, who said that he always liked to slip an ugly detail into his design to give distinction.

The design practice of Queensberry Hunt draws on historical techniques and narratives as part of a wider recognition of the value that this has within the context of industrial production. This is embodied in the ashtrays and candlesticks designed for Doulton which enabled the manufacturer to diversify their portfolio and market while embodying core skills and aesthetics traditionally associated with the history of the company. The Henry Watson project demonstrates entrepreneurial opportunism through the development of innovative techniques and cost effective designs to revitalise traditional methods of making while tapping into emotive narratives of provenance and tradition. The centering of craft skill and expertise as embodied in Tournee and, in fact, each of these examples enables Queensberry Hunt to produce design detailing that taps into specific and localised skillsets and narratives within the modelmaking, manufacturing or market positioning of their products.



### Case Study 2: 1882 Ltd, Stoke-on-Trent

Fig. 103. 1882 Ltd. Workshop; Photographer unknown.

Another key reference for my approach to working with industry is the design-driven ceramics brand 1882 Ltd, 'made with heart, 'reads its website, 'in Stoke-on-Trent '(1882 Ltd). Its relationship to the heart of the British ceramics industry, Stoke-on-Trent, is central: working with innovative designers and artists, the wealth of industrial techniques and craftsmanship present in the city is applied to the production of functional and non-functional artworks and tableware.

Although established in 2011 by father and daughter Emily Johnson and Christopher Johnson, the family's links to the city's ceramics industry dates back to 1882, when the Johnson Brothers first began producing ceramics. In 1968, the Wedgwood Group bought the family business (as they would later do with ALB) and made it a subsidiary. Christopher was employed as head of production, where he remained in post until retirement in 2002. Christopher Johnson was the fourth generation of Johnsons and followed his father '-an outstanding potter of his generation - 'into the manufacturing side of the business (Bertoli, Hole & Corner website, 2021).

After eight years working in television sales on the West Coast of America, Emily returned to the UK. She initially enrolled at the Inchbald school of design to study interior design where she developed a series of bone china lights that launched as the first 1882 Ltd at the London Design Festival 2011. 'I was inspired to start the company, ' she told the Crafts Council in an interview, 'because the pottery industry was moving overseas to China, Thailand and Sri Lanka '(*How Emily Johnson Became a Creative Director*, n.d.). Most recently she has moved her business into the Barlaston factory at Waterfords Wedgwood and set up a production facility called Number 6 employing 12 members of staff – where all new 1882 designs will be produced (Material Matters, n.d.). The heritage craft skills and knowledge required to produce 1882 Ltd's ceramics have been developed in the city over centuries: 'I believe passionately, 'she continues, 'that we have some of the best industrial craft skills in the world and that coupled with innovative design should mean that we have a strong story and incredible product to sell '(*How Emily Johnson Became a Creative Director*, n.d.).

Chris Johnson is clear about the impact that the consolidation and rationalisation of mainly family-run businesses in the 1950s and 1960s has had. It has had a 'profound (and negative) effect on the Potteries – including considerable cost reductions, low cost manufacturing from the Far East and dramatic changes in lifestyle '(Jarvis, n.d.). The British Potteries, he believes, contrary to popular belief, 'still have much to offer – if you have the right business model and connections'. A business model was key for my research too – I needed to tap into the heritage industry and traditional client bases for the object while appealing to a modern audience to raise its perceived value.

Emily Johnson's background in advertising is key in her astute awareness of changing business models and the importance of connections, relationships and communications. Emily goes as far to state that relationships are as important as design itself. 'I am the bridge/conduit/communicator, 'she has said, 'between the designer who we have asked to collaborate with us and the factories that produce their designs '(*How Emily Johnson Became a Creative Director*, n.d.). This is certainly something that I agree with. From early on in the research I have cultivated key relationships with Margaret Howell, Labour and Wait, and David Mellor.

Emily recognises the importance of clear communication between the local potters and the designers (some of whom have not worked with ceramics on an industrial scale before). The common thread of these creative collaborations, Emily has said, is the brand's craftspeople (Bertoli, 2021).

Although working with heritage manufacturers within the Potteries, 1882 Ltd occupies a distinctly more contemporary market position. Emily believes that factories in The Potteries have often not been as receptive to shifts in contemporary taste as they might have been (Material Matters, n.d.). What interests me about 1882 Ltd's model in relation to this research is a determination to draw out a wide breadth of culturally significant skills within the industry; collections are made through engaging small scale manufacturers and allowing the project to develop around their skillsets, enabling the company to work with the most appropriate manufacturer at any given time.

Emily Johnson states that, in fact, it is an industry of craftspeople and they work with different companies depending on the expertise needed. Although I believe there are issues around the sustainability of this model – essentially an outsourcing model that reduces the maker to supplier – a redeeming feature is an avowed passion for safeguarding skills. Emily's determination to draw out the heritage craft skills within the industry and support the industrial craftsperson by designing collections around specific skillsets can be seen as a key revitalisation strategy that overlaps with my collaboration with CC.

However, 1882 Ltd, unlike CC, can operate with a breadth of skills across the industry, enabling them to develop a portfolio of distinctly different designs and materials that spread the brand across a range of markets and activities. In my research I have had to identify the right designs for CC, taking into consideration a much more localised set of technical capabilities and aesthetic values linked to a single maker and its history. The principle of identifying the right objects for the right skillset at any given time remains the same.

### Case Study 3: Emma Bridgewater



Fig. 104. Bridgewater promotional image.

Today, Emma Bridgewater is perhaps the best-known ceramicist in the UK. Her colourful, homely, mismatched wares are seen as the embodiment of a kind of traditional, yet modern English quirkiness. Bridgewater is also celebrated as the embodiment of an entrepreneurial zeal that, as one recent article put it, is single-handedly responsible for reviving the British ceramics industry in Stoke-on-Trent (Hedges, 2019). Earlier in 2021, Bridgewater announced plans for a new expansive warehouse – its third in the city (Watson, 2021). Founded in 1985, today the company employs more than 350 staff and has an annual turnover of around £23.7 million (*Who is Emma Bridgewater? Everything you need to know*, n.d.).

Bridgewater started the company when she was trying to buy a gift for her mother. Unable to find it, she decided to produce it herself. Her model was her mother's kitchen: if it could find a place there then it was acceptable. Bridgewater arrived in Stoke-on-Trent to meet a manufacturer at the point when everyone else was leaving or outsourcing to China (TedEx, Bridgewater, 2017). Bridgewater recalls her astonishment and sadness at the mess that had been wrought on the historic ceramics industry and its wider community.

This entrepreneurialism, aligned with its conspicuous celebration of Britishness and family values, resonates with the nostalgia-tinged conservatism of middle England. The Union Jack Mug, for example, is a best seller. In 2019, Bridewater collaborated with the premium country-wear brand Barbour and at the time of the marriage of Prince Harry, Duke of Sussex and Meghan Markle a 'Free Spirits 'mug series went into production. It is English heritage, however much invented, as we've seen with CC, that has commercial and popular appeal in North America.



Fig. 105. Emma Bridgewater factory view.

Like 1882 Ltd. and Queensberry Hunt, Bridegwater recognised the breadth of skills, expertise and knowledge that were embodied by long-held traditions of manufacturing: 'The people of Stoke are the holders of this astonishing tradition, 'she has said (Bridgewater, 2017). Early on, Bridgewater established a working relationship with a small-scale manufacturer in Stoke-on-Trent. Being an outsider, not just to the town but to the industry itself, allowed Bridgewater to recognise the possibilities of manufacturing in the way that being an outsider has enabled me to recognise value within CC that perhaps they have not. When the small-scale factory that Bridgewater first used went into receivership five years later she and her partners purchased the business in order to retain the skills.

It is Bridgewater's recognition of tradition and willingness to remix and reintroduce designs linked to traditional making practices that shares a common methodology with my own research. In addition to litho decals, Bridgewater also produces a sponge-ware line that is a decorative technique first developed in the nineteenth century. At the time, the cut root of a natural sponge was used to create patterns on chinaware where today the factory uses synthetic sponges. The process is basic. Patterns produced in the studio are brought to the factory to be cut into the sponges by hand using a soldering iron. Craftspeople use the sponges to apply designs. Because the biscuit is so absorbent the design can only be applied in one application. Polka dot patterns use five different colours and therefore five different sponges. The Helibor range uses four sponges. While the Egg and Feather range is the most time consuming, employing six different colours and over a dozen sponges (Bridgewater Ltd, 2009).

The use of sponges is a technique that mediates between the skills of the studio potter – the presence of the hand, singularity of product – and industry – quantity and standardisation of production. Each Bridgewater decorator signs their work. The maker's mark gives the item authorial value. This is also reflected in the price of the item. As Bridgewater has explained, early on in the business people were shocked by her prices, approximately twice that of any other manufacturer in the industry. The item's markup was necessary to enable the business to continue, but it also signals, for Bridgewater, a sense of the immaterial value of the product. Throughout the 2008 economic recession Bridgewater believes that the company prospered because: 'When people feel insecure they do nesting. We come in with cosy stuff to make life nicer. When the economy roars people are bold enough to be minimal, which is not good for us '(Bridgewater Ltd, 2009).

I have identified the use of the sponge technique as a characteristic revitalisation strategy. Bridgewater has been successful in identifying where there is potential to elevate the perceived value of a technique by foregrounding the authorial value of the maker and the idea of uniqueness within industry.

#### **Summary of Case Studies**

The complicated relationship between industry, heritage, craft and place in Stoke-on-Trent provides a lens to view these issues as they arise in my research on the RBB. 1882 Ltd reminds us of the centrality of collaboration in the intersection of craft and industry. The model offers agility and a certain freedom in the ability to explore a wide range of aesthetics and markets, but continues a model in which the factory is reduced to supplier and the associated smaller margins and profitability that we have seen can be unsustainable in higher wage economies such as the UK. Perhaps this model will change now that 1882 Ltd has become a manufacturer in its own right.

Bridgewater began when Queensberry Hunt had already started outsourcing to East Asia. The practice moved away from working in Stoke-on-Trent as they developed closer relationships with European design-led manufacturers willing to embrace more modernist outlooks that, as Johnson has also pointed out, The Potteries seemed to overlook. The history of 1882 Ltd is also marked by the widespread transformations to the ceramics industry in Stoke-on-Trent but is a much more recent case study of a manufacturer who, while celebrating the city's heritage, refuses nostalgia. Through my research I have aimed to tread a fine line between celebrating modernism and using a more accurate form of nostalgia in order to appeal to the established markets and fixed parameters that I must work with in order for the project to be a success for CC.

## **Conclusions From Case Studies**

The design practice of Queensberry Hunt draws on historical techniques and narratives as part of a wider recognition of the value that this has within the context of industrial production. This is an approach that establishes and celebrates the singularity of cultural significance. The practice demonstrates an entrepreneurial opportunism through the development of innovative techniques and cost effective designs to revitalise traditional methods of making while tapping into emotive narratives of provenance and tradition. Their centering of craft skill and expertise taps into specific and localised skillsets.

Emily Johnson's work at 1882 Ltd makes clear the importance of agility to changing business models and connections, relationships and communications. Johnson goes as far to state that relationships are as important as design itself. Likewise, Johnson recognises the importance of clear communication between the local potters and the designers. Johnson's determination to draw out the heritage craft skills within the industry and support the industrial craftsperson by designing collections around specific skillsets can be seen as a key revitalisation strategy that overlaps with my collaboration with CC. Likewise, it is Bridgewater's recognition of tradition and willingness to remix and reintroduce designs linked to traditional making practices that shares a common methodology with my own research. Techniques and specific skillsets are used by Bridgewater to mediate between the individual crafts person and the standardisation of manufacture.

# 3.2 Organising the Placement / Making a Proposal

It became apparent very early on that it would be essential to develop a trusting working relationship with Shaikh, director of CC. At the point when I began production work on the RBB teapot I had known Shaikh for three years. I had carried out my initial field trip to the factory, as detailed in Field 1, back in 2015 and Shaikh had visited the exhibition at AirSpace Gallery. He was impressed, so he wrote to me in an email dated 3 December 2015, by the 'demonstration and the professional style 'of the show. It was evident that Shaikh had not understood the full value of his product in relation to its

deep history and meaning. My research contributed to a shift in Shaikh's perception of my research and the teapot.<sup>29</sup>



Fig. 106. Zamir Shaikh: Managing Director Cauldon Ceramics; Image courtesy Cauldon Ceramics.

I had met with Shaikh, accompanied by Barney Hare-Duke, then Director of the BCB Ltd, to request access and use of master moulds to cast details of CCs 'BB. Shaikh subsequently sent me Rockingham glaze, Etruria Marl clay, and items from his marketing archive, including product lists from Caledonian Pottery and Ascot Pottery. Through my research, detailed in Fields 1 and 2, and in developing the taxonomy, I established that there were a number of precedents missing from Cauldon's portfolio and that the likelihood was that they were part of the lineage of ALB. It was around this time, in September 2016, that I first proposed to Shaikh to redesign the BB teapot.

At the Vitsoe exhibition Shaikh participated in the panel discussion event, detailed in Field 2 and transcribed in the appendix. Subsequently, on 7 October 2016, he followed up by email to say that 'Vitsoe was absolute (sic) fantastic... Myself, I felt I was among my kind of people and I wish there was more time to get acquainted with them.' Two months passed in which I brokered meetings between the BCB, the British Council and ACE to secure funding and resources to re-engineer the BB.<sup>30</sup> I also confirmed pre-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Historically, Staffordshire ceramics industries have been reluctant to work with contemporary designers because, in my experience, their biggest market lies in producing traditional items, instead of short-run experimental items. The reluctance of Stoke manufacturers is evident in Charles Holland's review of Queensberry Hunt, earlier in this chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> To support the project Vicky Richardson, director of architecture, design and fashion at the British Council, who I had met at the Jerwood Makers Open exhibition in 2015, sought a notional order of one RBB for every British Council office in the world. This arrangement collapsed when Richardson left her post following organisational restructure. Subsequently it was Richardson who nominated the teapot for the 2018 Beazley Design of the Year award.

orders from premium retailers, including Labour and Wait and Margaret Howell. To commit to this in advance of seeing a design required tremendous groundwork and demonstrated their commitment to my project.

Shaikh and I shared email correspondence as press emerged around the Vitsoe exhibition.<sup>31</sup> Shaikh was delighted with the platform and updated image that this afforded CC. Around this time, in October, I was invited to the factory to discuss in more depth the working relationship. At this meeting CCs 'biggest buyer, Stephen Murray, entered the picture for the first time. Murray, who retails 'traditional English 'brands to the North American market, pointedly inserted himself between mine and Shaikh's negotiations. Murray had, as I understand it, expressed an interest in purchasing CC and, on reflection, I might have appeared as a threat. Shaikh, who was receptive to the research from the outset, had suggested to me that I might be exactly what CC needed to lead them into the twenty-first century.

Then, on 29 November 2016, in an ongoing email exchange with Shaikh about a potential opportunity to produce a film on the BB, his wife Christabel replied to inform me that her husband had suddenly and unexpectedly died. Only days later, 1 December 2016, I learnt that I had been awarded £10,000 ACE funding and £2,500 in-kind support from the BCB to realise the industrial collaboration. Ironically enough, as funding was secured for my BB project the future of CC was thrown into uncertainty. Shaikh and I had not yet formalised a working contract: this had only recently started to take shape. Verbally, CC had offered a cash investment and in-kind support calculated at £9,000 through the use of machinery, staff and facilities for the production of an initial limited edition run of one thousand units.

With funding in place, and in consultation with the BCB, I decided to continue with the research to develop prototypes and make the item production ready, with or without CC. In December 2016 I began re-engineering the BB teapot, constructing briefs for packaging, and contacting designers and modelmakers. I kept all the retailers who had expressed an interest in stocking the item – including Labour and Wait, Margaret Howell and David Mellor – informed of developments. I began to make models in my studio.

It was a sad and difficult circumstance in which to begin work. If Stephen Murray intended to purchase CC then I would find a way to work productively with him. However, if production were to cease at CC I considered the possibility of establishing a new site of production, either setting one up from scratch, or, at a push, approaching another manufacturer. Not only was there no other object that so clearly encapsulated my research, but at that point in the practice-based PhD there was simply not enough

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Detailed in Field 2.

time to establish a new relationship with another manufacturer, for example, Wedgwood. Early in the research process there had been an opportunity to work with Wedgwood which, however, I had declined because much of their production happens overseas: in working with CC I was trying to shift my practice away from a global outsourcing system. I had already carried out research and development work to understand the marketplace and potential for the RBB.

On 18 January 2017 I received an email from Murray to inform me that he had taken ownership of CC and to request a meeting. At this point I was a third of the way through the design and development process. Shaikh's death led to a re-negotiation of the terms of CCs 'involvement in the project. Murray, who began financially rationalising the business immediately, withdrew a cash investment in the research (in the wake of this I negotiated £5,000 funding from the *Design Roots* research fund). To continue with the research, Murray requested a fully-specced design brief. I set about building a new relationship with CC and determining how to navigate a potentially contrary viewpoint around branding and image. Murray's model appeared to be based on the resale value of Englishness to a North American market, whereas my research had led me to develop a more complex image.

## **Brief / Costings**

I was considering re-introducing two historic patented features discovered during my residency at AirSpace Gallery to establish a lineage to the ALB BB: the non-drip spout and the locking lid. While I remained uncertain about the aesthetic quality of the former for some time, as detailed below, I was certain the latter would feature in my version. The inclusion of certain design features was contingent upon costs and were also weighed up against one another for the distinctive, characteristic values they imbued the teapot.

Typically, as a designer who has worked with producers in East Asia, the relationship between design and a deep understanding of production methods (how something is going to be made) is not of primary concern. Prototyping is a typical part of the design process, but there are fewer opportunities for exchange between the modelmakers and the producers. However, at CC this interrelationship was unavoidable within the intimacy of the relationship and the limited economic means available.

After submitting my proposal to Murray, negotiation of the final product's costings required further exploration. A balance needed to be struck between reintroducing elements to the teapot, achieving production quality (increased labour) and the object remaining affordable. During the Vitsoe panel discussion Levien was unambiguous in his insistence that a key aspect of the BB's historic identity has been its affordability. As

a 'democratic object', it needed to remain as accessible as possible, without becoming an elite design object. However, during the conversation Timothy d'Offay expressed a contrary position, arguing that 'people should aspire to have a Brown Betty because it is a connection to the British tea culture '(see appendix i). Aspiration, in my view, is pointless if the item is prohibitively unaffordable.

As a broker for the product's placement in retail, I spoke with interested retailers to understand attitudes to price. Margaret Howell told me that their clients 'wouldn't blink ' at a retail price of £50. However, Labour and Wait, though sympathetic to the costs of British manufacture, felt strongly that it needed to be cheaper. These discussions took place during visits. Persuasive, in-person conversations were preferable to the impersonality of email.

By examining CCs 'wholesale prices I was able to identify that the most popular size – which I would redesign – was the four-cup teapot. This was a financial and strategic decision. If possible, I wanted to increase the profit margins for CC, while sustaining quality of design and production standards.

# 3.3 Craft Production on the Factory Floor

The CC factory is organised according to 'the factory system – 'a method of manufacturing that incorporates machinery alongside workers organised around a clear division of labour. Workers specialise in their specific area as part of this organisational system. This is a centuries-old system. According to the *Oxford Companion to the Romantic Age*, the factory system is often regarded as the archetypal symbol of Britain's industrial revolution (McCalman 2001). Developed for the mechanisation of textiles production, factories, as centralised locations of manufacturing, diverse in both scale and function, were common to many industries. Specifically, ALB developed 'flow production', as noted in Field 2, in 1931 where a single discrete unit of product flows from process to process.

Commentators contemporary to the early factory system, such as Charles Babbage, argued that it 'offered efficiency through intensive use of machinery and an extreme division of labour and skill', whereas critics, most notably Karl Marx, understood it to produce a 'miserable routine of endless drudgery and toil in which the same mechanical process is gone through over and over again '(*Economic Manuscripts: Capital Vol. I — Chapter Fifteen*, n.d.). Divided labour has important implications for the breadth of a worker's skill. The economist Adam Smith, writing in *The Wealth of Nations* (1776) contrasted the factory system with earlier craft production in which each craftsperson performed all the necessary operations to make the item, whereas in the factory system and flow production the unit of product is divided into distinct operations by as many

individual pairs of hands. In craft production labour was 'undivided '(Leijonhufvud, 1986: 207).

The transition from craft to factory production created new economies and divisions of labour, the individual producer being replaced by the team. This led, as the economic historian Axel Leijonhufvud notes, to the necessity of a standardisation of product within teams. 'Under crafts production, in contrast, 'he writes, 'the skills and care of individual artisans will be reflected in non-standard output '(1986: 209) This meant that serial production according to divisions of labour required coordination of activities 'in the sense of the time-phasing of the inputs of individual workers (Leijonhufvud, 1986: 209). Subsequently, the labour of individual workers became complementary inputs so that 'If one work-station on an assembly line is unmanned, total product goes to zero ' (Leijonhufvud, 1986: 209). One of the implications of the division of labour is that individual workers performing a specific task with a narrow skillset could be quickly replaced to ensure the continuation of the assembly line.

This brief summary of the transition of craft production into factory production is a useful context to frame my relationship as a craft ceramicist on placement within CC, still organised around a centuries-old manufacture system.<sup>32</sup> At CC there is only one person on each process in the factory: one person is responsible for fettling; one person is responsible for casting; another for moulds; and another person is responsible for quality control. It became apparent to me early on in my visits that, due to financial constraints, Shaikh understood very precisely the required daily production of units in order to keep the business afloat.

To understand the specialised nuances of processes in the manufacturing chain required that I spend time shadowing the necessary person at their work station. This was negotiated by my point-of-contact, factory manager Philip Pennell. Prior to me meeting the staff, Pennell was instrumental in relaying my project requirements. It was Pennell, too, who decided when I could shadow individuals – presumably mindful of the required numbers of units that day. For the production process to be successful it was essential that I had his cooperation.

# 3.4 The Studio and the Factory

Although I refer to a 'placement 'in industry, much of the early design, development and innovation of the RBB did not occur at CC. Instead, my studio in London became a primary site of work, with regular trips to the product developer Felix dePass's London studio and the modelmaker Ed Bentley's studio in Stoke-on-Trent (these roles are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Earlier still, we can link this to the economy of the country potter, and the persistence of Isaac Button.

detailed in the next subchapter). From the time I first worked with the moulds from CC during the AirSpace Gallery residency it was apparent that they were lacking in quality. Spending further time with the model and mould store at CC it quickly became apparent that I would need to employ a more skilled modelmaker. There was little consistency to the block and case moulds due to different jobbing modelmakers being brought in as and when necessary. CC do not have an in-house modelmaker; instead, they employ freelance model makers – often made redundant from large factories – and as with any craft-based occupation, skill sets can vary.

Bentley's studio was a place to test model, mouldmaking and production techniques once the design of the RBB had been reasoned out. Prior to production, visits to CC occurred in order to understand specialist processes (as detailed above), and to collect glazes, clay and existing casting slips from Pennel to be used in my studio. The majority of the shape development and functional testing of the design occurred at my studio. Between modeling in the studio, mouldmaking at Bentley's and sampling production in at CC we made numerous revisions to proportions, design details and functionality in order to refine the final object.



Fig. 107. Top, Ian McIntyre studio, image, Jake Curtis; Bottom, Cauldon Ceramics factory, image Gareth Gardner, both 2016. The comparison illustrates the differences in working environment between the designer-maker's studio and the industry factory.



Fig. 108. Ed Bentley in his Stoke-on-Trent Studio.

## 3.5 The Team

The realisation of the RBB employed not only the specialist knowledge of the CC team (albeit divided) as it interfaced with my own expertise and knowledge, but a complimentary extended multidisciplinary network of professionals, including a model maker, product developer, graphic designer, and industrial designer. Flow production in the factory system interfaces with an external team of specialist workers mediated by my role as an individual creative director, project manager, designer and craftsperson.

My role is not just that of maker, but coordinator and communicator with a synoptic overview of the situation. Importantly, part of this role is about interpreting, communicating and valuing the tacit knowledge of staff at CC (and sometimes reconciling the discrepancy found between their negative perception of the object and my own enthusiasm). Dr. Brownsword has insisted on the importance of acknowledging potentially 'overlooked forms of intelligence 'among artists still working in Stoke-on-Trent '(Brownsword, 2017: 6).

As a reflexive 'designer-practitioner-researcher 'I have the skills and expertise in the actions of the field to be able to undertake situated research within it, and take those insights back to the studio and my collaborators. As the research moved into production, I regularly discussed decisions with the workforce, factory manager Pennell, and Jane Dulson, who is responsible for customer-facing enquiries.

This model of collaborative working '-co-design – 'a sharing of resources – follows the changing role of the traditional individual designer as identified by the scholar Sarah Vaughan in *Practice-Based Design Research*: 'professional designers, 'she writes, 'should no longer automatically be in charge, with other participants merely offering support. 'In complex situations the aim 'should be rather to create a situation where all stakeholders have a role in the analytical and creative work as far as possible on equal terms, and sharing the responsibility '(Vaughan, 2019: 80).

Others, too, have recognised and raised the value of collaboration. Amanda Ravetz, Alice Kettle and Helen Felcey's *Collaboration through Craft* (Bloomsbury, 2017) argues that through collaboration boundaries of sociality are understood, offering up a space between certitude and risk, and in turn opening up knowledge held by the makers. Glenn Adamson has written in *Thinking Through Craft* (Berg Publishers, 2007) that in sharing resources craft is an active process of working towards broader understandings. Elizabeth B.N. Sanders and Pieter Jan Stappers make a useful distinction between 'co-design 'and 'co-creation', arguing that 'co-design is a specific instance of co-creation ' (2016: 42). For them, co-creation refers to 'any act of collective creativity, i.e. creativity that is shared by two or more people'. However, co-design indicates collective creativity 'as it is applied across the whole span of a design process':

Co-design refers, for some people, to the collective creativity of collaborating designers. We use co-design in a broader sense to refer to the creativity of designers and people not trained in design working together in the design development process (Sanders and Stappers, 2016: 42).

This inclusive sense of 'co-design 'encompasses the range of specialist and nonspecialist skills and knowledge gathered for this research. It also characterises the hybridised role of the designer necessary for the realisation of the RBB.

To produce the RBB I assembled a team (aside from the workers at CC) to provide specialist support. The extended team was as follows: Bentley, master modelmaker with over 25 years industrial ceramics experience at Wedgwood, Steelite and Dudson in Staffordshire. Ed supported the development of the master pattern for the edition. Michael Montgomery, multi-disciplinary graphic artist. I worked with Mike to devise the narrative and interpretation concept for the packaging of the new edition. Felix dePass, designer and product developer for international brands including HAY, Established & Sons and Joseph Joseph. Felix assisted with the technical development of the teapot, including the locking lid and the design of a metal loose-leaf tea infuser.

In assembling this team I also formalised my relationship with Robin Levien, Royal Designer for Industry as a mentor from whom I received invaluable feedback.



Fig. 109. Left to right: Robin Levien, Felix DePass, Mike Montgomery.

# 3.6 Design Innovation Details

In what follows I will provide a detailed written account, accompanied by drawings, diagrams and photographic illustrations, of the production processes for key design features introduced to the RBB. My own approach of drawing as a way to think through the object parallels Robin Levien's methodology of 'drawing-as-thinking '(see Appendix i), who recalled during the Vitsoe panel discussion how, as a young designer, he was tasked to redesign the BB following the closure of Royal Doulton: 'So I got hold of a Brown Betty and started drawing it and drawing it was an amazing process of discovery because I was finding out all sorts of things about it that I didn't know and which were really quite interesting '(Appendix i).

I had already produced many models and moulds of different versions of design details of BB teapots for the Vitsoe taxonomy. Now, at this stage, the project was about realising a master model incorporating key design details that could be put into production. As an object with a long design evolution, it was important for me to change the perception of it without drastically changing the object, so as not to alienate the consumer. This involved making a highly iterative series of models. I understand iterative drawing, modeling and making through Peter Jan Stappers 'framing of the prototype (see Methodologies) as being:

as much about failing and changing course as they are about demonstrating and proving. In that sense, they can be seen as research instruments, both for exploring new directions and for validating expectations (2013: 85).

Between iterative drawing, modeling and making there is a reciprocal relation that searches to understand and prove in the process of realising the final product.



Fig. 110. Iterative models, moulds and material tests laid out in my studio.

## The locking lid and the Infuser

At the Vitsoe panel discussion a conversation was raised regarding the intergenerational use of loose-leaf tea versus the use of teabags. It became evident that a loose-leaf tea facility would increase the perceived value of the pot and help bring the object into the 21st century. The inclusion of a punched grid in the body of my my RBB to prevent loose leaf tea escaping through the spout proved too expensive, requiring three-part assembly of the pressed teapot (made in the manner of ALB's teapot) in order to precision punch holes into the bowl, followed by the application of the spout. Ultimately, this meant that a separate infuser unit was required in order to keep production costs at a reasonable level. However, 'off the peg 'infusers proved expensive. I approached a designer in the UK who holds a patented infuser, 'The Chatsford Infuser', to lease a license. This infuser incorporates a recess to accommodate the notch of a teapot lid.



Fig. 111. A London teapot company white 4 cup teapot and the red Chatsford infuser.

The unit cost for licensing would have been £2.60, an amount Robin Levien felt would drastically begin to limit the affordability of the teapot. Subsequently, I designed an infuser and discussed with CC the possibility of sharing the cost of tooling to produce it. I sent this design to a metal spinner based in the UK who could form and punch holes into the container, the cost proved to be yet more expensive at £3.90.



Fig. 112. An early proposal for a spun and punched metal infuser to be made in the UK.

Finally, having tried various options, I concluded, somewhat reluctantly, it would be necessary to source production of the infuser overseas in a bid to keep the pot at a reasonable price point.

I had been aware of the existence of the locking lid, developed by ALB since my internship at Studio Levien in 2009. This patented design differs from typical notched locking lids in that when the pot is tilted, the lid slides forward into an undercut in the neck of the pot to prevent it falling out.

#### Bibliographic data: GB358746 (A) - 1931-10-15

★ In my patents list II! Report data error

Print

#### Improvements in teapots, coffee pots and like pouring vessels provided with loose lids or covers

Page bookmark	GB358746 (A) - Improvements in teapots, coffee pots and like pouring vessels provided with loose lids or covers			
Inventor(s):				
Applicant(s):	VICTOR GEORGE HARRIS ALCOCK; WALTER LINDLEY; WILLIAM BLOORE ±			
Classification:	- international: A47G19/14			
	- cooperative: A47G19/14			
Application number:	GB 19300032103 19301025			
Priority number(s):	GB19300032103 19301025			

#### Abstract of GB358746 (A)

Translate this text into	i		
Select language	\$	🛹 patenttranslate	powered by EPO and Google

358,746. Teapots &c. ALCOCK, V. G. H., LINDLEY, W., and BLOORE, W., (trading as ALCOCK, LINDLEY, & BLOORE), Raymond Street, Hanley, Stokeon-Trent. Oct. 25, 1930, No. 32103. [Class 66.] Teapots, coffee-pots, &c., of the kind provided with an extra flange extending approximately half - way around the upstanding flange of the mouth to prevent the loose lid falling off during pouring, have the extra flange in the form of a comparatively small bead or swelling f which is set back so as not to extend as far as the inner edge of the flange e which supports the lid d.

Fig. 113. Patent registration for ALB's locking lid design.

I had steered clear of considering this detail because I knew there would be a number of mould-making and casting issues to overcome and that its inclusion could potentially constrain my ability to explore new aesthetics in form that might make the object feel more contemporary. However, it gradually became evident that in re-visiting this patent I would solve a number of cost issues while significantly improving the functionality of the object. Aside from preventing the lid tipping off the teapot, the design also enables the lid to be inverted to allow the teapot to be stacked and for an 'off the peg 'infuser to be incorporated.



Fig. 114. Technical drawing of the stacking facility achieved by re-introducing the locking lid feature, used to propose the re-introduction of the patent to CC.



Fig. 115. RBB nesting detail; Image Angela Moore.

This development simplified the design of the infuser significantly as it didn't need to have a notch cut into its side. I was able to locate the production of the infuser in East Asia – a compromise to keep the pot at a reasonable retail price point. Using Qinhong Plastic and Metal Factory in Dongguan City, China, the infuser, including shipping, packaging and taxes, totalled US\$1.15 (£0.93) based on 500 units. This was the only aspect of the design that required outsourcing and in being cost effective helped counter the increased cost of labour – additional time in meeting my exacting standards on the factory floor.



Fig. 116. Technical drawing of a low cost stainless steel mesh infuser sourced from Qinhong Plastic and Metal Factory in Dongguan City, China.

With careful consideration of the depth of the lid, the infuser foot and collar of the teapot we were able to produce a design that could be inverted so the RBB and its components could be stacked together. The immediate benefits of this are two-fold: in the factory the items can be stacked efficiently prior to packaging; in cafes the teapot could be stacked neatly. The potential for large-scale sales to cafes seemed to me to be a missed opportunity by CC. Large quantities could be sold directly from the warehouse at the registered retail price.



Fig. 117. RBBs stacked in a catering scenario; Image Angela Moore.

Sourcing a cost-effective infuser helped set the constraints for the design details of the locking lid mechanism. Historical ALB teapots had been produced by pressing the globe on a jigger jolly machine, allowing a ridge for the locking lid to be formed in the neck of the pot, but the established manufacturing method of slip-casting at CC would make this detail harder to achieve. It was not immediately apparent how it could be recovered using slip casting moulds. Together with Felix de Pass we developed and tested a 3D model of the body and neck of the pot using the programme Solidworks to test the principal of the locking lid virtually. Once we were convinced that it could work we supplied Ed with a milled prototype of the body of the pot in order to realise a mould; I decided to avoid fine edges and design details that would become lost in the Rockingham glaze or damaged as the moulds are disassembled in CC.



Fig. 118. Technical drawing of the re-engineered locking lid detail demonstrating how a low cost infuser could be incorporated into the design.



Fig. 119. CAD drawing of globe shape and lock lid detail used to test the principal of the locking lid and later to be printed and taken to Ed Bentley in order to explore if the shape could be feasibly moulded.
We knew that it would be difficult to create the undercut (detail C) in the pot's collar to prevent both the lid and infuser from dropping off the pot when tilted. Working with Ed, we made a significant innovation to develop a 'loose lump'. This moulding detail is repurposed from the sanitation ceramics industry where a moving part of the mould slides in and out to form the ridge. When the mould, made of five parts, is assembled and filled with slip, an undercut is created in the form which is vulnerable to being knocked off as the mould is disassembled. As the clay begins to dry and pull away from the wall of the mould, the loose part of the mould can be slid out of the neck of the pot and away from the undercut allowing the ridge to be preserved. Although no different in appearance or functionality to the ALB pot, this innovative technique enables an important characteristic function to be reintroduced using CCs 'favoured manufacturing technique of slip casting while enabling the inclusion of a low cost steel mesh infuser.



Fig. 120. The loose lump moulding detail that myself and Ed Bentley developed in his workshop. The small part slides out along the two ridges preserving the clay ridge before the main body of the mould is split in two.



Fig. 121. A cross section of the globe, neck and locking lid detail with nesting infuser and lid; Photo Angela Moore.



Fig. 122. RBB teapot in use; Photo Angela Moore.

# **Non-Drip Spout**

It was during the AirSpace Gallery residency that I discovered the existence of the nondrip spout on versions of ALB's BB. This was absent from CCs 'portfolio of products.

My research led me to understand that this obsolete detail was an innovation of ALB. – confirmed when I sourced the original 1931 patent (see Fig. 69). Its purpose, as detailed in Field 2, is to allow a straight pour which is stopped, as if a tap, when returned to its horizontal position. The discovery of this historic obsolete feature first reassured me of the validity of the project to re-engineer the BB.



Fig. 123. Modeling and moulding both the non drip and classic spout at Ed Bentley's studio.



Fig. 124. First casts from the completed handles, globe with locking lid detail and both non-drip and classic spout. Cast in my studio from Etruria Marl clay in moulds made with Ed Bentley.

While initially I pursued the development of both a conventional shaped spout and a non-drip spout, I began to gravitate towards the latter for the following reasons. ALB's BBs featuring the non-drip spout are scarce on the secondhand market. Aside from its brilliant functionality, aesthetically the non-drip spout is what Queensberry Hunt calls 'the twist'. Or Levien, citing Eames, the 'ugly 'feature. Levien, as he revealed in the Vitsoe panel discussion, had never seen the non-drip design before and felt that, aside from its distinctiveness, which I knew would polarise consumers, the recovery of this lost feature was valuable in its own right. Whether ugly or not (a matter of taste), the inclusion of the non-drip spout enabled an important discussion about optimal functionality. As an historical cue it also pointed to the innovative – modernist form – phase of the object that I wanted to recover. It could also act as a totem to build a narrative around its reintroduction, which would sell the story. Finally, if I had used the conventional BB.

Engineering the non-drip spout was the reason the finished item was not launched at the BCB in 2017. This was the most intensive part of the research, and it took ten months to resolve. The patent is notional and protects the design, but does not detail specifically how it works: something that was once routinely produced in the factories of Stoke-on-Trent took a tremendous effort to recover having been lost.

In total, I produced in excess of thirty different iterations before resolving the design of the non-drip spout. This process involved correspondence between the modelmaker, Bentley, iterative versions in my studio, and in-depth conversations with craftspeople on Cauldon's factory floor. I also benefited from consultation with Levien – particularly when the non-drip spout did not function as expected.

After the initial model had been produced I took it back to the studio to remodel and remould it a further five times. If it was not the shape of the spout that cut off drips, then perhaps, we deduced, it could be the thickness of the slip-cast walls. Perhaps there was a difference between the thickness of the body and the thickness of the spout? We changed the aperture size and made the spout thinner. We experimented with a shallower and steeper curve in the spouts profile, nothing seemed to work. Finally, we considered whether the bowl at the bottom of the spout affected water flow. Still, we were unable to identify the solution.

We were able to achieve the effect of the tap, but there would always be a slight dribble that ran down the outside of the spout, and onto the table. At Levien's studio we took it in turn to use my prototype alongside an original ALB non-drip pot and observe closely. Looking into the spout of my prototype after pouring, Levien observed a meniscus

formed across the aperture of the spout as the pot was tilted back. A dribble followed when the meniscus popped. We agreed that the size and shape of the aperture may cause a meniscus to form. I returned to the studio buoyant and began testing a range of different aperture shapes but had little luck over the next month. Finally, talking with Levien, we realised that the fettling<sup>33</sup> of the aperture of the spout needed to finish with a pointed edge to prevent the meniscus forming. This development enabled me to resolve the issue and ultimately re-introduce the design detail.

A similar finishing technique is applied to existing BB spouts by the fettler at CC and it's possible that if the initial mould had gone directly to the factory it may not have been an issue. However, if we had gone straight into production and encountered functional issues later the quality of the product would be compromised and the resources may not have been available to trace and resolve the issue. Despite leading to significant delays, this process of inquiry has led to specific, practice-based knowledge – and the recovery of knowledge – of the spout's finishing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> To 'fettle 'is to trim and clean the rough edges of a casting before firing.



Fig. 125. Technical drawing of the resolved detailing of the non-drip spout showing a point on the short side of the aperture of the spout. Used to describe the finish needed to the fettlers on the CC factory floor.



Fig. 126. Troubleshooting the tolerence of variation in the finishing details of the aperture of the non-drip spout in CC with the fettler.



Fig. 127. The final non-drip design; Image Angela Moore.

#### Innovation within the moulds

Implementation of the 'loose lump 'method was not the only innovation of the mould. Working with the factory casters, we found that early casts led to trapped air bubbles gathering in the neck of the pot in the undercut associated with the locking lid feature. These air bubbles result in a higher likelihood of deficiencies (below image) during casting and cracks during firing. To alleviate this, the master mould was sent back to Bentley who scribed a series of channels in the mould to allow air to escape, minimising the risk of bubble formation under the surface of the slip. These channels allowed any trapped air caught in the undercut created by the locking lid feature to be pushed out by the casting slip as it filled the mould.



Fig. 128. Airbubbles trapped in the mould on the casting bench in CC.



Fig. 129. Air channels allow air to be pushed out of the mould as the slip is poured in; Image Jake Curtis.

#### Handle

The handle of CCs 'teapot is close to the bowl and does not feature a return at the top. The return is a detail we reintroduced, inspired by ALB.'s design, which prevented the pot slipping and burning the knuckles in use. This functional decision also offered a technical solution to issues raised by the contemporary manufacture of the teapot. Where earlier BBs were pressed on a jigger-jolly, leading to thick walls and efficient insulation, the contemporary slipcast technique produces thinner walls that heat more quickly – slipcast production means the teapot is not as well insulated and the risk of burning is higher. The return on the re-introduced handle, positions the hand slightly further away from the body of the pot in comparison to CCs 'design (Fig. 72).



Fig. 130. Working with model maker and historic details and CAD sketch, templates; plaster handle (moving between 2d/3d), to test optimum section thicknesses for handle.

### **Base Inscription and Cut**

CCs 'BB, as with many other historic versions, features a maker's mark and location. To create this Bentley scribed a deboss backstamp into the master mould by hand. This in turn enables the text to appear as an emboss in the cast. I felt strongly that I did not want to have my name on the base of the teapot, nor CCs 'name. Instead, I used simply: 'RE-ENGINEERED BROWN BETTY, STOKE-ON-TRENT'. Initially, CC were confused by the omission of their name and my name, concerned that it might prevent identification. In as much as the makers 'mark is a signature of producer or designer, the omission attempted to locate the teapot within the generic historic category of 'Brown Betty 'from Stoke-on-Trent. I believed that the teapot's image and the narrative we were developing was strong enough to distinguish it from that of other designers and producers.



Fig. 131. Ed Bentley scribing a debossed orientation of the makers mark into the master mould in his studio.



Fig. 132. The embossed makers mark revealed in the cast as it comes out of a new mould at CC; Image Glen Stoker.

The notion of 'Re-engineering 'conveyed, I felt, a sense of precision design that aspired to use, durability and continuity – slow, developmental design – instead of 'newness'. This was an extension of the idea expressed in the Vitsoe exhibition. An ethos of researching, remixing, reappropriating and reproducing, countered the gimmickry of fast fashion that characterises much of commercial design. I wanted to acknowledge the history but also bring it in line with current functional detailing. In addition to this text, we introduced a notch into the foot ring of the teapot. This allowed liquid that would otherwise gather in the upturned teapot after washing to run off, instead of pooling on the pot.



Fig. 133. Technical drawing of the notch in the footring of the teapot that allows water to run out of the depression when draining after washing.



Fig. 134. Upturned RBB on a draining board; Image Angela Moore.

# Packaging / Graphic Design

With the re-engineering underway, I shifted my focus to consider how research, design and production insights might suggest an image, approach or identity for the product's packaging. As a designer, my overwhelming attention had been directed to the design detailing of the object in production and use. However, packaging, factored into the final wholesale cost, is an important component for displaying the identity of the product on the shop floor, as well as protecting it in transit. Marketing and promoting are part of my revitalisation methodology. Existing CC packaging, analysed in Field 1, provided a model to react against, even though I wanted to retain a strong sense of place in my design.

In the lead-in to the BCB, Dr. Neil Brownsword recommended a photographer he had worked with, Bjarte Bjørkum. Bjørkum had carried out several field trips to photograph the landscapes of Stoke. At Bradwell Woods, where the Elers Brothers had refined clay in about 1695, Etruria Marl can be seen bleeding though the ground. Fragments of smashed redware pots become indistinguishable with this ground, suggesting cyclical ecologies. This seam was the backbone of The Potteries and an important element of the area's distinct local identity. Photographic images became signposts to pause and reflect on place, geology and industry. Bjørkum kindly allowed me to use a number of his archival photographs.



Fig. 135. Surface outcrops of Etruria Marl, Bradwell Wood, North Staffordshire; Image Bjarte Bjørkum.

With these photographs, I returned to the graphic designers, Depass Montgomery, to storyboard the item. There was relatively little budget for the packaging; no money was received initially from CC towards marketing or packaging. I had to steer the graphic designers to produce packaging that was affordable and quick to assemble. They were effective at conceptually bringing the packaging into line with the history of the object. As Isaac Button's ceramics are an embodiment of the physical landscape from which they came, so the BB is an embodiment of a specific physical place-based landscape.

The solution was to produce a plain box with a technical drawing of the teapot and a simple orange and black monoprint poster wrap. The poster would fold out to detail the object's history. When stacked, each item's packaging would align to convey the sense of quantity in the truism: 'Stack'em high sell 'em cheap. 'The poster, which could be kept, could provide a visual history of the BB, locating it in place and geology.



Fig. 136. Box and internal face of the poster wrap containing licensed images of the BB in a range of historical contexts; Image Angela Moore.



Fig. 137. Box and external face of the poster detailing pre folded layout to guide easy assembly in CC; Image Angela Moore.



Fig. 138. Box and poster assembled detailing key attributes of the object that can be rotated to convey a different message on each face; Image Angela Moore.



Fig. 139. A stack of the packaged teapots used to convey the potential of displays for retailers; Image Angela Moore.

A certain amount of the budget was allocated to product photography and to purchase image licenses that would extend to 1000 limited edition posters: I commissioned photographer Angela Moore to produce both photographs of the final edition and its packaging that would be used to target press and retailers in the build-up to the BCB launch. The addition of the poster meant that this discourse travelled with the product: the research would find a thoughtfully-designed vehicle to condense its insights. Framing the object as a cultural artefact was an effective way, I found, to garner interest in the product. A combination of the poster, an effective piece of design in itself, and commissioned images alluding to the process of re-engineering the pot did a lot to generate press attention.



Fig. 140. RBB limited edition poster for the limited edition RBB.



Fig. 141. Models, moulds, material samples and casts laid out as a visual representation of the reengineering process.

# 3.7 Launch

The RBB was launched at the exhibition 'Brown Betty: An Everyday Archetype 'at the BCB, Stoke-on-Trent in the former Spode Factory in 2017 – one of four major cocommissioned works with the BCB. The exhibition took place but there were no physical items available to be purchased. This was due to the ongoing problems with the nondrip spout, as detailed above. Instead, I presented a palette of flat-lay prints displaying the poster that would wrap the packaging of the finished product alongside many prototypes – deconstructed and stacked – not for sale. Where the exhibition at AirSpace Gallery and Vitsoe presented taxonomies of CCs 'and ALB.'s teapots, the BCB featured a taxonomy of my own design. The exhibition used archival images and raw marl to communicate the sense of place and geology.

Archival photographs accompanied reproductions of the BB in illustrations of iconic and ubiquitous children's books such as Judith Kerr's *The Tiger Who Came For Tea* (Harper Collins, 1968) and Janet and Allan Ahlbery's *Peepo!* (Puffin, 1981). I commissioned a writer, Bethan Lloyd-Worthington, to produce a poetic reflection on the object (see Appendix ii). 'If you close your eyes and see a teapot, 'the text begins, 'odds-on it's this one. 'Yet, it is the surface of the teapot that Lloyd-Worthington writes, 'reflects back its setting, and we can see our own daft face in it. The light bouncing back off the Rockingham glaze contains the image of wherever it is placed, at whatever time. See it. See what's reflected by it. 'This commission introduced an external creative-critical perspective to the project.



Fig. 142. British Ceramics Biennial 2017, installation view.



Fig. 143. British Ceramics Biennial 2017, installation view.



Fig. 144. British Ceramics Biennial 2017, product packaging featuring a history of the BB.

The absence of the finished edition heightened anticipation amongst those who had pre-ordered, and the BCB, CC, Labour and Wait and Margaret Howell, became very protective of their allocation. ACE funding had been granted on the condition that the production run be limited to distinguish the editioned object from a mass produced object. Later, the physical launch of the finished edition took place the following year at Labour and Wait's East London store.



Fig. 145. Launching RBB edition for purchase at Labour and Wait during the LDF 2018.

The edition was small and garnered widespread press but I felt that something that could be continued, something sustainable, would be most valuable. This was a tentative step. It was clearly based on the uptake that CC were keen on producing more than a thousand. After the initial limited edition was sold, together with CC we took the decision to put the RBB into permanent production. The production RBB was necessarily distinct from the ACE-funded in a number of ways: We took out the defining features of the limited edition which was the poster and limited edition packaging, and ACE logo. We re-designed the box and commissioned enough new moulds for an ongoing production run.

Initially, Stephen Murrary at CC understood orders of the permanent production from Margaret Howell and Labour and Wait as small. It took a number of discussions with Stephen to reassure him that although relatively small, these retailers were crucial to position the pot alongside other iconic objects and expose it to a discerning design audience that Cauldon didn't have access to. I was sure that this would allow us to raise both the perceived and retail value of the object and that in time these retailers would place larger orders through their subsidiaries in Japan. Over the subsequent months I built close relationships with these retailers. They would come to me before placing large orders. As these orders came in I would travel to the factory to quality control their orders. While exhausting, I viewed this as essential that any teething issues in the early stages of bedding in production were identified before they reached the customer.



Fig. 146. Quality checking and rejecting RBB teapots in CC workshop.



Fig. 147. Quality checking the pour of RBB teapots in the toilets of a key retailer.

### 3.8 Outcomes

For the purpose of the thesis I am unable to include breakdowns of production costs due to confidentiality obligations to CC. However I can substantiate the commercial impact of this research by including extracts from a statement of support (see appendix) from Murray which points toward a number of indicators of its success. Murray is conscious that this research has not only raised the perceived value of CC and their wares but also increased profit margins. As he writes in the statement:

We started out with the idea that the narrative developed through lan's research and his Re-Engineered Brown Betty could elevate the history and narrative surrounding our company and authenticate Cauldon and the rest of the collection. This has been achieved - lan's edition sells at a premium to the rest of our collection and probably will go on to do so, it has opened up new premium markets such as retailers like Selfridges and Conran but it has also enabled us to increase the price of the rest of our products, driving higher profit margins across our collection (appendix, iii).

I have a licensing agreement in place for the RBB teapot granting CC continuous production of the design with no cut-off or review date. This open-endedness is intended so that they don't feel under pressure or that I will relocate production given their history and considerable investment in the project. The agreement is in place to ensure that the RBB is not (legally) their property in the event that Cauldon ceases to exist or is taken under new ownership. In this event I would be able to safeguard the RBB if required.

Within a commercial context a new product has been developed in collaboration with CC. The RBB incorporates historical precedents in the history of the object including the re-introduction of forgotten patented design details. Design details new to CC have also been introduced such as the incorporation of a loose-leaf infuser in order to bring the BB in line with contemporary consumer needs. The development of production processes new to CC have been employed in order to overcome a range of production challenges associated with the new design. Dissemination of the research, which occurred across the phases of research, development, production, and subsequent launch is detailed below.

# Exhibitions

Within a cultural context a number of exhibitions have been produced locally, nationally and internationally exploring the BB's place in popular culture, social history and design history. This has contributed to the development of a renewed understanding of the cultural value of the BB teapot among a wider audience. This has been achieved through a number of solo presentations of aspects of this research in AirSpace Gallery, Stoke-on-Trent in 2016, the BCB in 2018 and subsequent exhibits in the V&A, London; The Design Museum, London; Compton Verney, Warwickshire; the Art Museum of Nanjing University of the Arts, China; CAFA Art Museum, Beijing; Morocco Pavilion in Dubai Expo 2020; Margaret Howell stores in Paris and Tokyo; Vitsoe, London and Labour and Wait, London.

In 2018, the V&A commissioned an online film about my research on the occasion of the RBB's inclusion in the exhibition 'FOOD: Bigger than the plate'.<sup>34</sup> When launched this film broke their highest online viewing figures for their previous films.<sup>35</sup> The involvement of the V&A provided leverage to access the Knutton Quarry seam where Valentine Clays Ltd. sources its material. This video has become an important tool for CC to sell its products and appears on its website homepage.

 $<sup>^{34}</sup>$  Open from 18 May – 20 October 2019, this exhibition brought together the politics and pleasure of food to ask 'how the collective choices we make can lead to a more sustainable, just and delicious food future'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> As of July 2022, the video had 73,338 views on the V&A's YouTube channel and has been 'Liked 'by 2,600 viewers. The museum has turned off the Comments thread: this may have been a useful tool for collecting qualitative online research. The film can be viewed at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KeDZUq9WIEQ



Fig. 148. RBB teapots and packaging sharing a display case with original Elersware and Yixing teapots in the V&A's exhibition 'Food: Bigger than the plate'.



Fig. 149. RBB mounted over a backdrop of historical redware teapots as part of 'A tea Journey 'at Compton Verney 2019.



Fig. 150. RBB mounted over a backdrop of historical redware teapots as part of 'A tea Journey 'at Compton Verney 2019, installation view.



Fig. 151. RBB included in 'Material Tales': *The Life of Things*. CAFA Art Museum, Beijing. Touring exhibition developed by Design Museum, London.


Fig. 152. RBB included in 'Material Tales': *The Life of Things*. Art Museum of Nanjing University of the Arts, China. Touring exhibition developed by Design Museum, London.

#### **Commercial Stockists**

A range of 'point of sale 'materials have been developed to communicate a renewed understanding of the object and its history. Where the exhibition at AirSpace Gallery and Vitsoe presented taxonomies of CCs 'and ALB.'s teapots, these point of sale materials feature a taxonomy of my own design as detailed in the images below. These materials enable the re-positioning of the teapot within a design context in order to align it with premium quality British heritage brands including Margaret Howell, David Mellor, Conran, Labour and Wait, and Selfridges who now retail the product. The RBB is also available from outlets in the museums sector, such as YAG gift shop.



Fig. 153. Boxed RBB display in Margaret Howell Jinnan, Japan, 2020.



Fig. 154. RBB window display and signage in Margaret Howell Jinnan, Japan, 2020.



Fig. 155. RBB counter display in Margaret Howell Jinnan, Japan, 2020.



Fig. 156. RBB Vitsoe display in Margaret Howell Jinnan, Japan, 2020.



Fig. 157. RBB Vitsoe window display and signage in Margaret Howell Tokyo, Japan, 2021.



Fig. 158. RBB display across entire store in Margaret Howell Tokyo, Japan, 2021.



Fig. 159. Archival BB images in Margaret Howell cafe Tokyo, Japan, 2021.



Fig. 160. RBBs displayed on Ercol furniture in front of Margaret Howell quote. Margaret Howell Tokyo, Japan, 2021.

David Mellor has re-named the Price & Kensington version of the BB that features in their product range in light of my research (this version featured in Phaidon Design Classics and was claimed as the The Real 'Brown Betty 'Teapot in previous marketing material including this 2013–14 catalogue). It is now described as 'Traditional Round Rockingham Gloss Teapot 'by the retailer. This year only Cauldon's RBB features in their printed catalogue and both versions feature online. It is evident comparing these two products on the David Mellor website, that the selling point for the Price & Kensington version is price and the selling point for the Re-engineered version is place.



Fig. 161. Price and Kensington's version of the BB teapot described by David Mellor as 'The Real Brown Betty Teapot 'in their 2013–14 catalogue.

## DAVID MELLOR

David Our Kitch Mellor designs kniv cutlery and boar	en Tableware s	Glassware	Craft pottery and woodware	Cooking and baking	Kitchen essential
---	-------------------	-----------	-------------------------------------	--------------------------	----------------------

HOME / TRADITIONAL ROUND ROCKINGHAM GLOSS TEAPOT 6 CUP / 1.1LT



Traditional round Rockingham gloss teapot 6 cup / 1.1lt £15.00

Traditional Staffordshire pattern. Rockingham gloss glaze.

PRODUCT CODE 2171023

Fig. 162. Price and Kensington's version of the BB described by David Mellor as 'Traditional round Rockingham Gloss Teapot 'online (2022).

### DAVID MELLOR

David Mellor cutlery	Our designs	Kitchen knives and boards	Tableware	Glassware	Craft pottery and woodware	Cooking and baking	Kitchen essentials
HOME / BROW	IN BETTY TEAPOT 4 CUP						
					Brow	n Betty	/
					toan	ot A cu	n
					ieap	01400	μ
					£45.	00	
					Made in S	Stoke-on-Trent	by Cauldon
		-			Ceramics	, the oldest rei	maining maker
				2	of this ico	nic British des	ign.
		-			Working v	with ceramicis	Ian McIntyre,
6			10		Cauldon I	nave re-engine	ered this
2		-	1		classic te	apot. Original (	design features
				-	gradually	lost over time	have been re-
			-		Introduce	d including the	apatented
							Set to the set of the set

Fig. 163. The RBB described by David Mellor as 'Brown Betty Teapot 'online (2022).

#### Media and Press Coverage

The research has received national and international coverage across specialist and broadsheet publications including features in the *Financial Times*, Denmark's daily broadsheet *Politiken*, and *Disegno Journal*. Critical reviews of the research have been written by leading subject specialists including Garth Clarke, Grant Gibson and Tim Parsons; the RBB has been the subject of cover stories of both *Crafts* magazine in September/October 2017 and *Ceramic Review*, March/April 2018 (see Figs. 166–169 and Figs. 172–175). This demonstrates the renewed cultural significance of the object across print and museum settings of art, design and craft. Press coverage has occurred at different stages of the research, initially in response to the AirSpace exhibition, then the Vitsoe exhibition, and after the launch of the finished product.



Fig. 164. Front cover, Crafts: the magazine for contemporary craft, issue 268 September/October 2017

#### EDITORIAL

#### It may be quiet but the new, limited-edition Brown Betty is rather brilliant In praise of the Super Normal Grant Gibson

Design should celebrate and refine everyday objects

In 2006 the designers Jasper Morrison and Naoto Fukasawa launched an exhibition and accompanying manifesto entitled Super Normal. It was a howl against the way the industry was moving, with the combination of glossy lifestyle magazines and the exponential growth of design festivals around the globe creating a new breed of superstar designers, brought in by marketing teams to sprinkle their magic dust on any number of products. As Morrison pointed out: 'It's become a competition to make things as noticeable as possible by means of colour, shape and surprise. The virus has already infected the everyday environment. The need for businesses to attract attention provides the perfect carrier for the disease. Design makes things seem special, and who wants normal if they can have special?"

Instead, they argued, design should celebrate and refine everyday objects. I mention this because it seems to me that the Brown Betty teapot (as seen on our cover) is the apotheosis of Super Normal. Its globe shape, for instance, helps the tea to infuse; the

Etrurian Marl it's made from retains heat so tea stays warmer longer; while its Rockingham glaze hides stains. Yet the products's ubiquity has had the effect of masking its cultural import, while the fact that it's so inexpensive means margins for the maker are small, which has encouraged reproductions from overseas.

for unsolicited manuscripts or

Council is committed to equal

Follow us on Facebook, Twitter

and Instagram for all the latest from the world of craft:

FA 눈 🐻

www.facebook.com/craftsmagazine

www.twitter.com/craftsmagazine www.instagram.com/craftsmagazine

photographs. The views expressed in *Crafts* are not necessarily those of the Crafts Council. The Crafts

On page 44 we discover this is something Ian McIntyre is about to change. Working with one of the last British manufacturers of the teapot, Cauldon Ceramics, the designer has spent years investigating the product's history and created a new Brown Betty, re-instating features that had disappeared as it moved from manufacturer to manufacturer.

Importantly, the project isn't centred around his desire to stamp a particular aesthetic on the product. Instead it's about finding the most effective way to re-introduce key functional elements and make manufacture ever-so-slightly more efficient, while ensuring it remains affordable. The finished piece is smart, a little reserved, but somehow feels just right. Which is exactly what good design is all about.

While I have your attention it would be remiss of me not to point out that this is a bumper issue containing a special supplement devoted to the Woman's Hour Craft Prize as the shortlisted makers go on display at the V&A. Regular readers will also notice a few other changes: we bid a fond farewell to columnists Patricia van den Akker (our Design Doctor) and Jane Norris, but usher in a new slot from one of the craft world's leading writers, Glenn Adamson, who will be keeping us up-to-date with developments over the pond in his Letter from America. I hope you enjoy.

#### Grafts magazine is published. Editorial

ARTS COUNCIL ENGLAND



Tel: 020 7806 2538 Pax: 020 7837 0858 crafts@craftseouncil.org.uk bi-monthly by the Crafts Council. Crafts does not accept responsibility

> Editor Grant Gibson g\_gibson@craftscouncil.org.ak Assistant Editor Imogen Greenhälgh Lgreenhalgh@craftscouncil.org.uk Sub-editor Abbie Coppard a\_coppard@craftscouncil.org.uk

Design and Art Direction Stephen Coates, Henrietta Molinaro info@stephencoates.co.uk

Publisher Keith Grosvenor 020 7806 2539 k\_grosvenor@craftscouncil.org.aik

Advertising Display, Classified and Crafts Guide Publishing Matters Charlotte Hollingshead orago 576829 chollingshead@publishingmatters.co.uk Production Executive Guy Porter 030 7806 3541 g\_porter@craftscouncil.org.uk

Origination and printing Dawkins Colour Ltd, Lon and Ruoton Press Ltd Advertising Production PH Media

Subscriptions Subscriptions Officer Amelia Lawrence 020 7806 2542 subscriptions@craftscouncil.org.uk Marketing and Promotions Manager Hannah Sharpe 020 7806 2558

h\_sharpe@craftscouncil.org.uk Distribution

Comig Specialist Division, (01895) 433800, Central Books (0845) 4580925

Crafts magazine ata Pentonville Road, London N1 989, UK Regd Charity No.280956 Tel 020 7278 7700 www.craftscouncil.org.uk ISSN No: 0306-610X

Crafts September/October 2017 3

Fig. 165. Editorial on REBB by Grant Gibson. Crafts: the magazine for contemporary craft, issue 268 September/October 2017



Fig. 166. Crafts: the magazine for contemporary craft, issue 268 September/October 2017. Pages 44/45.

'Pve never designed a teapot before – I just didn't see the point'



Fig. 167. Crafts: the magazine for contemporary craft, issue 268 September/October 2017. Pages 46/47.



Fig. 168. Crafts: the magazine for contemporary craft, issue 268 September/October 2017. Pages 48/49.



Fig. 169. Crafts: the magazine for contemporary craft, issue 268 September/October 2017. Pages 50/51

has a diff

face capt tory

...att Alcock, Lindley & Bi. ... 1920s, which prevents driv with the pot's side. What

In this grant for element large the hole mater of the comparison that we need to the annual model to the annual model on the annual model on the strengther it's atill accessible to the tender and on a way where it's atill accessible to the tender and the annual model and the tender and the strengther and the strengt

the kinked grout that Aloced, Lindley & Blorre face constraints and the stores, which alopes have a constraint along stores and the stores draphs from exploring drawn along store. What Mappen from exploring stores and the stores and the stores draph is along store and the stores and the stores draph and stores to the stores and the stores and along the stores and the stores and the stores and along and stores and the stores and the stores and along a store and the stores and the stores and along a store and the stores and the stores of the stores and the stores and the stores and along a store and along a stores and the stores and along a store and the stores and along the stores and along a store and along a store store and along a store and a store a store store and the store and along a store and along a store and the store and along a store and along a store and along a store and along a store and a store a store and the store store and a store and along a store and along a store and along a store and along a store and a store a store and be stored able to be approxed and along a store and along a store and a store a store and along a store and a store a store and along a store and a store a store and a store and along a store and along a store and along a store and a store a store and a store and along a store and a store a store and along a store and a store and along a store and along a store and a store and along a store and along a store and a store and along a store and along a store and a store and along a store and along a store and a store and along a store and along a store and a store and along a store and along a store and a store and along a store and along a store and a store and along a store and along a store and a store as a store and and along a store and a store as a store and and along a store and a store as a store and as a store and a store as a store and as a store and a store as a st

de: created with Mike 2 Pass, the teapot will brown paper, suitable more direct sales. Each Monts come for po

# 'It's communicating to people what makes the Brown Betty so special'

IAN McINTYRE





Fig. 170. Politiken, Design supplement, Friday 26, February, 2021. Page 20/21



punkt for socialt samvær og symbolet på afslapning og komfort, uanset om du var rig eller fattig. Man kan sige, at der understutter hele vores sociale live fortæller tehistorikeren.

**DESIGN FEATURE** 

Faktisk kom katten til London, for teen gjorde, og omkring år 1700 var der etableret omkring 500 caffee huuer i byen. Så hvorfor er den engelske huttur bygget så stærkt op omkring te, når de fleste omkringliggende lande bygger på en kaffekultur?

Der finde sandsynligets ikke ét enkelt svar på det sporgsmål, men følge Jane Pettigrev taka besedlivtekanogen findes i det faksum, at te blev transporteret til havs fra skvel Kina som fra de tedytkende kolonier. Kallen derimod blev primært transporteret via landjovden op gennem Europa. Man kunopa.

»Man kunne relatvi sikkort og utorstyrret sejle teen via Atlanterhavet og gennem kanalen ind til Londoin. Men på grund af alle de krige, der hærgode Europa, var det mæger mere kompliceret at få kaflen fragtet fra det europæiske fastland og videre til ingland. Så mens det meste af Europa gradvist gjik fra primært at drikke te til kafle, fortsarte vi sied at drikke te so siger den engelske tehistoriker.

#### Te var for de belæste

Zoomer vi ind på Danmark, firmstår vores kulturfustorie i forhold til varme

222 POLITIKEN | DESIGN | Fredag 26. februar 2021

drikke sstik modsat englænderness, fortæller Annette Hölf, der er historiker og forfatter til Dægerne. Den danske tehistone' og Den danske kalfehistorie'. «Danmark blev født som tedrikkerland i 1600-årene, men omkring år 1800

hiner in foor active, metrofination, gai noiso bliver vi for alvor et kalffedrikkerlande, konstatever hun: «Tievn har fistorrisk setværet knyttet til bekøste menneskær, de første tedrikkere var præster, og i Hölbergstiden var det en populær dirkt i de finere saloner. Men te-

populær drikt i de finere saloner. Men teen slår aldrig nogensinde igennem på lander og blandt den brede befolkning. Bonderne har for det første ikke råd til te, og på landet har man desuden tradition for at koge urter som kamille og salvie, så hvorfør i alverden skulle man pludselig til at betale i dyte domme for

een händfulid kinesiske reblade, när man kan kobe en hel hest for samme priva-Kaffen kommer til Europa i lists, og de følgende årtier breder den sig langsomt, inden den kommer til Danmärk omkring 1656. Di la begynde med er det en kostbar vare, men det bliver den ikke ved med at være. Bønderne slår sig altså på kaffen, der

modsat teen har en hurtig opkvikkende elfekt. Det er noget nyt, stærkt noget, som er godt at vågne på, når man har sover middagslur. Og da bønderne vandrør ind til byerne i 1850'erne og bliver industriarbejdere, tager de kalfen med sig. Fordi benderne og industriarbejder. Designer lan McIntyre opkebte gamle Brown Betty-tepotter, som han skilte ad for at finde inspiration til sin egen, nutidige udgave af designklassikeren. Foto: Angeta Moore

Teen har historisk set været knyttet til belæste mennesker, de første tedrikkere var præster, og i Holberg-tiden var det en populær drik ide finere ralenge

saloner Annette Hoff, historiker ne er mange flere end de embedsmænd, der har siddet og sippet te i byerne, bli ver Danmark altovervejende en kaffedrikkernation,ø fortæller Annette Hoff.

#### Tepotte til tiden

På mange måder er Englands storhedstid i dag overstået, hvilker også gælder storhedstiden som stolt tedrikkernation. Ihvert fald overfladisk set.

«Hertallet af folk drikker primært sort te fra billige reposer, og de fleste mennesker har ingen anelse om, hvor derse te kommer fra, eller hvad den egentlig indeholder. Samtidig har vi i de seneste 5-10 år set alle de store ressærkberikomheder rapportere, at teforbruget i Storbritannien er for nedadgåendes, hyder det fra Jane Pettigrew.

Menning to the focus grantees, plant det far Jane Pettigrew. Mens salgsstatustikkerne er dominerer af supermarkedernes billige tebreve, stiger salget af de dyrere teblade og specialblandinger. Teblistoriterere sammenbigner det med den udvikling, som vin har været igennem over de samste 40 år. 163 a jeg var barn, var det megist få mens

sDa jeg var barn, var det meget få mennesker, der vidste noget om vin. Dis drak eiten bare redvin eller bvidvin, og hvis du var tin på den, drak du rusé. Men i dag intervisierer de fleste af os for vin i en eller anden udstrækning. Vi ved, hville druer og distrikter vi foretrækker, og hvad si vil dirikke til forskellige igper mad. Der skyldes både reklame, oply-

ning og tilgængelighed i forhold til kvalitetsvine, og jeg ser i bøj grad interessen for brune på og i campa og radinger

for te være på vej i samme retnings Ganske som viden og oplysning skal være med til at holde den gode teoplevelse i live, skal viden og oplysning bruges til at sikre Brown Bettys overlevelse, fortæller fan Mchtyre sibet er det mest genkendelige øbjekt

stbet er det mest genkendelige objekt inden for britisk keranik. Folk genkenderreporten, selv om de ikke nødvendigvis ved noget om den - og det er jo faktisk det, godt design skal kunne, altså wære genkendeligt uden at hjde eller larme for meget. Men sambidig synes jeg, at det er vigtigt, at folk forstår, hvorfor Brown Betty er så speciel, og brød der skal til, for at den forbliver-et ikons, siger designøren.

siba jeg begyndte at arbejde med krown Betty, opdagode jeg, hvor meget notalagi og protektionisme mange mennesker forsøgte at påkke den md i, nærmest som en slags breutmentaliset. Lad os smækker et linnin jakelsdag på inde pakeningen, så sælger den sig sølv. Men det var algørende for mig at tremme en anden lottælling, nemlig at det er den kontinueslige forandring, som hærgjort tinovn Betty klonisk, for det hærgjør, at den til alte tider har wæret tilgængelig og hyperfunktionel. J sidte ende er dørt jo de mest funktionel fir ting, der løvet længstis. sunægnjo.

erun Siber qu

Fig. 171. Politiken, Design supplement, Friday 26, February, 2021. Page 22



Fig. 172. Front Cover Ceramic Review, Issue 290, March/April 2018. Tim Parsons.



## Reinventi Bet

20

During his project to re-engineer the Brown Betty teapot, Ian McIntyre uncovered its cultural significance as a design icon. *Tim Parsons* discusses the history of the product and the findings of McIntyre's research Ince Roland Barthes and Jean Baudrillard pioneered semicite theory, we've been told that the objects we possess are the "words" we use to express ourselves – agins with which we form a unique identity, telling the story of who we are and who we want to be. But occasionally we find an object that talks hade – that seems to hold up a mirror to show who we really are, warts and all. The Brown Berty teapol is just such an object. While its origins tell of innovation and ingenuity, and its popularity once propped up the bittah exermine industry. The recent history we for the states to both write a history of the UK extantis industry to the states.

the British certaints undustry its treact thistory the British certaints in a comparison of the state of UK manufacturing, and the tastes of the British public using the Brown Brity as the Every viness. If it can be anote were to be attempted there would be no better present for the job than Ian McImyre. Designer, artist, maker and if all goes to plan, doctor, McImyre masspent the last few years inmersed in a multi-acader re-appriated of the Brown Betty which has spawned several exhibitions. a PhD theisis and a Tc-engineered' edition of the classic por, manufactured by Cauldon Ceramics. In the process, he has become the leading authority on its lineage, the taxonomy of its design elements and whit, lody, should constitute a real 'Brown Betty. Ceramic Review | March/April 2018 27

Fig. 173. Ceramic Review, Issue 290, March/April 2018. Pages 26/27. Tim Parsons.

CERAMICS | DESIGN

SFLOW.



**EVOLVING HISTORY** 

in Staffordshire. Previously unusable for fine wares, once it was stired, washed, sueved, buinged and wathered, the brothers had a quality material from which they produced high-end products for wealthy clientele. Among the many objects they made with this material were unglazed red day copies of spherical designs of teapots imported from Ming period China. This is no easy task for an object that has no known designer. Rather than coming from the hand of a single maker, the Boom Betty has evolved from pols and e over 300 years go. Its origin story begins with the Dutch Eles brothers who, in 1693, refined Erturia Mari day from Bradwell Wood With the ensuing industrialisation of Stoke-on-Trent

the Brown Berty. The only the Bobe shape and Rockingham guize the Brown Berty. The only the Bobe shape and Rockingham guize reveal others. A post made in four parts with the spont added to the body over a series of punched holes to stop losse leaf the firom ex-ping. A rough or that out the thow and prevent drips. A handle with sufficient day touching the treefine drips. A handle with sufficient day touching the Lindley and Bloore (ALB), the company who, during the 60 years of business were responsible for producing and 60 years of business were responsible for producing and and developments in glaze technology, over the years, subtle mutations developed the pot into what became known as championing what we know as the Brown Betty today, added further, patented, innovations; a locking lid that wedges itself in and won't fall when the pot is tipped, and an even more efficient non-drip spout shaped like a tap.

Such was the Brown Betry's success, by 1926 Staffordshire was producing half an million pots a week and in 1974 still produced one million a year (it was Hablat's best-selling product). McIntyr's research has revealed its recent lineagy. From ALB, who were taken over, then liquidated, by Royal remaining producer of the Brown Betty, McIntyre tells me, var an unknown point between 1979 and 2004, some of the design features and manufacturing processes of ALB's design changed. Within this period contemporary makers of the original version, including Cauldon Ceramics of the original version, including Cauldon Ceramics Doulton, through Gem Pottery, Ascot Pottery, Caledonia Pottery and finally to Cauldon Ceramics - the oldest DESIGN AND MANUFACTURING

GIBSON & SONS, LTD, Away ad Brey Partick Briden, Sokowsfreet, Eddad, The POTA POLA POLA POLA Print Print Print Print Print



 sought to preserve the aesthetics of the design while many of the functional details and manufacturing innovations of the functional details and manufacturing innovations only did the "original" lose some of its features, the Not only did the "original" lose some of its features, inspiration.
 Batte we decise saw cheap inports complia from China - Batte we decise saw cheap inports on any from China - Batte we cheap the flexe's hothers' inspiration.
 These Betty's were brown but in glaze only. A chip revealed a Mari. Many were also made in one piece and so did run at include the preced body to catch teal eves or the ingention. locking lid. As a nation of consumers, we have long forgotten the advice of design advocates such as London Pick, commissioner of memorable posters and strikingly modern stations. In a 1933 lecture transcribed in *The* executive Frank Transport's heroic chief

29 Ceramic Review | March/April 2018

ALCOCK, LINDLEY & BLOORE LTD touse: SWINNERTONS LTD., Hanley, Stafforddan ctures of Earlbernent, Dinner and Tea Set, etc. ers of Samian and Rocking, RANLEY. STAPPORDSHIRE 11 SLOBE SHAPE - SAMIAN BANDED Lock Lid Non-Drip AND imposing my own aesthetic.' precedents in the history of the object rather than me re-instating of historical The new edition is a Ian McIntyre

Fig. 174. Ceramic Review, Issue 290, March/April 2018. Pages 28/29. Tim Parsons.

271

Ceramic Review | March/April 2018

28

# CERAMICS | DESIGN



IAN'S CAREER PATH

- 2007: BDes 3D Design, first class honours, Manchester School of Art
- 2010: MA Ceramics and Glass, Royal College of Art

As well as providing a solution, the project raises questions. The designers the new guardinas of our object heritage? How can industry be encouraged to value the culturally significant objects they make instead of diluting

- selling collection of tableware ceramics for the 2012: Pottery series for Another Country, best
  - 2014: Candela, Victoria and Albert Museum, British furniture brand
- site-specific installation commissioned by The London Design Festival/Officine Panerai
  2014: Selected by..., Limoncello galleny, group exhibition curated by Michael Marriott and

significant designs, products and practices does not lie in the hands of one discipline but many. Progress will be made, as is intimated by McIntyre's project, by the

bringing together of multiple stakeholders from culture, academia, to collectively understand, define,

industry and

them or overlooking them in pursuit of the new and the novel? Ultimately, the role of protecting culturally

- Jesse Wine
- 2015: Icon, solo exhibition at AirSpace Gallery, Stoke-on-Trent

produce and champion what we want to protect. Rather than seeing design as a means of eclipsing the past, McIntyre's project has shown it has a central role in

afeguarding it for future generations.

a fancy iteration. Instead he doubled down on perfecting the details and turned to the packaging to help tell the story. A bold exploded view adorns the box and a poster designed

by Mike Montgomery and Felix de Pass wraps it, reminding potential purchasers of the essential elements of the design and providing a potted history culled from McIntyre's research. I have yet to hold one in my hands but I feel confident McIntyre's pot will be successful, not just in sales terms but in fulfilling the cultural role of bringing back into

focus a maligned archetype.

All throughout this painstaking work, supported by funding from the Arts Council, McIntyre resisted the desire to restyle the object, aware that the biggest market was among those looking for a traditional Brown Betty and not

- 2015: Many a Slip, Marsden Woo summer show guest curated by Allson Britton 2015: A Ton of Clay, awarded the Jerwood Makers Commission and UK tour
  - 2016: Brown Betty: the archetypal teapot,

For more information visit ianmcintyre.co.uk;

aceramics.com

cauldro

- an exhibition designed and curated with Vitsoe London
- 2017: Brown Betty: the archetypal teapot at
  - British Ceramics Biennial

BELOW



optimised for production without sacrificing the vital features that make it what it is. He also made sure the pots could stack (the lid inverts and accepts the base of the next pot), an essential feature for the catering industry where stacked pots save vital kitchen space. A loose-leaf diffuser replaces the need for the pierced body behind the spout, and a gap in the foot ring facilitates drainage, making it dishwasher friendly. Listener entitled The Meaning and Purpose of Design, Pick

**DESIGN HERITAGE** taught his audience to identify the signs of good design in everydary household objects. Regarding poorly designed objects, he scales them: 'If you would not buy them, they would not be made'. And yet we snap up these cheap Brown Betty imposters without stopping to ask what a real Brown Betty is, where it comes from, who makes it and how? As McIntyre puts it 'No-one has been the guardian of it. It has been neglected.'

# REAPPRAISING A CLASSIC

sighting this wrong has been the essence of McIntyre's mission. His PhD thesis, supported by Manchester School of Art, the British Ceramics Biennial and York Art Gallery is an in-depth case study exploring strategies for the revitalisation of the Brown Betty. Specifically, it positions the Brown Betty as a culturally significant product and explores how McIntyre can use his design practice to support a reupratisal of it. He tells me: At the moment i'm exploring revitalisation strategies for the oldest maker of the object [Cauldon Ceramics] and also trying to define the object and what constitutes an original in order to better position the maker against cheaper imports, which are lowering the value of their work. The new edition I've just launched is a re-instating of historical precedents in the history of the object rather than me imposing my wn aesthetic

tttributes - the locking lid and non-drip spout - and rought them back. Acknowledging that the pot had to preferring a re-engineering, began with an extensive taxonomy of the details of the pot. He discovered ALB's lost remain affordable he refrained from pushing the traditional multi-piece construction. However, the locking lid requires oossible. Touches like this are where the real design has appened. The new pot strikes a delicate balance of being The project, which McIntyre is loath to call a redesign, mould that would slide to make the undercut undercut - something not achievable with a conventional mould. McIntyre's answer was to create a 'loose lump' the i, Ē 5

Ceramic Review | March/April 2018 30



Fig. 175. Ceramic Review, Issue 290, March/April 2018. Page 30. Tim Parsons

## VITSCE Voice

#### Issue three, 2020 Unravelling the conundrum that is living better with less that lasts longer



Fig. 176. Vitsoe Voice, issue 3 2020.



perfectly comfortable pour The refreshing detail of a

# **Brown Betty**

The very character of the pot comes from the quality of the clay, which has been mined in Staffordshire for Despite its popularity however, surprisingly little is known about the red-ware teapots for over 300 years. "I think it's safe to say that a Brown Betty that isn't made of teapot's original makers. "The chances are, if I asked you to draw a teapot from memory, you'd Collaborative Doctoral Award with Manchester School of Art, York Art think of a shape not too dissimilar from the Brown Betty. That's because it's one of the most Gallery and the British Ceramics manufactured teapots in British history." So says ceramicist lan McIntyre who, as part of his

classes, absorbed into the fabric of everyday life. This evolution resulted brewing and pouring tea. By quietly Brown Betty is a product of evolution, with form and function refined over decades, rather than the authorship of any single designer. It emerged as a cheap, in a teapot modest in appearance yet perfect for the task in hand: utilitarian pot for the working origins of this noble pot.

wares like butter pots for farmers to North Staffordshire. Prior to this the potteries which existed were small and David Elers, in Bradwell Woods

transport their produce to market.

family-run outfits, producing crude

original Brown Betty at all" states lan. This clay - Etruria Marl - was

Biennial, set about examining the

Staffordshire red clay, isn't an

Dutch brothers, John Philip Elers first refined around 1695 by two

The brothers used this clay to make Yixing teapots, which were being imported from China by the East • with the expensive red stoneware teapots to emulate and compete

performing its job so well it has endeared itself to generations.

33

Fig. 177. Vitsoe Voice, issue 3 2020. Page 32/33

Right: Lan Michryre in his studio removing the mould from a prototype Brown Betty Below: Fituria Below: Photograph by Bjarte Bjørkum

the wall-thickness combine to keep

infuse the loose-leaf tea when water was added. The shape and

that the refinement of this clay, which could reliably withstand the

India Company. It is widely agreed

was seen as the best shape to

The most innovative maker of Brown 20th century. The body of an Alcock Lindley and Bloore teapot was mad Bloore, who operated through the Betty was Alcock, Lindley and the tea warm.

were applied. This enabled a potter globe when pouring. These are in three parts. The globe was

rational design, stripped of anything transformation. He discovered that over the years the Brown Betty production methods" explains lan, who over the course of his studies Staffordshire, and became a key catalyst for the industrialisation of without cracking, gave rise to new the six towns that make up Stokesourced multiple Brown Bettys of orm migrated into a globe, which superfluous to its function and manufacturer to evaluate the temperature of boiling water The Brown Betty is a purely principles behind the design technological experiment in various shapes, dates and on-Trent.

to crudely punch a grid of holes into the globe before attaching the spout. The grid held the tea leaves in the saw these details as fundamental to pressed before the handle and spou details which the Brown Betty sadly lost over the years, as they were cast in one-piece moulds to reduce manufacturing costs. lan, however,



globe. At first sight the spout of the historic pots he analysed appeared poorly finished, but they had been prevented knuckles burning on the preventing tea from dribbling back down the outside of the pot. To be opening - and just underneath the craftsman. The sharp edges at the rough-cut deliberately by a lip - cut the flow of water,

ensured a straight pour and almost certain that tea would not dribble a patented non-drip spout had been introduced as an optional feature. Functioning like a tap the spout magically eliminated drips.

been glazed in either the rich brown of the clay. Both have the advantage characteristic patina to lengthen the life of the pot. To prevent the lid Rockingham glaze, or a transparent glaze that reveals the natural colour falling out of the pot while pouring, the lid in the tilted pot slid forward an ingenious solution was reached: into a groove in its collar, locking 🗲 the red colour of the clay would be A classic Brown Betty would have of masking any tea stains on the teapot. If the glaze were chipped, contrasting clay - allowing a revealed - favourable to a

#### Fig. 178. Vitsoe Voice, issue 3 2020. Page 34/35

35





classic, not because of nostalgia, but because it's the best at what it does."4

lan's attention to detail has ensured

that the traditions of the pot have been maintained. This latest Brown Betty edition is intended to promote lan's latest edition was nominated for the Beazley Design of the Year 2018 at the London Design

beautiful and reliable utility object.

Or, as lan says:

everyday object that has transcended fashion but is a the legacy and value of this

Museum, Victoria & Albert Museum, Manchester Art Gallery Museum and is in the permanent collections of London Design

Brown Betty is a counterpoint to the

"On a personal note I feel that the

seemingly unending barrage of new

discontinued daily in the design products being launched and industry. I feel that this story

Brown Betty is available from and York Art Gallery.

reflects a dedication to a material or

a design, and the refinement of a process that has given rise to a

Labour and Wait

37

Fig. 179. Vitsoe Voice, issue 3 2020. Pages 36/37

In 2016 lan's research into the history of Brown Betty and his

washing.

remanufacturing this lustrous beauty. Taking great care to respect

**Together they set about** 

support this feature, the spout and the handle stay below the collar of the pot, which also means the pot could drain upside-down after

refinement that have gone before including the patented locking lid

and non-drip spout. Using the implemented new production

presented in an exhibition at Vitsœ's

practical investigations were

London shop. He showed moulds

the traditions and the years of

processes and design details to reinstate an authentic authentic clay, the collaboration

representation of a classic

Brown Betty.

cast using Staffordshire red clay. The culmination of this understanding of

the form and function of Brown

Lindley and Bloore teapot and pots

made from an original Alcock,

manufacturer of traditional redware and the oldest remaining maker of the Brown Betty teapot in the UK.

of Staffordshire, a small craft

Betty led to the development of his first prototype Brown Betty. Following this exhibition, lan teamed up with Cauldon Ceramics

> restored to horizontal, the lid released. A more discreet feature of to be stacked for storage by placing

it in position. When the pot was

this patented design enabled pots

the lid upside down in the pot. To



Fig. 180. Jasper Morrison instagram post on the RBB.

British designers and institutions such as Jasper Morrison and Margaret Howell, as well as Design Museum London and the Director of the V&A, Tristram Hunt, have posted on social media about the research.

Writing on Instagram, Jasper Morrison wrote: 'This project by lan McIntyre is a summary of a very traditional English teapot and consists of various practical modifications including details from previous models which make serving tea a simpler process. It was exhibited as part of this years [sic] London Design Festival. How refreshing, amid all the hype, entertainment and marketing, to be reminded of what design is really all about, just a thoughtful process of making things perform better, Bravo!'

Margaret Howell commented that: 'Ian McIntyre has delicately and subtly brought the Brown Betty into the 21st Century, while maintaining the characteristic shape and familiar appeal '(see Fig. 160. Boxed RBBs displayed on Ercol furniture in front of Margaret Howell quote. Margaret Howell Tokyo, Japan, 2021).

#### **Pedagogy and Public Talks**

Throughout this research I have coordinated, delivered and participated in lectures, panel discussions and workshops concerning the BB. On 22–25 March 2017, I presented this research at the National Council on Education for the Ceramic Arts in Portland USA. During the exhibition 'Brown Betty: the archetypal teapot 'at Vitsoe, 17–25 September 2016, I coordinated and chaired a public panel discussion about the BB teapot with the industrial designer Robin Levien and the tea trader Timothy d'Offay.

#### **Permanent Collections and Awards**

Subsequently, RBB editions were acquired for the permanent collections of institutions spanning the fields of both art and design, including: the Design Museum, London; the V&A, London; YAG (who have edition number of one of the first one thousand); and Manchester Art Gallery. The re-engineered edition was also the recipient of the Manchester Contemporary Art Fund and nominated for the Design Museum London's 'Beazley Designs of the Year', selected by international industry experts and exhibited at the Design Museum in 2018).

#### Beazley Designs of the Year 2018

A women's fashion line for men A game to help us outsmart fake news A reusable rocket for commercial space travel A designer's riposte to London landlords A journal that unravels global migration A self-healing skin for prosthetic and robot limbs A factory line that 3D prints in algae A global museum transported to the desert A graphic interface for a future-defining film A theatre wrapped in a translucent skin A hybrid writing system to promote peace A community library made of ice-cream buckets A smart furniture system for small homes A cardboard kit for adapting Nintendo consoles A cast of costumes for an Afro-future A multistorey mosque for a dense neighbourhood A mobile, solar-powered recycling plant A boot for Mars grown with human sweat A way of turning plants into nightlights A biodegradable alternative to single-use bottles A football kit for a new Nigeria A make-up range for all skin tones

Now in its eleventh year, the Design Museum's Beazley Designs of the Year award and exhibition showcase the most innovative, relevant and thought-provoking projects in contemporary design. From the first iPhone to Zaha Hadid's final building, the nominations for the award have spanned the fields of architecture, digital, fashion, graphics, product and transport. Introduced by Deyan Sudjic and guest curator Aric Chen of M+ in Hong Kong, this illustrated book brings together all the nominated designs for 2018, along with the reasons for their selection by an international group of design experts, practitioners and critics. It is a snapshot of the most exciting things happening in design today.

Eighty-five nominees are featured in this book, including

dio

OMA	Burberry
Gucci	fuseproject
SpaceX	Naoto Fukasawa
Nike	Amateur Architecture Stu
Erdem	Formafantasma
Nintendo	Jasper Morrison
Rihanna	Forensic Architecture
Sony	Telfar Clemens
nendo	Thomas Heatherwick

Fig. 181. Front and back cover of Beazley Designs of the Year catalogue 2018. ISBN 9781872005416

An update of a time-honoured teapot	UBA VBA		
Re-engineered Brown Betty teapot	Designed by lan McIntyre UK	This nomination is not for a single object, but for a body of work that meticulously uncovers the relationship between design, history, production and place. Ceramicist lan McIntyre set out to understand how the Brown Betty became ubiquitous in Britain. He worked alongside Cauldon Ceramics, the oldest surviving manufacturer, to ra-engineer the design and make it profitable once more. McIntyre found that the design had evolved over centuries to become what he describes as an anonymous and rational object stripped of anything superfluous. His Re-engineered Brown Betty brings back features from the 1920s, such as the 'locking fid' and 'non-drip spout', but tweaks to the pot's foot and neck allow it to be stacked and stored efficiently, and a loose-leaf tea basket has been added in response to contemporary tea-drinking habits. —VR	188 Product

Fig. 182. REBB foreward by nominator Vicky Richardson. Beazley Designs of the Year catalogue 2018. ISBN 9781872005416



Fig. 183. Installation View, Design Museum, Beazley Designs of the year; Image Luke Hayes.

#### Conclusion and contribution to knowledge

My collaboration with Cauldon Ceramics spans a total of seven years, with the Reengineered Brown Betty (RBB) teapot in continuous production for the last four years. The revitalised RBB is the physical outcome of this research, but inseparable to the physical outcome is new knowledge produced giving insight into how a designer can drive the revitalisation of a declining design icon. The combination of the knowledge held within this thesis and both new and re-discovered knowledge embodied by the RBB contribute to the revitalisation of a declining, long established and largely traditional industry.

During this research I have established a factual history of the teapot and rediscovered aspects of its forgotten innovative past, re-defined the cultural significance of the object, identified historical precedents informing the design and manufacturing of the object, developed, tested and launched a new product on international platforms, developed new markets, and cultivated and galvanised stakeholders. The RBB has raised both the commercial value and cultural significance of the object and its maker. The object has won awards and has been collected by international museums and institutions.

Below, I have addressed each of the project's research objectives in line with the aim of the CDA in order to demonstrate how the holistic design practices of the individual designer-maker can inform and enhance the design aesthetics and design practices of the industrial ceramic manufacturer. What follows is a synthesis and evaluation of the significant findings and a summary of the contributions to knowledge generated by the research. This is further organised according to three sections: 'Principal Findings', 'Conclusions from Findings', 'Contribution to Knowledge'. I reflect on the impact this research has already had on the field and the resulting ongoing relationship with CC.

#### Principal Findings

Objective 1. Develop an overview of the history of the Brown Betty teapot.

Research undertaken while artist-in-residence at AirSpace Gallery, Stoke-on-Trent (26 September – 7 November 2015), confirmed a lack of critical discourse on the BB teapot from designers and academics alike. Remaining manufacturers, I discovered, had recycled inaccurate information. I was surprised to learn from material accessed at Stoke City Archives, the name 'Brown Betty 'was first used in a 1978 Information Bulletin issued by the public relations department of Royal Doulton Tableware Limited, Stoke-on-Trent. This branding sought to frame the teapot as a British icon. Prior to this the exact same teapots were known simply as Rockingham or Samian. Using these names to access archives and libraries opened up a fuller historic perspective on its genesis. Through this research I have formalised and disseminated a largely unknown history of the BB teapot and defined what constitutes an original. This history enabled me to situate the cultural significance of the BB and to identify design and production precedents that contributed to a necessary and renewed understanding of the object.

The designer Robin Levien has been an advocate for the BB since first writing on it in the wake of the liquidation of ALB in the late 1970s. In 2006, cementing a growing consensus, the BB was compiled in the three volumes of *Phaidon Design Classics* – an attempt at canonising the 'greatest collection 'of industrial design dating back to the seventeenth century. Tim Parsons 'entry on the BB, although conventional in its received origin account, justifies its inclusion as being 'the archetypal teapot form'. However, the image used to represent the object was a Price & Kensington version made of white earthenware clay which I deem as unoriginal.

My research provides a more extensive and nuanced account, while recognising the cultural significance of the object according to its social, historical and aesthetic value. Although there is no definitive version of this object, within this thesis I have proposed that there are a number of key features that make a BB original. An impact of this research is that David Mellor store no longer claims that the Price & Kensington version is the 'Original Brown Betty'. The exhibition at AirSpace revealed to me the extent to which the object had 'devolved'. A shift occurred from my interest in merely telling a story to, at the end of the residency, believing that there was potential for CC and the BB to be at the centre of the PhD research.

Objective 2. Identify the defining features and the historical and contemporary methods of manufacturing the object.

An original BB is made from redware clay mined to produce teapots in Stoke-on-Trent for over 300 years. Its place-based origin accounts for several defining characteristics. The exhibition 'Brown Betty: the archetypal teapot 'at Vitsoe, London, during LDF 2016 unpacked these features. It was curated around a taxonomy of materials, design details, production processes, and distribution elements of thirty original ALB teapots that outline these characteristics. This taxonomy was informed by empirical observations of my collection of ALB BBs and my own skills as a maker to mould, cast and remake details from originals to decipher the production processes used.

I decided to focus on ALB's teapots because research led me to propose that while there is no singular definitive author of the BB, ALB were responsible for innovating notable design features and production processes. My taxonomy of ALB teapots was organised around fundamental observable functional characteristics of a teapot. I identified these as the following:

Spout, Handle, Lid, Glaze, Globe, Clay.

While I have pointed to historic originating precedents, it is not possible to locate a specific moment when the design characteristics of the archetypal BB were formalised. A slow process of evolution through continual iterative processes of minor changes has occurred over a long duration.

Through examination and iterative making, as detailed in Field 2, I was able to identify unrecorded historical production processes and techniques. Tacit knowledge was essential to producing knowledge.

#### **Conclusions from Findings**

Objective 3. Ascertain the cultural significance of the Brown Betty teapot in order to propose a case for its revitalisation.

In formalising a history of the BB and identifying the defining features and the historical and contemporary methods of manufacturing the object, I was able to demonstrate its cultural significance and note the extent to which its design had devolved. Twigger Holroyd defines a design product as having cultural significance if it has social value, historical value and aesthetic value (2018). These were the basis by which I promoted a more accurate understanding of the genesis of the object among industry, academia, CC and the general public in order to build a case for revitalisation.

Despite the vaunted iconic quality of the BB, the CC product, the last in production, was missing a number of its most innovative features. This devolution opened up the space for innovation enabled through revisiting historic patents, such as ALB's lock-lid and non-drip spout. There is a certain irony here: the contemporary development of the teapot required revisiting historic patents long out of production. It is precisely because the patent protection had expired that I was able to reintroduce and develop these features.

My proposal to re-engineer the BB hinged on four factors:



A BB made in Staffordshire has cultural significance;

• There is a lack of historical and contemporary understanding of the object and inconsistencies within the available literature;

 The design details of the product itself have deteriorated over the last 40 years indicating that the BB has both evolved and deteriorated;

The cultural significance of the object is being lost in the design, manufacture and promotion of both the contemporary Staffordshire made versions and overseas imported versions.

The revitalisation and preservation of the BB is crucial to raising the perceived economic and social value of the object, along with improving the future prospects of the manufacturing communities associated with its production.

Objective 4. Determine the range of existing design-led practices and academic methodologies that engage with revitalisation strategies within traditional ceramics manufacturing industries to explore a range of possible routes for the revitalisation of the Brown Betty teapot.

A study of design-led practices and academic methodologies informed my application of theory through tacit knowledge to develop physical revitalisation strategies that were tested live within the industry. This research enacts a practice-based application of the theoretical approach of a revitalisation strategy and in doing so makes a new contribution to knowledge. Where scholars such as Brownsword (2017) have curated meditations that re-evaluate know-how in Stoke-on-Trent, I understand this research as an active intervention.

#### **Contributions to Knowledge**

Objective 5. Revitalise the Brown Betty teapot and the processes and practices surrounding its manufacture.

I have recovered and innovated historic design details within a contemporary context, implementing new manufacturing techniques on the factory floor to improve the object's functionality and raise its perceived value. In Field 3 I have detailed the development of processes and practices in the manufacture of the RBB teapot. New moulding techniques were developed in order to accommodate the re-introduction of the non-drip spout and the locking lid. I have reintroduced the stacking facility, which, in theory, saves space on kiln shelves and thus firing costs and also saves on storage space on the CC workshop floor. These techniques were required to ensure the teapot could be manufactured affordably. Revitalisation in this research has also extended beyond

object design and production into the realm of branding. I have shifted the place-based character of the BB away from nationalistic identity towards localised narratives that foreground defining characteristics of the teapot. I consciously situated the RBB teapot within the market through careful retail, exhibitions, and the creation of new literature and product packaging in a bid to re-frame the object within both a commercial and cultural context.

Objective 6. Exhibit/launch the results of the major practice-based element at the BCB 2017 & London Design Festival 2018 (fulfilling the collaborative obligations set out in the application for this AHRC funded research).

While launching the teapot at the BCB 2017 & LDF 2018, it became evident to me the significance of curation, exhibition-making and the affordances of expanded display forms in museum, gallery and commercial spaces. Quality by association – with, for example, Labour and Wait or Margaret Howell – and the 'museum effect 'develops new audiences and raises the perceived value of the object. I believe that my placement of the RBB in these spaces, in addition to critical journalism, have been vital for reframing the product within a deeper historical lineage and producing interest and new knowledge.

The RBB has found audiences through a range of more mainstream outlets, including a film on YouTube and panel discussions. Of particular significance regarding the latter was the panel discussion at Vitsoe (17–25 September 2016) where I was able to draw Shaikh out of the factory to meet a range of key stakeholders, including key retailers. This open, discursive space staged a transparent dialogue about the historic value of the BB and its potential for revitalisation. These other skills – communications and networking – might be understood as post-industrial skills applied to an historic object of the industrial era.

Objective 7. Ascertain the effectiveness of the revitalisation project and draw out elements that may enable others to apply similar principles in new projects.

This PhD research has plotted the development and implementation of strategies to revitalise the processes and practices of design and manufacture traditionally associated with the production of the BB. The effectiveness of the revitalisation project can be gauged by a range of positive outcomes, not least, ongoing production and sales of the RBB by CC; extensive critical acclaim from mainstream and design press, as well as celebrated designers in the field; ongoing exhibitions and receipt of design awards; and awards from funding bodies.

Throughout Field 3 I have detailed the nuanced, situational practice-based approaches and design decisions which are informed by contextual research, the needs of the

manufacturer and the market in order to implement successful revitalisation strategies that have the potential to be applied to wider industrial interventions. Some of the most poignant strategies include relationship building and effective communication built on a comprehensive foundation of skills and recognition of cultural significance.

It was apparent to me early on in the research that it would be essential to develop a trusting working relationship with Shaikh. At the point when I began production work on the RBB teapot I had known Shaikh for three years. I had carried out my initial field trips to the factory, as detailed in Field 1, back in 2015 and Shaikh had visited the exhibition at AirSpace Gallery. It was evident that Shaikh had not understood the full value of his product in relation to its deep history and meaning. My research contributed to a shift in Shaikh's perception of my project and the teapot's value.

Likewise, from early on in the research I have cultivated key relationships with Margaret Howell, Labour and Wait and David Mellor, knowing that they will give the object longevity and have the potential to support it for the duration of their existence. I've been less focussed on approaching fashion-led retailers who may place a big order but may not sustain or stand by the product. This is not only a retail strategy, but a design philosophy. However, the object takes on a life of its own once it is in production and the manufacturer sells to whoever wants to buy. It has been exciting to see that CC have since supplied other prestigious retailers including Selfridges, Conran Shop and SCP.

The effectiveness of the revitalisation project to enable others to apply similar principles in new projects within declining ceramic manufacturing industries is a complex question. Without imposing the destructive practices of neoliberal 'efficiency', the success of this project is determined to a large extent by the quality of the relationship with the manufacturer. The significance of negotiated relationships in the collaborations needed to execute the design, production and retail of the object is a major insight in this research.

Throughout the research the often friendly nature of engagement with partners has occurred in an informal capacity. It has been necessary for me to pursue and formalise in writing offers of support from, for example, the British Council and CC.

Almost seven years on since the research began, the RBB teapot is still in production with the highest profit margin in CC portfolio. The interruption of goods and trade caused by Brexit has affected supplies of materials and led to shortages of glaze materials. Throughout 2021 there have been quality control issues due to inconsistencies in the supply chain. It has also been necessary for me to regularly carry out spot checks on the quality of the RBB. On CCs 'marketing it is – despite my own insistence – my name attached to the product.

CC has, for so long, focussed on production in order to merely keep afloat. As such, strategic innovations (whether in production, design, or mediation of product) could not be prioritised. My role as a designer-maker has not only been to fill this gap as an outsider but also to attract new opportunities and funding sources.

The RBB has plugged the BB into an earlier forgotten ethos as a product of deep design evolution, situating it as a counterpoint to the more superficial aspects of the contemporary design industry. The design philosophy and approach developed during this research has shifted my practice and enabled me to explore wider histories, deep design values and ethical positions. This in turn enables me to advocate for design in response to localised making with the view that it can function as a counterculture to globalisation and superficial fashions and trends. I believe the designer-maker can make powerful contributions to the development of new ways forward for culturally significant designs, products and practices in traditional manufacturing industries. I hope that the research presented within this thesis and embodied within the RBB go some way to enabling others to do the same.

#### **Beyond the PhD**

My role in developing new opportunities and strategies with CC has extended beyond the PhD. The visibility of this research led to the then current Labour MP Ruth Smeeth referring it to the Staffordshire Chamber of Commerce who encouraged me to apply to Staffordshire Business Innovation Centre for the factory to purchase a bomb printer and a jigger jolly machine and employ a new specialist member of staff. CC received £20,000 for new machinery on the basis that they employ a new operative. Working with these new resources I have designed a new product line and identity titled 'Cauldon Redware England 'for CC which the RBB will ultimately fall under. With The University of Keele, Staffordshire, I have coordinated an undergraduate placement with CC to research concepts of heritage and identify new marketplaces. This placement culminates in a student presentation identifying areas of investment. This has extended an ongoing and close relationship with CC along with wider stakeholders within this project and is an indication of the potential ongoing impact that this research has on the field.

#### References

**Primary Sources**
Caldeira-Pereira, N. (2019) *Ceramics Industry | UK Manufacturing Review 2019/20.* [Online] <u>https://ukmfgreview.com/sectors/ceramics-industry/</u>

City of Stoke-on-Trent. (2017) Stoke-on-Trent City of Culture Bid 2021. [Online] [Accessed on 18th July 2022]

https://webapps.stoke.gov.uk/uploadedfiles/CoC%20final%20bid%20summary%20book let\_V3.0%20web.pdf

Clark, H., Francis-Devine, B. and Powell, A. (2021) *People claiming unemployment benefits by constituency*, House of Commons Library [Online] [Accessed 29 September 2021] <u>https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-8748/CBP-8748.pdf</u>

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2019) Statistical Release.

Royal Doulton. (c.1978-80) 'Little Brown Pot'. *Royal Doulton Tableware Bulletin*. Public relations department.

*Stoke, the Brexit bellwether* (2017) POLITICO. [Online] [Accessed on 21st July 2022] https://www.politico.eu/article/stoke-the-brexit-bellwether/.

Trade records, The Special Collections Museum, Manchester Metroplitan University. Emery, W. (1926) 'The Red Clays of North Staffordshire '*Cox's Pottery Annual and Glass Trade Year Book*. 42.

UNESCO (2020) Basic Texts of the 2003 Convention for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage. UNESCO.

#### Secondary Sources

1882 Ltd | Design Driven Ceramics (n.d.) 1882 Ltd. [Online] [Accessed on 21st July 2022] https://1882ltd.com/.

Adamson, G. (2007) Thinking through craft. Berg.

Adamson, G. (2018) *Fewer, better things: the hidden wisdom of objects.* New York, Ny: Bloomsbury Publishing, Bloomsbury Publishing, Inc.

Ahlberg, Janet and Allan (1981) *Peepo!*, Viking Children's Books.

ALB Collectors Online: https://albcollectors.blogspot.com/.

Alexander, C. (2002) *Notes on the synthesis of form*. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard Univ. Press.

Allbutt, T, of Hanley. (1800) Map of the Potteries. The Staffordshire Directory

Allen, R. C. (2009) *The British Industrial Revolution in Global Perspective*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Andrews, R. (2019) *Pottery giant Dudson collapses into administration as 318 workers axed.* StokeonTrentLive. [Online] [Accessed on September 29th, 2021] https://www.stokesentinel.co.uk/news/stoke-on-trent-news/dudson-falls-into-administration-stoke-2720628.

Are we seeing a revival for Stoke-on-Trent pottery companies with China deal? Staffordshire Sentinel [Online] [Accessed on 22 May 2017] <u>http://www.stokesentinel.co.uk/tristram-hunt-seeing-revival-stoke-trent-pottery/story-20547877-detail/story.html</u>

Atkinson, P. & Whitaker, E.A. *Foundations - SAGE Research Methods* (n.d.) methods.sagepub.com. [Online] https://methods.sagepub.com/foundations/reflexivity.

Bailey, K. D. (1994) *Typologies and taxonomies: an introduction to classification techniques*. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage.

Bell, D. (1973) *The coming of post-industrial society: a venture in social forecasting.* New York, N.Y.: Basic Books.

Bertoli, R. (2021). *Designers rethink the candleholder for ceramics brand 1882 Ltd.* [online] Wallpaper\*. Available at: https://www.wallpaper.com/design/1882-ltd-designer-candle-collection [Accessed 5 Dec. 2021].

*Bjerregaard, P. (Ed.)* (2017) *EXHIBITIONS AS RESEARCH: experimental methods in museums.* (2021). S.L.: Routledge.

Bridgewater, E. (2017). *How an entrepreneurial potter helped restore beauty to a city. TED.* Available at:

https://www.ted.com/talks/emma\_bridgewater\_how\_an\_entrepreneurial\_potter\_helped\_ restore\_beauty\_to\_a\_city [Accessed 13 Feb. 2019] BridgewaterItd (2009). *How Sponge Decorating is done at the Emma Bridgewater Factory in Stoke-On-Trent, England. YouTube.* Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ivI2IOnHdI0 [Accessed 5 Dec. 2021].

Brown, Tim. "Design Thinking." Design: Critical and Primary Sources: Professional Practice and Design Theories. Ed. D. J. Huppatz . London: Bloomsbury Academic, 2016. 169–178. Bloomsbury Design Library. Web. 1 Dec. 2021. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.5040/9781474282932.0020">http://dx.doi.org/10.5040/9781474282932.0020</a>>.

Brownsword, N. (2017) Factory (Korean Ceramic Foundation), Dongjin Kim.

Candy, L. (2006). Practice Based Research: A Guide. *Creativity and Cognition Studios Report.* 1.

Carr, W. and Kemmis, S. (1986) *Becoming Critical: Education, Knowledge and Action Research*. London: Routledge/Falmer.

Casey, S. and Davies, G. (2020) *Drawing investigations: graphic relationships with science, culture and environment*. London ; New York (N.Y.) ; Oxford ; New Delhi ; Sydney: Bloomsbury Visual Arts. Copyright.

Corrigan, P. (2022). A dozen jobs axed at Gladstone Pottery Museum due to council budget cuts *Stoke Sentinel* [Online] [Accessed on 18 July 2022].

Daily Mail (2004) '40 Years of Habitat'. [London (UK)] 27 Feb. [online] [Accessed 2015].

Dalau, A., Christoph Martin Vogtherr, Eatwell, A., Hunterian Museum (Glasgow, Gb and Wallace Collection (Londres (2008) Boucher & Chardin: masters of modern manners: [exhibition, Wallace Collection, London, 12 June-7 Sept. 2008 ; the Hunterian Art Gallery, University of Glasgow, 24 Sept.-13 Dec. 2008]. Glasgow: Hunterian, University Of Glasgow ; London.

*Design by Vitsœ | Editorial 1 | Vitsœ* (n.d.) www.vitsoe.com. [Online] [Accessed on 21st July 2022] https://www.vitsoe.com/gb/voice/design-by-vitsoe.

Design by Vitsoe | Ethos | About us | Vitsœ (n.d.) www.vitsoe.com. [Online] <u>https://www.vitsoe.com/gb/about/ethos</u>.

Design by Vitsoe (2016). [online] [Accessed 2017] https://www.vitsoe.com/gb/news/vitsoe-listening-room-with-the-wire. Dorst, K. (2006). Understanding Design. Bis Publishers.

Eatwell, A. 'Boucher and Chardin'. 51. (cited from Jorge Taveras da Silva, 'Catarina de Braganca, the tea-drinking Queen?', in Brussels 1999. 19.

Elsner, J. and Cardinal, R. (1994) The cultures of collecting. London: Reaktion Books.

Emery, W. (1926) 'The Red Clays of North Staffordshire '*Cox's Pottery Annual and Glass Trade Year Book*. 42.

Ewins, N. (2017). Ceramics and Globalization. Bloomsbury Design Library.

Farrelly, L. and Weddell, J. (2016) *Design objects and the museum*. London ; New York: Bloomsbury, Bloomsbury Academic, An Imprint Of Bloomsbury Publishing Plc.

Farrer (Wedgwood). (1992) *Letters of Josiah Wedgwood; Holgate, New Hall; Robin Reilly, Josiah Wedgwood, 1730-1795*, Macmillan: London, 1992.

Felcey, H., Ravetz, A. and Kettle, A. (2017) *Collaboration through craft*. London: Bloomsbury Academic.

Giedion, S. (1970) *Mechanisation takes command: a contr. to anonymous history.* New York: Oxford Univ. Press.

Graves, A. (2012). *Contemporary Essay 1: Alun Graves.* CREAM. [Online] [Accessed on 21st July 2022] <u>https://cream.ac.uk/ceramics-research-centre-uk/essay-series/contemporary-essay-1-alun-graves-gb/</u>.

Graves, A. (2012). Design and Conquer Alun Graves interviews David Queensberry and Martin Hunt about their forty years at the forefront of international tableware design, *CERAMIC REVIEW* 255 May/June 2012. Available at: http://new.queensberryhunt.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/CR255\_36-39.pdf [Accessed 5 Dec. 2021].

Greenslade. N.W. & Jenkins. J.G. (1967). *The Victoria History of the County of Stafford.* notes *"the North Staffordshire Potter was dependent on local materials and made utility articles for Farmhouses and Cottages rather than for the tables of the great houses".* Oxford University Press

Greenslade, M,W. (1908) The Victoria History of the county of Stafford. 12.

Hedges, F. (2019). *What it's really like to revive the British ceramics industry*. [online] Harper's BAZAAR. Available at: <u>https://www.harpersbazaar.com/uk/people-parties/bazaar-at-work/a26465837/emma-bridgewater-life-lessons/</u>.

Hillis, K., Petit, M. and Nathan Scott Epley (2006) *Everyday eBay: culture, collecting, and desire*. New York: Routledge.

Hobsbawm, E and Ranger, T (1983), *The Invention of Tradition*, Cambridge University Press.

Holland, C. RSA Journal, April 1992. *Creativity and Industry: 25 years of the Queensberry Hunt Design Group.* 

*How Emily Johnson became a creative director* (n.d.) www.craftscouncil.org.uk. [Online] https://www.craftscouncil.org.uk/learning/craft-careers/craft-careers-how-emily-johnson-became-creative-director.

Hunt, T. (2021) Josiah Wedgwood: The man who designed Britain. S.L.: Allen Lane.

Huppatz, D. J. (2016) *Design: critical and primary sources*. London ; New York: Bloomsbury, Bloomsbury Academic, An Imprint Of Bloomsbury Publishing Plc.

Hutton, J. and Nasby, S. 'Store/Museum 'in Myzelev, A. (2020) *Exhibiting craft and design: transgressing the White Cube paradigm, 1930-present.* London: Routledge.

James, L. (2019) *Wedgwood confirms 103 job losses as consultation draws to a close*. StokeonTrentLive. [Online] [Accessed on September 29th, 2021] <u>https://www.stokesentinel.co.uk/news/stoke-on-trent-news/wedgwood-confirms-103-job-losses-2824468</u>.

Jarvis, J. (n.d.). *1882 Ltd's Emily Johnson has designs on keeping UK ceramics alive*. [online] www.holeandcorner.com. Available at: <u>https://www.holeandcorner.com/long-reads/1882</u>.

Jarvis, P. (1999) *The practitioner-researcher: developing theory from practice*. San Francisco, Calif.: Jossey-Bass.

Jeffries, S. (2006). *On Britishness* the Guardian. [Online] [Accessed on 21st July 2022] https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2006/may/15/beforewestartteachingbriti.

Kerr, J. (1968) The Tiger Who Came To Tea, HarperCollins.

Lawrence, H. (1974) Yorkshire Pots and Potteries, David & Charles Holdings Limited.

Leach, B. (1940) A potter's book. Faber & Faber.

Le Feuvre, L. (Ed.) (2010) Failure, MIT Press / Whitechapel Gallery.

Levien.R. (1992). 'The Brown Betty'. Design Magazine. Feb21. 76.

Luntz, F. (2022) *Flying your Union Jack should be celebrated not scorned! AN AMERICAN WRITES...* Express.co.uk. [Online] [Accessed on 21st July 2022] https://www.express.co.uk/comment/expresscomment/1615373/woke-politicalcorrectness-gone-mad-union-jack-queens-jubilee-Britain.

Lutyens. D. (2016) 'Ultimate Christmas gift guide for design fans'. Homes&Property. [online] [Accessed 2016]. <u>http://www.homesandproperty.co.uk/home-garden/interiors/design-news/ultimate-christmas-gift-guide-for-design-fans-design-museum-curators-and-top-designers-reveal-whats-a106791.html</u>

MacLeod, G. and Jones, M. (2018) 'Explaining "Brexit capital": uneven development and the austerity state. '*Space and Polity*, 22(2) pp. 111–136.

Marx, K. *Economic Manuscripts: Capital Vol. I — Chapter Fifteen* (n.d.) www.marxists.org. [Online] https://www.marxists.org/archive/marx/works/1867-c1/ch15.htm.

Matless, D. (1998) Landscape and Englishness, Reaktion.

Mccalman, I. (2001) An Oxford companion to the Romantic Age: British culture, 1776-1832. Oxford ; New York: Oxford University Press.

Leijonhufvud, A. (1986) Capitalism and the Factory System, in R. N. Langlois, ed., Economic as a Process: Essays in the New Institutional Economics. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1986, pp. 203-223.

Makela, M. (2005). *Knowing Through Making: The Role of the Artefact in Practice-Based Research*. Nordes. (Online) [Accessed 08 May 2017] http://www.nordes.org/opj/index.php/n13/article/view/194/177.

Mankowitz. W & Haggar. R. G. (1960) *The Concise Encyclopedia of English Pottery and Porcelain*. Andre Deutsch. 81-83.

Mareis, C. (2012) 'The Epistemology of the Unspoken: On the Concept of Tacit Knowledge in Contemporary Design Research. '*Design Issues*, 28(2) pp. 61–71.

Material Matters with Grant Gibson: 1882 Ltd's Emily Johnson on manufacturing ceramics in Stoke-on-Trent. on Apple Podcasts (n.d.) Apple Podcasts. [Online] [Accessed on 21st July 2022] <u>https://podcasts.apple.com/tr/podcast/1882-ltds-emily-johnson-on-manufacturing-ceramics-in/id1450375359?i=1000523138298</u>.

Mintz, S,W. (1993) 'The Changing Roles of Food in the Study of Consumption', in John Brewer and Roy Porter (eds.), *Consumption and the world of goods, London. 265-66.* 

Morrison, J. (2015) A book of things. Zürich: L. Müller, Cop.

Morrison, J. and Fukasawa, N. (2007) *Super normal: sensations of the ordinary*. Baden: Lars Müller Publishers.

Murphy-Hughes, Sheri (date unknown) *Alcock, Lindley & Bloore, 1919, Stoke-on-Trent, England, 1974*, self published.

Myzelev, A. (2020) *Exhibiting craft and design: transgressing the White Cube paradigm, 1930-present.* London: Routledge.

Nelson, R. (2013) Practice as research in the Arts. Palgrave Macmillan. 72.

Niedderer, K. (2007) 'Mapping the meaning of knowledge in design research', Design Research Quarterly, 2 (2) pp. 1-13

Ovington, J. (1699) An essay upon the nature and qualities of tea, Printed by and for R. Roberts, 1699.

Parsons, T. (2006) 'The Brown Betty. '*In* Alderson, S., Ball, R and Barber, E. (eds.) *Phaidon design classics*. London; New York, Ny: Phaidon Press.

Pearman. H (2001) Sunday Times. [online] [London (UK)] 29 Sep. [Accessed 2015].

Petroski, H. (1994). *The Evolution of Useful Things*. New York: Vintage Books, archive.org [Accessed 21 July 2022].

Pettigrew, J. and Richardson, B. (2014) *A Social History of Tea: tea's influence on commerce, culture and community*. Danville Benjamin Press.

Pitelis, C., Sugden, R. and Wilson, J. R. (2007) *Clusters and globalisation: the development of urban and regional economies*. Cheltenham, UK ; Northampton, Ma: Edward Elgar.

Pococke. R. (1989) 'The Travels Through England of Dr. Richard Pococke'. 7-8. Camden Society.

Polanyi, M. (1967) The tacit dimension. Garden City, New York: Doubleday.

Pye, D. (1978). *The Nature and Aesthetics of Design*. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.

Rams, D. and Harrington, C. (2016) *Weniger, aber besser = Less, but better*. Berlin Gestalten

Rendell, J. (2010) Site-writing: the architecture of art criticism. London: I.B. Tauris.

Richmond, K. Tsutsumi, M. (2011) Thingness. (Online) [Accessed 08 May 2017] https://thingnessofthings.wordpress.com/thingness-booklet/thingness-introduction/.

Ridge, M. (2002) Gone to pot. the Guardian. [Online] [Accessed 29 September 2021] https://www.theguardian.com/society/2002/may/29/guardiansocietysupplement.

Samuel, R (1994) *Theatres of Memory: Past and Present in Contemporary Culture*, Verso.

Sanders, Elizabeth B.-N., and Pieter Jan Stappers. "Co-creation and the new landscapes of design." Design: Critical and Primary Sources: Professional Practice and Design Theories. Ed. D. J. Huppatz . London: Bloomsbury Academic, 2016. 42–56.

Schön, D. A. (1983) *The Reflective Practitioner: How Professionals Think in Action*. New York: Basic Books.

Shaw. S. (1829) *History of the Staffordshire Potteries*. Archive.org [Accessed 21 July 2022].

Shaw. S. (1900) *The Chemistry of the several natural and artificial heterogeneous compounds used in manufacturing porcelain, glass and pottery.* 126. 416. London, Scott, Greenwood.

Smith, W. D. (2002) *Consumption and the making of respectability, 1600-1800.* New York: Routledge.

*Staffordshire Evening Sentinal* (1939) 'Death of William Bloore'. Jan12. [online] [Accessed 2015 British Newspaper Archive].

Staffordshire Evening Sentinel (1931) 'New Vulcan Works'.. [online] [Accessed 2015 British Newspaper Archive].

Stappers, Pieter Jan. "Prototypes as a Central Vein for Knowledge Development." *Prototype: Design and Craft in the 21st Century*. By Louise Valentine. London: Bloomsbury Academic, 2013. 85–98.

Stemp, S. W. 'Isaac Button of Soil Hill Pottery', Pottery Quarterly: A Review of Ceramic Art, Vol.8, No. 29, 1963.

Taylor, Damon. 'Gallery Envy and Contingent Autonomy: Exhibiting Design Art. 'in L. and Weddell, K. (Eds.) *Design Objects and The Museum*. Bloomsbury Academic. 91–96

The British Pottery manufacturers federation standard exporter (1929).

Thomas, J. (1971). The rise of the Staffordshire potteries; Bath, Adams And Dart.

Ukers, W. H. (1935/2018) All about tea / Vol. I. Rio Akasaka.

Valfré, P. (2000) Yixing: teapots for Europe. Poligny: Exotic Line.

Vallerand, O. (2020) *Unplanned visitors queering the ethics and aesthetics of domestic space*. Montreal, Que. Mcgill-Queen's University Press.

*Van Oostveen, J.S.A. (1987)* Schets can het steengoed van *yixing'*, exhibition catalogue from the museum Het Princessehof, Leeuwarden. *pp.*68–69.

Vaughan, L. (2019) Practice-based design research. London: Bloomsbury Visual Arts.

Walker, S. (1992) Queensbury Hunt: Creativity and Industry. Fourth Estate.

Walker, S., M Evans, Cassidy, T., Jung, J. and Amy Twigger Holroyd (2018) *Design Roots: Culturally significant designs, products, and practices*. London: Bloomsbury Visual Arts.

Watson, L. (2021). *Emma Bridgewater reveals plans to open third warehouse in Stokeon-Trent*. [online] Business Live. Available at: https://www.businesslive.co.uk/commercial-property/pottery-giant-emma-bridgewater-reveals-19673589 [Accessed 5 Dec. 2021].

Wedgwood. Josia. C. (1913) *Staffordshire Pottery and Its History*. S. Low, Marston&co. Itd.

Whipp, R. (1990) *Patterns of Labour: Work and social change in the pottery industry,* Routledge.

Who is Emma Bridgewater? Everything you need to know (n.d.) Your Home Style. [Online] [Accessed on 21st July 2022] https://www.yourhomestyle.uk/home-decor/whois-emma-bridgewater/.

Worpole, K. (2009). *Modern Hospice Design: The Architecture of Palliative Care*, Routledge.

Wright, P (1985) On Living in an Old Country: The National Past in Britain, Verso, London.

Yagou, A. (2005) Rethinking Design History from an Evolutionary Perspective, The Design Journal, 8:3, 50-60, DOI: <u>10.2752/146069205789331556</u>

#### **Archives and Collections**

Cauldon Ceramics, Stoke-on-Trent. Isaac Button in the W.A. Ismay collection, York Art Gallery Stoke City Archives

#### **Patents Sourced**

Patent registration for ALB's locking lid design, GB358746 (A).

#### <u>Appendix</u>

#### i.

# Transcription of panel discussion held as part of the exhibition 'Brown Betty: the archetypal teapot', Vitsoe, London, during the London Design Festival, 17–25 September 2016

**Ian McIntyre**: The exhibit comprises of a snapshot of the history and evolution of the Brown Betty teapot, specifically focussing on Alcock, Lindley and Bloor who were operating from 1920–79 and I see them as one of the most innovative makers of the Brown Betty, but they're no longer operating. In terms of my background, I am a ceramicist and a researcher. I hold a Collaborative Doctoral Award with Manchester School of Art in collaboration with York Art Gallery and the British Ceramics Biennial. Really this exhibition is a case study within my research. At the moment my research examines the role of craft practice within manufacturing.

We're really lucky to be joined by Timothy D'Offay and Robin Levien. Tim is founder of Postcard Teas and aside from having a great deal of knowledge on the production and consumption of tea he also has a great deal of knowledge on the social history and culture of tea drinking. He is also, in my opinion – or he seems to be – incredibly passionate about the provenance of the tea that he sources in terms of its sustainability but also the craft practices that surround teamaking and tea drinking. He often collaborates with master craftspeople in Postcard Teas and he works with a few different craftspeople who he also stocks in Postcard Teas. He's brought three teas tonight for a tasting and these teas will reflect some different points in the 300 year history of the evolution of the Brown Betty teapot.

Robin Levien is a partner at Studio Levien, which is a product design company near the Tate. I've heard Robin describe a lot of the work Studio Levien does as 'design through making 'or 'design through modeling', so there's also a real attention to craft practice within Robin's work. He's also a really big fan of the Brown Betty teapot and actually first introduced me to the object when I was an intern at his studio probably eight years ago. Robin is going to talk later through some of his favourite details about the pot.

We're also really lucky to have Zamir here, who is the current and longest remaining maker of the Brown Betty teapot in Stoke-on-Trent. Thank you very much for coming. Hopefully you don't mind if I field a few questions to you later.

A quick note about why it's in Vitsoe. I used to work for Vitsoe from 2010–13. I built cabinets in the Camden workshop at Vitsoe. It was evident to me from the start that they didn't operate as what I assumed a normal design company would do – it wasn't about designing and launching products at the beginning of each new season. At Vistsoe the process is very much about refining and streamlining the systems that were already in

place and in that sense I feel that Vitsoe fits really nicely with the Brown Betty along with this sense of evolution. The Vitsoe system is permanently being tweaked and honed and refined and the Brown Betty as you will see throughout this talk is an object of evolution too.

Because it's an object of evolution and it's completely unauthored it's very unclear as to who the first makers of the pot were so when I talk about the Brown Betty I'm kind of referring to a typology. There were a number of different makers making it at any one time and each of them made their own mark on the object over the years.

This exhibition focusses, as I've said, on Alcock, Lindley & Bloore, but the story really goes right back to the refinement of the red clay in Stoke-on-Trent. This clay was refined from 1693–95 by two Dutch brothers who had moved from Germany to Staffordshire who actually had silversmithing backgrounds. God knows what they were doing in Staffordshire with the red clay! They started working in an area in North Staffordshire called Bradwell Woods and prior to their emergence in Staffordshire the local potteries were family run, making very crude articles like butter pots and milk pots for farmers to transport their wares to market. The emergence of the Elers brothers ' refinement was really seen as a key catalyst for the proliferation of industry in Stoke. There were new technological and artistic developments that preceded the industrial catalyst of using red clay which was predominantly the material that would compete against teapots that were coming in from China.

Once the Elers brothers started making pots from this clay it was seen as being one of the few clays in the UK that would reliably withstand the thermal shock of boiling water. They started making teapots in competition with the Chinese wares and also in imitation of the Chinese wares. So initially the redware teapots looked very different to the Brown Betty as we know it today. I'm going to hand over to Tim now who is going to give us a little more background on tea and a brief mention of some of the first pots to emerge from Yixing.

**Tim**: I'll try. I'm here to speak a little bit about tea. Please ask me any questions or interrupt me at any time. I have brought an accomplice. This is a rather strange pot. This is a Yixing pot made just off Bond Street by a Chinese Yixing tea master in about two hours. It's slab built.

Robin: I can't get my head around that. It looks like a moulded or a thrown one.

**Tim**: It's made like in a band. He hammered it out on our table and then put it together. Then it was fired in St Ives. Obviously you can see similarities that we may talk about

later. If I take the lid off do feel free to pass it around as I talk about tea in China. This form of tea comes quite late. Loose leaf tea only really comes into being *en masse* in the Ming period. The first Ming emperor decrees that tea should be loose leaf. Before that a lot of the tea was made and pressed into cakes. So about the time this teapot comes into being there were – about 1500 or so – the first real large examples that come from this town called Yixing, which is also one of the names of the clay of 1550–1530. That was sparked off by that first Ming dynasty emperor decreeing that tea shouldn't be sold in cakes, then ground up and whisked, a little like in the Japanese tea style, but it should be sold loose, possibly for the aromatic qualities of the tea because when it was pressed before it had wax on it – it was known as wax tea – things like camphor wax – so that scented the tea and possible when they pressed the tea they put better quality leaves on the outside and not so good ones on the inside. Therefore, they were cheating people. If you could see it loose you could see the quality of the tea and determine what you really wanted to buy.

Anyway, with the invention of this in the 1550s onwards it starts to take off in China and it starts to be transported. And that's how we get it. I guess by early 1600 or so tea starts to reach Europe. It reaches Portugal first and then it reaches us around about 1640 or so. You get lots of references to it in the 1660s. In 1660 Samuel Pepys mentions it. He says he had a cup of China The. He's drinking mainly green tea and that is how they refer to it. Slightly later than that there is a dark tea which everyone here refers to as a black tea, but it's probably not black tea as we know it. The tea that they most talk about is a Wuyi tea and that is the tea that Anna has kindly made for us. Great timing! And so this is a roasted Oolong tea. This comes from a very famous cliff in China in the Wuyi mountains by a great maker called Master Xu. This is a roasted Oolong tea called [inaudible].

All the descriptions we have of black tea around that period, there's a chaplain called John Ovington who was chaplain to the East India Company, he describes this tea as being 'roasty','dark', and he describes it has having medicinal effects, which is something the Chinese associate with this tea. So we're pretty sure we're talking about the same thing. The other reason why we think that this is the first prototype black tea is that the other teas of this area of Wuyi are like Lapsang. We only have definite dating of those in about the mid-nineteenth century so much, much later than the seventeenth century when these teas first arrives. I think milk first comes in, it seems to be a French custom, there is a lady of letters in the 17th century, I think her name is Madame de Sevellier, and another woman writes about her that she put a little bit of milk in her tea just to soften it. Ten years later it becomes *de rigueur* in London, probably more with the black than the green, although we know there are instances when they drank it with the green too. The English had a taste for all things Chinese. Later on in the nineteenth

century they get a taste for all things Japanese. Really in the seventeenth and particularly in the eighteen century we go China mad. You see it in the design of Chippendale and this real interest in Chinoiserie. This is partly to do with a very big economic boom. We're booming so we have the money to an extent to buy the tea. This exoticism of the Chinese things is what we're after. We import lots of Yixing tableware, we import lots of beautiful porcelain, which we try and copy. We try to gild it and do other things from here, export it.

Ian: Was it the case that the teapots coming in were packed with tea?

Tim: I think they were used as ballast too.

lan: So the pots weighed down the light ships.

**Tim**: Absolutely. They were put in the bottom of the ship, so I'm told, and the tea was put on top. It took a long time. One of the reason maybe why this stronger tea became popular was that on a long trip, this tea may have been six months to a year old by the time it got from Wuyin which is in the heart of Fucheng, down the river to Xiamen, before being shipped out to Hong Kong. I think it was more robust and better for the long trip than the more delicate green tea. Even today with modern storage green tea doesn't tend to last much more than a year in modern vacuum packing.

This tea comes. We can't get enough of it. This is a problem. It's costing a lot of money. The currency was silver. The Chinese would only deal in silver. A lot of it came from South America. To get the silver to pay for it the East India Company at the time was running India was trying to sell the Chinese cottons, indigoes, but the Chinese had silks, hemps and they had other forms of indigo, so they really weren't interested. They then turned, as you probably know, to selling, very cleverly, through agents, opium.

They took 90% of what their agents sold direct to the Chinese and then they used 90% of the silver and they paid for tea that way. It occurred to them that if they could somehow get the tea out of China which was really the only producer – Japan had some tea but really a small amount compared to China and they weren't exporting – so what they did was send one of the most famous plant hunters, Robert Fortune who is linked with Kew and Chelsea Physick Garden, as well as other plant hunters, to lots of places, but particularly the famous place for black tea, Wuyi, who made three expeditions there disguised as a Chinaman, which sounds a bit strange to us, but probably wasn't that strange because it's such a vast country. I know when I travel in India I never get mistaken for being Indian but some of my European friends that can speak good regional dialect or Hindi when they've lived in India for a couple of years

people don't always see them as European because their mannerisms and their dress looks more Indian. So he spoke a little bit of Mandarin too and he took vast amounts of plant material. He took them in Wardian cases on the ships, a bit like those 1970s sealed glass jars, where you keep things in them, and he kept the seedlings alive. They took them to Calcutta, which was then a part of the British Raj, and from there on they went to Darjeeling.

We're not actually going to try a Darjeeling next, we're going to try an Assam. Assam was the last part of India that the British conquered. It was one of the most resistant parts. The Ahom people who were there were very proud and had ruled, I think, from the fourteenth century and when they conquered there was an Englishman, actually a Scotsman – better get it right – in the early 1820s, who found some local tribes chewing something and then they later found that to be the other major variety of tea which is camellia [inaudible] sasanqua. That was sent to the same botanical gardens that had the Wuyi tea which went up to Darjeeling and worked well but for a long time they considered it didn't look like tea. It had a larger leaf than the smaller leaf variety that had come from China. After some tests they determined it was tea and they found that that variety produced more tea and worked better in the flatter environment of Assam. So what they did was produce really large farms.

If you can deal with political events, at that time they had abolished slavery and the British patted themselves on the back about that but then they introduced indentured labour so they had vast amounts of labour to operate these new estates. They cleared land and forest and then people from places like Arrissa, some from West Bengal, and further afield, were brought to Assam. Sadly in huge amounts, sometimes 8–10% of the workforce, disappeared every year through illness. Lots of British planters died too. Huge amounts of malaria because of the conditions. But they produced a tea which became known as the British tea and that is the tea which Anna is making for us and we will try soon.

This Assam doesn't come from a huge estate. We have tried to change the way that business is done. We're trying to work with small farms. In Assam large farms are still the norm. Two thousand, three thousand acres is very normal, maybe three or four thousand people living on the estates, often in bad conditions. The BBC did an expose last year which we were partly involved with. People are paid about £1.20 a day. The working conditions and housing are less than perfect. Lots of people still speak their local dialect although they have been in Assam for well over one hundred years. So things change but they change very slowly. We work with one small family who have about ten acres under tea. If you think of Trafalgar Square – Trafalgar Square is about two acres, so ten times that. Because they are so small and they are trying to do

something different we work with them to double any occasional hard labour to about  $\pounds 2.40$  per day. This tea is not as processed. Probably as the British got bigger and bigger estates they brought in more and more machinery so they could make more and more quantities of tea and deal with it in a different way.

**Ian**: So is this tea we're tasting now something similar to what might have been used in a Brown Betty teapot?

**Tim**: This is the tea which would have been very prevalent in the mid-nineteenth century. It 's from about 1850 onwards that British empire tea really starts to take off. By about 1890 or 1900 it is a real trickle of Chinese tea compared to the British-Indian tea, the Sr Lankan tea, then East African tea. It is this tea that then is passed on to other places. This variety becomes the dominant tea taste.

lan: And that would have been fairly cheap to buy?

**Tim**: Fairly cheap. Because it wasn't a foreign product the duty levels were very different. That is another reason why it was cheaper. I think, though, they cut the duty anyway on tea when window tax was associated with it. The history of the taxation of tea is another big thing in America, of course.

**Robin**: The Brown Betty, I think, as we know it is around 1890 so you would think that the lower cost of tea would be happening at the same time as needing an affordable pot?

**Tim**: Yes, by 1890 when the Chinese tea virtually disappears from English audiences because they're being told to buy British empire tea. Yes. It makes sense. If you look at the size of tea caddies they start, the Georgian tea caddies are tiny with beautiful fruit shapes – apples and pears. They're mainly hollowed out. There is a tiny section with a lock for tea. And by the end of the Victoria time they're huge tabletop masterpieces with a blending bowl in the middle and four big canisters.

The size completely changes and I guess the tea pot sizes from the early Yixing pot to the Brown Betty get bigger and bigger and bigger. Interestingly, in the early twentieth century we get the tea that we're going to try last, which is an English breakfast tea. I think Twinings, an early Richard Twinings, in the early nineteenth century, first came up with the idea of blending for consistency. Tea is made usually in lots in little invoices and you either don't blend them or you do. The idea of blending is to have a consistency so when people come back they go 'Yes, that is a similar tea as before'. But if you look at a place like Darjeeling where they might be making five or six different invoices from different parts of the farm or estate every day. So one from over there. Twenty pickers from over there would pick 600kg of green leaf, which translates as 150 kilos of dried leaf, and then another team of twenty pickers would do it from another part. They're all quite different. One way to do it is to bulk it up and blend the estate or a tea merchant does it. English breakfast actually comes in and has a little Keemun. Chinese tea tends to be expensive but it was traditionally a blend of Assam, Sri Lankan or Salong tea and then a little bit of Keenum. It was supposed to be a strong tea. It's a strong tea to drink with milk. I think milk comes in and is embraced, sugar when it becomes cheaper too, the British plantations of sugar make it affordable to working people and this idea of blends really takes off and you get all the different labels. Red Label, which people trusted. They used to blend all of them countrywide. So you'd have a countywide blend. Sainsbury Red Label but it would be slightly adjusted for the water in different places.

Robin: How many varieties of tea are there in the average teabag?

**Tim**: I don't know about that but in this one there are – I don't know the precise number – but in this... You would expect probably around at least twenty and they usually buy by contract rather than by auction. This has South American. Twinings English breakfast has twenty percent South American tea which they don't refer to because it's not what people expect. They expect it to be Indian and maybe Sri Lankan, and maybe African. Kenyan tea is a big producer. I wouldn't know the exact.

**Robin**: I was thinking when you mentioned the wax around the tea blocks that didn't enable you to get at it and find out what it was like. Things go around in circles, don't they? That's a teabag!

**Tim**: Absolutely. It is strange. It came in in the fifties but were largely ignored until the end of the sixties. I was born in 1969. Then three percent of English customers drank teabag tea. Ninety-seven percent drank loose leaf as late as the sixties. Now it is the exact opposite. About ninety percent is teabag tea. This is I think the teabag tea. They had to invent a new process to make it brew quickly in teabags. It's not sweepings off the floor. It's a kind of macerated tea leaf to produce something strong and flavourful very quick. It's not bad. CTC tea, crush, tear and curl, can be pretty good. It's never usually as interesting as the whole leaf orthodox teas you tried a little bit earlier. It does satisfy need. I think the marketing of tea has been very responsible for making people very attached to their particular blends or brands. We have people who love PG Tips but then will love really special leaf Japanese or Taiwanese or Chinese teas. I think it's strange that this is often the case.

lan: Is this CTC?

### Tim: CTC.

lan: Would that have been large leaves when it was early 1900s.

**Tim**: Yes, early English breakfast would have been. It's only really from the fifties onwards that CTC starts taking over and now there are places in Assam... There are large areas in traditional leaf tea culture which don't produce whole leaf teas anymore. It's not worth them doing it.

lan: Because most loose leaf tea runs straight through the ... ?

**Tim**: This is another thing to do with the size of the holes in Brown Betties and that. With a whole leaf tea you still may need a strainer but very few leaves would go through but of course you get fortune telling. What would we do without fortune telling? Which we can't do anymore. For me the problem with teabags, apart from the taste, is that you lose your relationship with the tea and it all becomes about brand. So you're not really a connoisseur. You're a connoisseur of brand but not the leaves. You can hardly smell it because it's very small and designed to brew quickly. It's a design problem as well as it's designed for convenience and portability.

**Robin**: By some fluke the Brown Betty teapot is good for teabags. The round shape, they settle just below the grid and they enable the tea to come out. That was a fluke three hundred years ago or whatever. It's adaptable.

**Tim**: Please don't tell me you preferred the last one! They're very different and, as I said, people's attachment to certain things, if you give me a cup of PG with milk and sugar, it tastes pretty good and nostalgic.

lan: Do you want to move onto some of the details on the pot, Robin?

**Robin**: Yeah I'll give it a go. Ian already mentioned that his interest in the Brown Betty started when he did a placement with us at Studio Levien six or seven, maybe longer, years ago.

#### lan: 2007.

**Robin**: He was at the Royal College at the time. When students arrive I say if you've got a project you want to work on by all means carry on – [inaduble] over there did a similar thing – and then if you haven't got a project and you want me to set you one it's always the same. It's a teapot. Because actually a teapot is one of the hardest things to design

is a teapot and then usually within about ten minutes I go and get my Brown Betty and I say that's a good teapot. If you can design one as good as that you have done well.

That is in a way the beginning in lan's interest in the Brown Betty and it's lovely to see how it's flowering into this exhibition. And then my early interest in it came in around the late 1970s when Alcock, Lindley & Bloore was bought by, actually it was before then, in the early seventies, it was bought by Doulton, Royal Doulton, and then in about 1979 the news came through to the ceramics world that they were going to close it down. We were horrified because our beloved Alcock, Lindley & Bloore brown teapot was gonna be no more.

I was given a project as a youngish design to design it and try to keep it going. So I got hold of a Brown Betty and started drawing it and drawing it was an amazing process of discovery because I was finding out all sorts of things about it that I didn't know and which were really quite interesting. One thing, for example, if you invert the lid, the handle and the spout don't come up above the lid and you can stack them on boards. So there's a picture here. You see this massive stack of pots. So there are design elements to this – it's a cradle to grave idea. The consumer having one pot would never know and never really need to know. Although because the handle and spout don't come up above the top you can invert it and there is one over there that you can see upside down which is brilliant for draining. When you wash the pot up you flip it over and it drains.

There are other fascinating things about it. The body of the pot on these ones was made on a thing called a jolly. Anyone know what a jolly is? It's a spinning mould and you have a thing called a swing arm jolly. It's a tool that swings in, pushes the clay into the mould and then you get the body of the pot made by a rotating process. That is no longer how the Brown Betty teapot is made. Nowadays they make it in a mould. You can see in the top. That is from Cauldon. That is one of the Cauldon moulds. If you look at that the spout and the handle are part of the mould so when they used to make the Brown Betties they made the body as a completely separate part and then they made the spout. We can actually pass a few spouts around. Ian has done such a clever job – have a spout [laughter]. One for the second row. This is very anoraky. I feel slightly embarrassed. There are things about this that... I love it. Anyway I'm holding the wrong pot.

lan: I thought you were going to illustrate the locking...

**Robin**: If you look at that spout it's moulded in two parts and it has a seam running around it.

lan: There is one running round with the seam line left on.

**Robin**: There is a process when you make pottery and moulds called fettling where you remove the seam and what they have done on this particular design is that they have left a little bit of the seam at the top delivering what they call non-drip and it's very sharp. This is where I do my lecture on non-drip. This thing is called the non-drip spout but actually you want a teapot to drop, okay. It's much more catchy to talk about a non-drip teapot but you want it to drop because when you pour and stop pouring you want the drip to come off the spout and land in the cup because it's the drip that doesn't that dribbles down and makes a stain on the table. So what the world needs is a non-dribble teapot. It doesn't sound so good but the non-drip, you want them to drip and that little sharp bit on the end of the spout which is normally finished, sponged and smoothed, if you feel it with your thumb under the spout of the Brown Betty teapot it's really sharp and that cuts off the liquid and makes it drip. Dripping is a good thing.

**Ian**: That's one of the really nice things about the pot because there are lots of details on it that look at the outset that they could be badly made but actually it's a purely rational, functional object.

**Robin**: Yes, there's something slightly crude. So then the process of making this by spinning you get another possibility which is that you can mould into the collar the groove, okay, and that means that when you start pouring the liquid slides into the groove. Wanna risk it? Everybody does that when they pour. Not like the Brown Betty There is a hole in the knob and that enables the air to go in and the tea comes out.

lan: Stop it glugging.

**Robin**: Tipped it forward, doesn't come out. And so that groove in there is unique to this pot. Most teapots there's the little, what would you call it, the little snip, the tag, which hooks underneath. The Brown Betty doesn't have that. It's a machine made pot with little turning on the lid to make a detail. The handle is cast. You've gotta balance up the handle and spout so all the teapots we've ever done – we don't know why it's there but we never break – we always make the top of the spout and the top of the handle on the same level. This particular handle is nice and high so the balance is very, very good and what you mustn't do on a teapot is make the end of the spout too low because you fill it up and then you pick it up and as soon as you pick it up it tips forward and then it starts coming out before you want it to. So you want the spout to be nice and high and the handle. This is the perfect balance. This is the so-called non-drip version of the Brown Betty.

lan: Yeah, that was patented, the spout and the lid, were patented in 1921.

**Robin**: Really? What's different about the lid that is patented?

lan: It was patented as a locking lid in 1921. There's the lock lid.

Robin: We've learnt a lot about this pot. So that came in relatively late.

lan: Well, Alcock, Lindley & Bloore officially opened in 1921. Then shut in '79.

**Robin**: I describe this as the best teapot never designed. And I don't think anyone would put their name to having designed it. People talk about the Elers, so it has evolved as a thing and the different factories that made it all made it slightly different.

**Ian**: There was Sadler. Gibsons. Gibsons have the world record for the biggest teapot. One thousand fifty cups it would make – that was a Brown Betty. Alcock, Lindley & Bloore I think were definitely the most innovative. The nice thing you're describing with the locking lid is the inversion. The thing I really like about those details is I don't think many designers now necessarily think about designing for the factory.

Robin: Correct.

**Ian**: Because you don't need to. How often do you need to think about when you're designing something for the Far East.

Robin: No, you do. We always worry about making it easy to make.

lan: But for storage and things that are a bit more...

Robin: I don't know what other aspects of this pot are of particular interest.

lan: There's the grid.

**Robin**: Yeah okay. Because you've moulded on the machine the body of the pot the tea has to come out so they hand punched, how many holes six or seven... ? **Ian**: It varied.

**Robin**: They hand punched in the wet clay and then you stick the spout on with more clay over that grid and that grid stops tea coming out. If you opened up a tea bag now

and emptied it into a Brown Betty all the tea would be in the cup so those early days of larger tea leaves, fragments of tea leaves, that would have retained the tea. As I say, teabags now sit just in the bottom there below the spout and they work really well.

And of course the other amazingly obvious thing about the Brown Betty is the Rockingham glaze which is manganese and Iron in like a glass making that lovely colour. Can you imagine how quickly you would chuck away your teapot if it was white. This particular one after years and years of use it would be brown because of the staining of the tea. Rockingham glaze is the perfect glaze for a teapot because you don't notice the staining of the tea. Even if it's chipped a bit the body underneath is the red colour and you don't notice. If you chip something you say this is awful I'm going to throw it away. But you can live with it a bit longer because it's actually red coloured and blends in. I looked earlier today... Stop me if I'm rambling... I looked earlier today at the Dieter Rams ten commandments, and I wondered how many of those would the Brown Betty teapot meet? So they basically go innovative, I'm not so sure how innovative the Brown Betty is...

#### lan: Two patents!

**Robin**: Two patents, tick! Useful, no need to discuss. Aesthetic, well aesthetics are a matter of taste. Someone once said to me that aesthetics is something that other people don't have. Understandable. It's pretty obvious what this thing does. We're on number four, tick. Unobtrusive. Fits into your life doesn't it? You almost don't notice it.

**Ian**: That's another reason why so little is known about the object. It fits into the fabric of everyday life. It's un authored. There is no ownership. There is really very little written about it.

**Robin**: Sir Hugh Casson who used to run the Royal Academy and was head of one of the departments at the Royal College was known for his definition of good design, and he said design is easy to live with. I've really followed that in my career. This is one of those. It's easy to live with. It's honest. Long lasting. Well providing you don't drop it they just go on and on. All about detail. Well you've heard me going on about the details. It's full of amazing detail. That's eight. Environmentally friendly. Where are we on that?

lan: Long lasting.

Robin: Long lasting. Tick! As little design as possible. This is his tenth point.

lan: There's no styling whatsoever.

**Robin**: It's purely about how it is made, that pot. Every aspect of it is just coming out of how it is made. I think it is an absolutely marriage made in heaven sitting on the 606 product.

lan: Are you sales?

**Robin**: We have it at the studio. We have it at the studio. I love both. To bring both together is a masterstroke. If you look at the shelving, We have exposed screws. It's honest. It's almost undesigned which is why it's become a classic. It's got a way to go to catch up with the Brown Betty but this is back in the sixties but it looks really fresh today. The two products share that quality of not being design. Being honest. Fitting into your life. We've got ten out of ten. Maybe there are some questions?

Speaker (Linda?): Can you talk about these two because they are different.

**Ian**: There is a clear and a Rockingham glaze. The one on the right was the terracotta, the red Etruria Marl Staffordshire clay below a clear glaze. The one on the left is the Rockingham. I think because there are loads more Rockinghams than clear that Rockingham was actually a preference because it helped cover up a lot of the flaws if you look at all the clear glaze stuff it does quite defected underneath.

Speaker: I mean the shape.

**Ian**: This is the classic shape. Alcock, Lindley & Bloore made a non-drip collection and a classic spout. That's the difference. In terms of the colour finish there is a clear glaze and a Rockingham. I think the Rockingham was for quality control. They were making them so fast in the factory. The pots have always been so cheap and utilitarian. The Rockingham helps cover up the hand marks, the fettling. Is that the case at Cauldon, Zamir, that Rockingham helps disguise any flaws in the fettling if a seam is left or a detail in the clay?

**Zamir**: That is correct. Also the thickness, the application of the glaze is heavier so it does that job properly.

lan: It's a lot more difficult to produce a clear one in terms of quality control.

Zamir: Yes it is.

**Robin**: I'm going to embarrass you a bit now Ian. He's taken on the idea of designing a twenty-first century Brown Betty which I think is a fantastically good idea and a really, really tough brief and I've been the guardian of the brief for Ian and so he gets these flights of fancy about putting a metal thing in for being an infuser. Cost? How much is that going to be? I wrote about this for *Design Magazine* in 1992 and it was five quid to buy the pot. I'm not sure what it is now, retail.

Zamir: Twelve to fifteen pounds depending on size.

**Robin**: So it's three times the price since. Margaret is looking because you sell them in Japan. You sell them a bit more in Japan I reckon.

Margaret Howell: A bit more.

**Ian**: The real problem with Brown Betties that are made with white clay in John Lewis with a Rockingham glaze, I think those ones are from Thailand, they retail for £16, so part of the big idea of working on a redesign is to really build in the history of the evolution and the refinement of the clay tied back into Stoke because at the moment I suppose any pots here have to compete with far East pots in terms of the labour costs. Of that there is no way you could possibly complete with that.

Speaker: Is there an ownership of one true design, or none?

Robin: I don't think there is. You could start tomorrow.

**Ian**: All the patents have expired. People attribute the Brown Betty as we know it today, some people, to Alcock, Lindley and Bloore but they've not been in existence since 1979. And Zamir is the longest remaining maker of the Brown Betty today and he's pretty well the last maker in Stoke.

**Robin**: I think for me the brief is that you can't make it the same way that Alcock, Lindley & Bloore did but they took full advantage of the manufacturing process to make that. So now it's gonna need to be a cast pot in the way that the mould is at the top so you've got to start thinking the modern equivalent is what are the modern advantages that can be built in to the Brown Betty today that will come out of that process so it isn't trying to reproduce that pot so some things you hang onto and other things go. The red clay you should hold onto. The Rockingham glaze. After that you can really start thinking about how to make it of today yet still ringing the bell of the Brown Betty.

lan: The price will have to move a bit.

**Robin**: It will have to but it can only move so far because it is an everyday, democratic pot.

#### Speaker (Zamir?): £19.95

**Robin**: I agree. Under twenty. How much are you gonna pay for one? Under £20? £25 £30?

**Ian**: How much are you going to pay for an original which you can't get anywhere else in Stoke now?

**Robin**: So you're bringing in exclusivity. Playing the exclusive card for a democratic product. Sorry. He was thinking of putting it in a box. I said forget the box.

lan: I have to keep sending my brief to Robin. He okays it.

**Tim**: I won't put it in a box. I personally think. I don't have a Dualit toaster but people should aspire to have a Brown Betty because it is a connection to the British tea culture. I don't have a problem with the cost. It's value for money. You're not getting value for money if it's a Far Eastern thing made with badly paid people. Wedgwood can only sell their Made in England things in Japan for example and that is a huge chunk of their business because it is made in the UK. These things have a premium. All the things made by Wedgwood in Indonesia, who I worked with for four years, wouldn't sell in Japan. As the English are tied to the teabag which yes does work well you can't think of just the English thing you have to think of tradition. I have a different hat on.

**Robin**: Forget the UK. It comes with a price perception so you're not going to be able to sell many in the UK so sell it as an export so you can sell it for more and make it brilliant.

**Ian**: The amazing thing about the object is the thing that what makes it British is not necessarily British because the clay was refined by two Dutch guys who were making pots in impersonation of Chinese wares in Staffordhsire and now eighty percent of Zamir's product goes to America and Japan so it's really a global story, although it's quintessentially British and that's why it sells.

Robin: And I think you told us earlier that the glaze comes from Spain.

lan: Yes.

**Zamir**: I'll correct that. The only frit [inaudible] part of it is melted and ground in Spain and is brought here.

Robin: Oxides are from here. So you can't get a glaze in Stoke anymore?

Zamir: Those people who used to melt the glaze are non-existent now.

**Robin**: Shocking. Stoke-on-Trent can't get a glaze anymore.

**Speaker**: Can hand in hand your new teapot with tea, a different type of tea, rather than a teabag. Could the two things be revolutionised again? I've been totally swayed by Number two tea.

**Ian**: It should work with both. I've had an early discussion that says it should have an infuser but should also be able to use it without an infuser.

Robin: A modern teapot should have that.

**Speaker**: But if it's designed in that way, keeping some elements, then it doesn't need an infuser.

**Ian**: Well the grid is actually quite redundant now. The teas that are made today are much finer than the original tea leaves that were in the Brown Betty so the grid in that pot now the hotels are way too big. I think Zamir has mentioned before that he has had lots of problems when they tried to put grids in which causes blockages more, the tea spills and customers want refunds.

**Tim**: I think the problem is too that people are used to black tea the tea bag and as I said before the attachment to certain brands I'm amazed that there are lot of people who will drink PG but if it's a different kind of tea maybe they get their Japanese tea pot out when they want a good, honest builders brew all this kind of stuff it all revolves around a mug that is the brewing device and the drinking device.

Speaker: The language of the tea is completely different to the language of the pot.

**Tim**: Even, strangely, Brown Betties I don't think they... I think for many people a teapot is a strange alien, effete old-fashioned object so I don't think you can even get builders tea in it. Builders tea belongs in a mug. Everything happens in a mug. If you're having a teapot maybe. That's the big change, this interest in baking and the aspect of tea with that. Then the teapot has a place there particularly with British style

**Robin**: You could do both. You could throw the tea bags in when you didn't use the metal and you're on the PG Tips and then you get one of your fabulous teas and maybe you use the infuser you could sell it with and without.

**Speaker**: I've got a rather inferior [inaudible] which is quite big and I have to say that tea bags block it up on the third cup.

**Ian**: Low enough to the spit [inaudible] the teabag flows and stick into the hole... Zamir I think used to produce Brown Betty mugs. But it nowhere near has the longevity or popularity of the pot.

Zamir: Yes. They're attractive colours and designs. Just brown.

**Ian**: It's the association people have with the pot is a very deep association and not necessarily with the brown mug.

**Tim**: If you look at early pictures of people using Chinese or Chinese copies and in China they always use the Yixing terracotta clay but then they always have white cups. Our culture often had white cups whatever the tea was. Maybe you could see the strength of the tea. I love the practicality of it and if you think of ten [inaudible] glazes in Japan and China they have the great... But I think subliminal we like the cleanliness of a white cup.

**Ian**: I wonder if that has anything to do with the teapot needing to withstand thermal shock but by the time it's out of the teapot and into the cup you don't need the thermal shock for the cup so they might have resorted to making cups in the white clay that isn't as resilient as the red clay.

**Robin**: Tim will tell me it's a myth but the story about milk in first is apparently because if you were showing off and you had a white china cup you can pour water directly into china and it won't break. If you had a cheaper one you had better put some milk in first. People who put the milk in second showing off because they've got posh cups.

**Speaker (Linda?)**: Tim, earlier you talked about another tea we would need silver for. Would you brew anything, all the teas, in that pot.

**Tim**: I was just referring to the way the British needed to buy and sell in silver. Silver pots came about I guess because the Chinese sometimes used silver to boil their water in so it can work with tea and then by the time we had a huge silver industry and also

didn't check [inaudible] so we take that round to the rest of the world. That's still going on. There's a lot of stuff being replated and used that way often with an ebony handle. A silver teapot would get too hot.

**Speaker**: So my question is would you use the Brown Betty for all your teas or are there some teas that you think would brew better in different pots?

**Tim**: I love porcelain because it's very hard, practical, and with Yixing pots like the one we're looking at before that I brought it absorbs taste into the clay because there is no glaze there therefore you can't change it. You're supposed to use one type of tea with it. Because the Brown Betty has a glaze you can use anything. But I still like the ultra vitreous state of porcelain. In an ideal world I would have a porcelain teapot. Possibly a white one. Rockingham glaze on the inside and then white on the outside. Apart from the spout you know really that is the area you have to clean the most. The inside you never wanna see. You don't wanna be bothered about cleaning the inside.

**Ian**: I think Linda is just looking for an endorsement. Would you serve all loose leaf teas in that pot?

Tim: You could and you should if you're British.

**Speaker**: Shouldn't you extend the design brief, Ian, to the mug because the people are so used to having the Brown Betty...

**Robin**: The problem there is that the mug has become such a low cost, low value item that you just can't compete with what is on offer. You were probably refining to the problem of you making your mug. You can go into John Lewis and buy a mug for £2. It's too difficult.

Speaker: Could you go the other way and think about a kettle? The opposite direction.

lan: A brown kettle?

**Speaker**: That's what has made the builders mug, the kettle. **Tim**: Ban kettles?

**Speaker**: Challenge the kettle with your design? It's the opposite direction of the mug. It's the thing that has become so routinised.

Tim: Someone did a ceramic kettle recently. Jasper Morrison?

lan: Was it just the base?

**Robin**: There are flameproof ceramic bodies. You can make ceramic work on induction so you can heat your water up on an induction hob or on a gas flame. It's possible. But we're so entrenched with doing things a certain way so would people do it?

**Ian**: And I've already nearly got this brief approved. It's gotta be without the red clay, it's a Brown Betty [laughter]. The thing I really like about this project is that it's standing on 300 years of refinement, development and history and it's really nice to be part of that, to make something that is part of that history. And also building this relationship with Zamir and his factory. I'm not sure whether Cauldon Ceramics could produce an induction ceramic kettle. It's pretty heavy engineering.

Robin: It's a fired-on decal at the bottom. It's technically possible.

**Speaker**: I think the design process is an interesting one, you're talking about refinement over time, that's about design, making but also usage so I wonder how much is the use of it been part of the process? You using it? Have you started using it...

**Ian**: I do use them. I'm really much more attached to the, for me, because a lot of the project is about looking at British manufacturing and its troubles that's the driving force. Trying to find ways to build in this amazing 300 year narrative into this object because it's not really been integrated in that way. For me that is the driving mechanism. I do use the Brown Betty teapot at home but I have to say I don't use the teapot that often. But at the same time everybody owns a teapot so there is a massive market for it. I would say it's an occasional use object. Functionality of my experience and using them over again is not really factored in that much. I have about 40 of them now. I'm banned from buying any more, so...

Robin: Sorry about that.

lan: Any other questions?

Robin: Bernard Shaw said: 'The subject isn't exhausted but we are.'

**Speaker**: In terms of your objections to the box, I understand that, looking to take it to a different level, the box for you lan is a way of telling a story wasn't it?

lan: Was the box completely rejected?

**Robin**: The box is back on. I've designed products where the cost of the box is more than the product inside so you can really come unstuck and then you say is this all one colour print. He was talking about a full colour print box. I said, 'lan, you're mad'. If you're going to have a box it has to be brown corrugated cardboard with one-colour print. The spirit of the Brown Betty should be a low cost box.

**Speaker**: You want to tell the story don't you.

lan: It's really important to tell that narrative through that box.

**Robin**: Careful. Products that need a story to be told rarely succeed in the market. One of the ten commandments is that it's got to sell itself. It's got to be so obvious.

Speaker: Do you think you can tell a story to the modern consumer about clay?

lan: Clay is really cool at the moment [laughter].

**Tim**: Clay is cool and it's specific to a place. I've seen a lot in Japan. When things come out of a country and are successful in other countries they are then much more appreciated in the country where they come from. I have a feeling that if the Brown Betty was in the Museum of Modern Art lots of people in London would want it. If it's a success in Japan it becomes reflective and people feel that if they understand it and appreciate it we should appreciate and understand it.

**Robin**: That's a modern take, isn't it? Three hundred years ago they wouldn't have thought about it. It's just ballast in the boat. That's a reverse way of making it happen somewhere else and seeing if we catch up.

**Speaker**: Everyone loves a good story. It's a fantastic story. It won't detract from its use but it will improve people's appreciation of the value of it all. Just like viewing Wallace and Gromit... It's something very unique. You just need a very good copywriter.

#### lan: Are you a copywriter?

**Speake**r: Before today my knowledge of Brown Betty teapot was zero. The teapot has [inaudible] curvature and it's a primitive shape. That is based on the [inaudible] teapot which I think is a German design. It's just like another British design like the Anglepoise desk lamp how oversea it's well known as Luxar... Manufactured in Norway. Maybe it's a case of some designs as an idea evolving elsewhere but actually it's a bit more niche and unique. Maybe the Brown Betty is gonna be picked up by someone else and that

becomes the next way of serving tea. You said 300 years. Three hundred years of refinement.

**Ian**: In terms of the first refinement of the red clay. The teapots Zamir makes today is made from the same seam that was first refined in 1695. That seam was seen as a catalyst of industrial production in Stoke because it had that thermal shock resistance that few clays had in the UK at that time. In terms of the story of the clay that's 300 years. The Brown Betty creeps up later.

**Speaker**: The Brown Betty is it more like a symbolic love of the design rather than the practicality of it?

lan: I don't think so.

**Robin**: I think it has become symbolic. If you asked a child thirty years ago to draws a teapot they would draw that teapot. It's become an iconic image. It's quite British.

**Ian**: But the origins of the pot were about innovation and about making this super functional efficient object and there is a line somewhere that has crossed where it is now seen as an icon of heritage rather than it's original...

**Robin**: There's an amazing social history you need to get onto because the handle and spout as you've seen was stuck on and the top was turned and the holes were drilled. Cost of labour. You couldn't do that now because by the time you finished joining all those things together it would be £100. That's the witness of the end of a period when the cost of labour... Making ceramics was about 40% labour cost. A high part of it.

lan: The next part of the story is about designing around today's production.

Robin: Keeping his factory going and paying people properly...

**Speaker**: And telling the stories again. It's an impossible brief to ask him to improve on it because it is the archetypal teapot it's got a place in history and what lan is doing is retelling the story by putting his own mark on it.

lan: But there are also aspects like the infuser that could bring it up to date.

**Tim**: What about changing the name? Thermal shock teapot. There was Black Jack and some other names. You could play on the gender thing and call it Brown Billy.

Speaker: Brexit Betty.

**Robin**: I think there is enthusiasm for it. We're all waiting.

lan: Thank you very much everyone for coming.

# <u>ii</u> Bethan Lloyd-Worthington Text, Commissioned for the BCB, 2017

If you close your eyes and see a teapot, odds-on it's this one. A constant among dust motes. Disappearing in cupboards. Playing nicely with others; on velvet tablecloths and cotton ones and wipe-clean melamine.

The globe shape reflects back its setting, and we can see our own daft face in it. The light bouncing back off the Rockingham glaze contains the image of wherever it is placed, at whatever time. See it. See what's reflected by it. Now see in this crystal ball the multitudes. Swishing about in its tannin squall are generations of unknown designers. They are - or they intermingle with - factory workers, craftspeople, businesspeople, harvesters, secret-keepers, shippers, scientists, sales teams and sailors. They are Chinese, Dutch, Indian, Stokie.

The evolution of this teapot began in red beds of Etruria Marl clay and it didn't stop with any one person. No single factory has a clear claim on its origin or its legacy. Brown Betty doesn't really belong to anyone, so its sweet nature includes everyone.

The design crept and leapt through increments of making, elevated by each factory's innovations. Good ideas - like how to stop the lid falling off or how to keep your knuckles from burning - have become part of the object. We know about the perils of numerous cooks, we respect the unassailable sanctity of a single vision, but the clearest articulation of the typology of 'teapot 'has come from a wide net, through a proto-modernist filter of pragmatism.

Try playing Peepo! with historical accounts. Spy the Dutch Elers brothers in 1693, sifting red clay in Bradwell Woods. Making Yixing-a-like teapots for London and the wealthy. In 1750 glimpse the travelling Dr Richard Pocock riding into the "uneven, most beautiful, well-improved country" of the Potteries towns, noting the dry red China ware of Shelton. Somewhere here a gloss was added to this dry red body; the brown sugar-shell of glaze sealed part of the teapot's shifting, emergent identity. In the 1920s, half a million were born each week. Every single one of them was in essence Brown Betty, but they weren't all quite the same. They were all just BB enough.

In this extended family saga, one cousin has the sheen of Lee Miller's attention, another doesn't make it out of town. One child has eternal tea with tigers while some imperfect wastleing is chipped then kept then dashed; sherds forming a beach beneath the streets. Ground down amidst the clay again. One staid relation lives cheaply and usefully at home for generations, while some striped cad is bought back from the States decades later, its particularities raining down the big money.

But this last is an anomaly in an unassuming dynasty whose motto is 'Cheap - but good'.

#### **<u>lii</u>** Statement of Support from Stephen Murray

We started out with the idea that the narrative developed through lan's research and his Re-Engineered Brown Betty could elevate the history and narrative surrounding our company and authenticate Cauldon and the rest of the collection. This has been -achieved- lan's edition sells at a premium to the rest of our collection and probably will go on to do so, it has opened up new premium markets such as retailers like Selfridges and Conran but it has also enabled us to increase the price of the rest of our products, driving higher profit margins across our collection. Working with a known and regarded designer has also elevated the perceived value of our wares which is necessary for us to draw a distinction between us and our competitors making handmade teapots in lower wage economies.

The Re-engineered Brown Betty teapot is now well established in the United Kingdom and Japan and we are starting to see uptake in America. We're continuing our collaboration with Ian who has been pivotal in securing resources for us to invest in new machinery and designing a new collection of storage jars that we are due to launch this September.

٦ J. Shapl

Stephen J Murray

Cauldon Ceramics Ltd

#### **Research Timeline**

#### 18 February 2015

Encountered items from the W.A. Ismay Collection at York Art Gallery

### 10July to 30th August 2015

Exhibition 'A Ton of Clay 'Jerwood Makers Open

#### 25 September to 7 November 2015

Residency and Exhibition 'Icon 'at Airspace Gallery, meet Zamir Shaikh

#### 27 October 2015

Pitch exhibition concept to the directors of Vitsoe

#### 4 November 2015

Pitch the concept of a revitalisation project to Shaikh and secure support in principle

#### January 2016 Begin fastidious collecting ALB teapots

**7th July 2016** Visited ALBs great granddaughter Amanda Bloore

#### 17-25 September 2016

Brown Betty: the archetypal teapot', Vitsoe, London, during the LDF

## 18 September 2016

Shaikh participates in public panel discussion

# 29 November 2016

Learn of the death of Shaikh

#### 1 December 2016

Awarded Arts Council Grant to re-design, develop, produce and launch a re-engineered edition teapot at the BCB in September 2017

## **5 December 2016** Brief design team

18 January 2017
I received an email from Stephen Murray the new owner of Cauldon notifying me of the change in ownership and asking me to a meeting.

# 1 February 2017

Met with Stephen Murray to pitch the revitalisation project and negotiate continued support in principle of the RBB from CC

## 4 July 2017

Negotiate licencing agreement with Stephen Murray

## 23 September to 5 November 2017

Launched REBB at British Ceramics Biennial

### 6 December 2017

Discuss ongoing production of REBB and terms of contract with Stephen Murray

## 15-23 September 2018

Production run of RBB launched with Labour and Wait during the LDF

# Articles and Reviews of the Re-engineered Brown Betty

Ambler, F. (2019) *Britain's Iconic Brown Betty Teapot Gets a Redesign*. Atlas Obscura. [Online] [Accessed on October 8th, 2021] https://www.atlasobscura.com/articles/brownbetty.

Clark. G. (2016). *Ian McIntyre explores the 300-year history of the Brown Betty teapot.* Cfile [online] [Accessed on 23 December 2016] https://cfileonline.org/design-ianmcintyre-explores-300-year-contemporary-ceramics/

Cloudsdale, L. (2020) 'Brown Betty: The refreshing detail of a perfectly comfortable pour. '*Vitsoe Voice*, Issue 3, pp.33–7.

Elle (2016) 'Seven Fascinating Facts about the "Brown Betty" Teapot'. *Elle Decoration*, 11 November, p.39.

Flynn. P. (2019/20) 'Mr. Teapot, Man spends three years building the perfect brewing device '*Fantastic Man*, Autumn and Winter, pp.86–88.

Gibson, G. (2017) 'In praise of the Super Normal: It maye be quiet but the new, limitededition Brown Betty is rather brilliant. '*Crafts*, September/October, p.3.

Gibson, G. (2017) 'The Brown Betty. 'Crafts, September/October, pp.44-51.

Iversen, K. (2021) *Englands mest ikoniske potte: Betty er brun, buttet og bedst til te.* Politiken. [Online] [Accessed on October 8th, 2021] https://politiken.dk/kultur/design/art8110297/Betty-er-brun-buttet-og-bedst-til-te.

Lloyd Worthington, B. (2017). 'If you close your eyes. 'Commissioned for the British Ceramics Biennial.

Le Saux, E. (2019) *Ian McIntyre × Margaret Howell*. MilK decoration. [Online] [Accessed on October 8th, 2021] https://www.milkdecoration.com/ian-mcintyre-x-margaret-howell/.

Love, E. (2017) 'Design classic: Brown Betty teapot. '*Financial Times*. [Online] 31st August. [Accessed on October 8th, 2021] https://www.ft.com/content/6e70696e-881e-11e7-afd2-74b8ecd34d3b.

Morris, T. (2019) *The 10 Design Classics Every Man Needs In His Home*. Mrporter.com. [Online] https://www.mrporter.com/en-us/journal/lifestyle/the-10-design-classics-every-man-needs-in-his-home-865906.

Parsons, T. (2018) 'Reinventing Betty. '*Ceramic Review*, Issue 290, March/April, pp. 27–30.

Richardson. V. (2018) 'An update of a Time Honoured Teapot'. Beazley designs of the year 2018, p.188.

Riches, D. (2021) *Re-engineered Brown Betty Teapot by Ian McIntyre - Journal - Article Magazine*. www.the-article-magazine.com. [Online] [Accessed on October 8th, 2021] <u>https://www.the-article-magazine.com/journal/re-engineered-brown-betty-teapot-by-ian-mcintyre</u>

# Articles and Reviews of the Re-engineered Brown Betty by Ian McIntyre

Lawrence, A. (2016) 'Teapot Genealogy as told by Ian McIntyre. '*Disegno: The Quarterly Journal of Design #12*, Autumn, pp.190–4.

McIntrye, I. (2016) 'Design Classic: The unlikely setting of a traditional teapot in a modernist shop makes sense to Ian McIntyre. '*Crafts*, September/October 2016, p. 26.

McIntrye, I. (2018) *A time-honoured teapot | The Brown Betty*. Design Museum. [Online] [Accessed on October 8th, 2021] <u>https://designmuseum.org/exhibitions/past-</u>exhibitions/beazley-designs-of-the-year-2018/a-time-honoured-teapot-the-brown-betty.

McIntyre, I. (2018) Poster-packaging history of the Brown Betty on launch edition RBB.

McIntyre, I. (2019) 'Re-engineering the Brown Betty teapot', Victoria and Albert Museum, London, online video, 1 July 2019: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KeDZUq9WIEQ

## **Acquisitions**

Design Museum, London, 2017.

'New Materials and Processes Collection', The Special Collections Museum, Manchester Metroplitan University, 2017

Victoria and Albert Museum, London, 2017. (C.215:1 to 3-2021)

York Art Gallery, York, 2017.

Manchester Art Gallery, June 2019

## <u>Awards</u>

ACE grants for the arts, December 2016, £10,000 to re-design, develop, produce and launch a re-engineered edition teapot at the British Ceramics Biennial in September 2017.

BCB co-commissioned funding £2,500 in September 2017

'Beazley Designs of the Year '2018, Shortlisted

Manchester Metroplitan University, £5,000 to re-design, develop, produce and launch a re-engineered edition teapot at the British Ceramics Biennial in September 2017. December 2016

Recipient of the Manchester Contemporary Art Fund

### **Exhibitions**

'Icon', AirSpace Gallery, Stoke-on-Trent, 26 September – 7 November 2015.

'Brown Betty: the archetypal teapot', Vitsoe, Marylebone, London, 17–25 September 2016.

'Brown Betty: An Everyday Archetype', British Ceramics Biennial, Stoke-on-Trent, 23 September – 5 November 2017.

'Beazley Designs of the Year', Design Museum, London, 12 September – 6 January 2019.

'Food: Bigger than the Plate', Victoria and Albert Museum, London, 18 May – 20 October 2019.

Compton Verney 'A Tea Journey, From the Mountains to the Table 'July 2019

'The Brown Betty Teapot', Margaret Howell, Paris, 5 – 28 September 2019

'The Brown Betty Teapot, A British Design Classic Re-engineered'. Margaret Howell Jinnan and Tokyo, Japan, 2020

Design Museum touring exhibition *Material Tales: The Life of Things,* CAFA Art Museum, Beijing, 2021 <u>https://www.cafamuseum.org/en/exhibit/detail/869</u>

Morocco Pavilion in Expo 2020 Dubai, October 2021-March 2022